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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 3,217,669 3,378,707 2,833,268 2,103,882 1,966,055
      
Gross profit 336,980 657,900 476,115 273,270 245,703
(Loss) profit before taxation (6,786) 308,028 146,048 (6,642) 31,846
Taxation 9,510 (33,401) (15,335) 1,467 (2,739)
      
Profit (loss) for the year 2,724 274,627 130,713 (5,175) 29,107
      
Adjusted profit (loss) for the year
 (excluding listing expenses) 2,724 274,627 130,713 (5,175) 40,101
      

ASSET AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 1,742,362 1,678,633 1,367,318 1,021,749 855,239
Total liabilities (1,160,945) (1,076,013) (1,028,239) (816,254) (740,677)
      
Net assets 581,417 602,620 339,079 205,495 114,562
      

The summary of the consolidated results of GHW International (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 
as the “Group”) for each of the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the consolidated assets 
and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 have been extracted from this annual 
report and the annual reports for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022.

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company, I am pleased to present to you the 
annual results and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the financial year under review, our Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB3,217.7 million (2022: 
RMB3,378.7 million), representing a decrease of 4.8% as compared to last year. Our gross profit was approximately 
RMB337.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of 48.8% when comparing to 
approximately RMB657.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. We recorded a profit of approximately RMB2.7 
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of 99.0% comparing to a profit of approximately 
RMB274.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the financial year under review, our financial performance suffered from the domestic and global chemical 
intermediates markets downturn. First of all, the global decline of real estate market, increasing interest rates and lower-
than-expected recovery of gross domestic product from COVID-19 pandemic led to a disappointing economic growth and 
consumer price index. Secondly, a number of large-scale chemical intermediates production plants were established in 
mainland China during the past 2 years, resulted in an excess supply. The above factors led to a drastic decrease in market 
prices of chemical intermediates, including but not limited to choline chloride, betaine, methylamine, isooctanoic acid and 
cardanol, which are our major self-manufactured chemicals, as well as decrease in profitability of our major products.

For our animal nutrition chemicals segment, sales from choline chloride account for approximately 70% (2022: 75%) of 
our revenue under this segment. Although the sales volume of choline chloride increased by more than 40%, the gross 
profits generated and gross profit margin from sales of choline chloride significantly decreased by approximately 31% and 
5 percentage point, respectively. The decrease in choline chloride’s profitability was mainly attributable to the decrease in 
the price of our products due to (i) oversupply of similar products in the market; and (ii) fierce competition among the animal 
nutrition industry players.

YANBIN YIN
Founder, Chairman of the Board, CEO
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

For iodine and iodine derivatives, the global market price of iodine had been maintained at its historical high and the supply 
is relatively stable, we were unable to increase our gross profit through strategic procurement plan. Furthermore, our 
customers adopted a more prudent approach when placing orders and there is a decrease in market demand of iodine. As 
such, our profit generated from the pharmaceutical intermediate segment was squeezed.

Revenue generated from our polyurethane materials segment remains stable. We recorded revenue of approximately 
RMB689.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB698.8 million). Nevertheless, we have generated a 
gross profit of RMB56.1 million, representing an increase of 79.5% comparing to RMB31.3 million for the year ended 31 
December 2022. Our major products in this segment were polymeric methylene diphenyl diisocyanate (“polymeric MDI”) 
and toluene diisocyanate (“TDI”). During the year, the market price of polymeric MDI had been gradually recovered from its 
historical low in the fourth quarter of 2022, leading to an increase in gross profit margin.

The net profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately 
RMB2.7 million (2022: RMB274.6 million), resulting in a basic earnings per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 of RMB0.3 cents (2022: RMB27.5 cents).

The decrease in profit was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in gross profit from approximately RMB657.9 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB337.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 as a result 
of the decrease in gross profits generated from our major products, including choline chloride, betaine, iodine and iodine 
derivatives; and (ii) an increase in administrative expenses due to increase in transportation expense and advisory fees for 
conducting feasibility studies of our potential expansion plans and site visits of locations, such as Malaysia, and safety and 
environmental expenses as a result of expanding product range; which is partially offset by the decrease in (i) selling and 
distribution expenses due to the significant decrease in shipment and logistics costs; and (ii) income tax expense, which was 
in line with the decrease in profit before taxation generated for the current year.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW 

We are an applied chemical intermediates provider in the integrated chemical services (it refers to a complete supply chain 
to provide customers with a full spectrum of services ranging from pre-sales consulting services, sales of chemical products 
to after-sales technical support) market, which primarily engages in the production and sales of our chemicals and sales 
of chemicals produced by third party manufacturers based in mainland China, the Southeast Asia region, Europe and the 
United States (the “US”). With headquarters in mainland China, we offer a comprehensive product portfolio with a wide range 
of applications and a full spectrum of services relating to chemical intermediates supply chain through our extensive global 
operation and sales network, including research and development on production processes, strong product customisation 
capabilities, manufacturing of quality chemical products, sourcing of wide-ranging chemicals manufactured by third party 
manufacturers, efficient and safe logistics services and after-sales services.

During the current year, a series of expansion projects were carried out in our Group, especially related to our animal nutrition 
chemicals segment. Firstly, we had joined several worldwide exhibitions throughout the year to further increase our market 
share of choline chloride and other products, resulting in a significant increase in the sales volume of our self-manufactured 
products, such as choline chloride, methylamine, cardanol and diethyl sulfate. Secondly, we launched our new product, 
trimethylamine, being one of the key raw materials for the production of choline chloride and betaine. We are still fine-tuning 
our technology to maximise the production efficiency and economy of scale. Thirdly, we planned to continue to expand our 
production base in Vietnam, mainland China and Malaysia. We have acquired a parcel of land in Vietnam and construct a 
new production plant to increase our production capacity. It is expected that the production plant will commence operation 
in 2024. We had also deposited RMB10 million for a possible acquisition of land at Tai’an, the PRC and entered into a 
heads of agreement for a potential acquisition of land in Malaysia for future construction of a brand new production base in 
southeast Asia.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Despite our effort on expanding the market share, the market prices of our major products were a flat or downward trend, 
leading to a drop in both our revenue and gross profit margin. The selling prices of our choline chloride and betaine products 
decreased by approximately 42% and 39%, respectively. On the other hand, the high market price of iodine led to a 
reduction of demand from downstream customers, as well as a tightening profit margin comparing to last year. The global 
economic downturn and unstable geopolitical environment, especially in eastern Europe, also led to a lower-than-expect 
performance of the chemical intermediates market.

Under the current economic downturn, we are still striving to be one of the world’s best and the largest applied chemical 
intermediates provider, especially in the field of animal nutrition and feed additives. We had maintained a high level of 
production volume and market supply of choline chloride and betaine during the year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group’s establishment of the new production plant in the western region from our existing Tai’an production plant at 
the Tai’an Daiyue Chemical Industrial Park (泰安岱嶽化工產業園) is nearly completed. The new production plant consisted 
production facilities for (i) the production of trimethylamine, which is the key raw material for the production of choline chloride 
and betaine, and (ii) the construction of a pilot plant for manufacturing various pharmaceutical intermediates, including methyl 
iodide, iodopropynyl butylcarbamate (“IPBC”) and moxifloxacin side chain. Except for the production of moxifloxacin side 
chain, which is expected to commenced in 2024, production lines for other products had commenced operation during the 
first half of 2024.

During the year, the Group acquired the land use right for a land plot located at Binh Duong Province with a lease period up 
to 2058 at Vietnam Dong (“VND”) 33,880,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB10.0 million). The land will be used for 
expanding our production scale of choline chloride and iodine derivatives in Vietnam for export sales to western countries. 
We expect the production plant will commence operation in 2024.

In September 2023, the Group has deposited RMB10,000,000 for a possible acquisition of a piece of land located at 
Manzhuang Town, Daiyue District, Tai’an City, Shandong Province, the PRC. The land will be used for expanding our 
production scale of fine chemicals in mainland China, including but not limited to isononanoic acid, isooctanoic acid and 
related products.

In February 2024, we had entered in to a heads of agreement for the acquisition of land located at Mukim Gebeng, Daerah 
Kuantan, Negeri Pahang, Malaysia, at a consideration of Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”) 37,026,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB55,539,000). In order to echo the national “Belt and Road” policy and decentralise our production system to the 
southeast Asia region, we selected Malaysia as our next expansion location for production of choline chloride, betaine 
and other chemical products. Such expansion plan not only mitigates geopolitical risk but also increases our production 
flexibility and optimises use of natural resources. We believe that such expansion can also increase our market share of the 
abovementioned products. The land is located in Malaysia-China Kuantan International Logistics Park, a comprehensive 
industrial park that features international logistics, processing and manufacturing. We believe that the expansion project in 
Malaysia will promote our international trade business.

After reviewing the Group’s existing business portfolio, development strategy and financial resources, the Directors are 
of the view that the Group can benefit from tapping into the financial sector, including but not limited to the provision of 
financial advisory, brokerage, asset management and investment management services. During the year, we had invested 
into a corporation with relevant licences and with qualified persons to carry out the corresponding financial services activities 
accordingly. We believe that the development of such sector can complement the one-stop solutions that the Group offer 
to its customers and bring value to the shareholders of our Company (the “Shareholders”) through better deployment of 
available resources.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the Shareholders, business partners and customers for their utmost 
support to us. We would also like to take this opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard work 
and dedication throughout the year.

Yin Yanbin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
22 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are an applied chemical intermediates provider in the integrated chemical services market, which primarily engages in the 
production and sales of chemicals and sales of chemicals produced by third party manufacturers based in mainland China, 
the Southeast Asia region, Europe and the US. With headquarters in mainland China, we offer a comprehensive product 
portfolio with a wide range of applications and a full spectrum of services relating to chemical intermediates supply chain 
through our extensive global operation and sales network, including research and development on production processes, 
strong product customisation capabilities, manufacturing of quality chemical products, sourcing of wide-ranging chemicals 
manufactured by third party manufacturers, efficient and safe logistics services and after-sales services.

Our business operation consists of four principal business segments which include polyurethane materials, animal nutrition 
chemicals, fine chemicals and pharmaceutical products and intermediates and supplements.

Polyurethane materials are widely used in manufacturing industries, such as insulation, building materials, adhesives, 
sponges, shoe materials, foam pads, interior components and other lightweight automotive parts to foster fuel and energy 
savings.

The two major products under our animal nutrition chemicals segment are additives commonly used in feeds for poultry 
and livestock, which are crucial to the downstream animal husbandry industries. Choline chloride is animal feeds for the 
accelerating of animal growth. It can also be used as a clay stabiliser in oil and gas drilling and hydraulic fracturing. Betaine 
can be used as dietary feeding attractants which have important physiological functions within the animal bodies and 
improves the growth and survival rate of fish, poultry, swine and other animals. During the current year, our production line 
for methylamine had been set up and was in use. Trimethylamine is one of the principal raw materials used to produce 
choline chloride and betaine, whereas monomethylamine and dimethylamine, which are generated as by-products during the 
production process of trimethylamine, are widely used in new energy, pharmaceutical and dyeing industry, and textile and 
rubber industry.

Under our fine chemicals segment, we mainly procure our products, such as carboxylic acids, resins and oleochemicals, 
from third party manufacturers for onward selling to our customers. Carboxylic acids are widely used in the synthesis of 
dyes, production of lubricants, flavours and fragrances. The major use of resins and oleochemicals involve the production of 
cosmetics, emulsifiers and lubricants.

We produce isooctanoic acid and diethyl sulfate, which are mainly used for paint drier, polyvinyl chloride (PVC) liquid 
stabilizer, catalyst and pharmaceutical raw materials, and synthesis of dyes, pesticides and pharmaceutical intermediates, 
respectively. On the other hand, we produce cardanol at our Vietnam production plant, which is a biofuel product mainly 
used in coating and adhesives industries.

We also produce and sell our own pharmaceutical intermediates which are chemical compounds used in the production of 
active pharmaceutical ingredients, such as iodine and iodine derivatives as well as selling pharmaceutical products sourced 
from third party manufacturers, such as cefpodoxime proxetil dispersible tablets. During the year ended 31 December 2022, 
we started to sell supplements sourced from third party manufacturers, such as vitamin tablets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our financial performance suffered from the domestic and global chemical 
intermediates markets downturn. First of all, the global decline of real estate market, increasing interest rates and lower-
than-expected recovery of gross domestic product from COVID-19 pandemic led to a disappointing economic growth and 
consumer price index. Secondly, a number of large-scale chemical intermediates production plants were established in 
mainland China during the past 2 years, resulted in excess supply in the market. The above factors led to a drastic decrease 
in market prices of chemical intermediates, including but not limited to choline chloride, betaine, methylamine, isooctanoic 
acid and cardanol, which are our major self-manufactured chemicals, as well as decrease in profitability of our major 
products.

During the year, although the sales volume of choline chloride increased by more than 40%, the gross profits generated 
and gross profit margin from sales of choline chloride significantly decreased by approximately 31% and 5 percentage 
point, respectively. The decrease in choline chloride’s profitability was mainly attributable to the decrease in the price of our 
products due to (i) oversupply of similar products in the market; and (ii) fierce competition among the animal nutrition industry 
players.

For iodine and iodine derivatives, the global market price of iodine had been maintained at its historical high and the supply 
is relatively stable, we were unable to increase our gross profit through strategic procurement plan. Furthermore, our 
customers adopted a more prudent approach when placing orders and there is a decrease in market demand of iodine. As 
such, our profit generated from the pharmaceutical intermediate segment was squeezed.

The decrease in profitability derived from the above products outweighed the increase in sales volume and gross profit of 
some of our third-party manufactured trading products, such as polymeric MDI and TDI. As a result, our revenue and profit 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased as compared to the corresponding period last year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB3,217.7 million (2022: 
RMB3,378.7 million), representing a decrease of 4.8% as compared to the corresponding period last year.

The decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in sales of self-manufactured animal nutrition products, 
including choline chloride and betaine in mainland China as there were significant decreases in market prices of these 
products, which will be further elaborated below; (ii) the discontinuation of sales of isophthalic acid since July 2022 due to 
the anticipation of scale production to be launched by a domestic supplier and decrease in projected profit from trading of 
this product; and (iii) the discontinuation of sales of medicines to hospitals due to the unfavourable credit terms and large 
input of working capitals; which is partially offset by the increase in sales of (i) methylamine, which is a new self-manufactured 
chemical during the current year; and (ii) ethylene glycol, a new third-party manufactured trading product, that is used as a 
raw material for production of solvents and coatings.

The net profit attributed to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately 
RMB2.7 million (2022: RMB274.6 million). The decrease in profit was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in gross profit 
from approximately RMB657.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB337.0 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 as a result of the decrease in gross profits generated from our major products, including 
choline chloride, betaine, iodine and iodine derivatives; and (ii) an increase in administrative expenses due to increases in 
transportation expense and advisory fees for conducting feasibility studies of our potential expansion plans and site visits of 
locations such as Malaysia, and safety and environmental expenses as a result of expanding product range; which is partially 
offset by the decrease in (i) selling and distribution expenses due to the significant decreases in shipment and logistics costs; 
and (ii) income tax expense, which was in line with the decrease in profit before taxation generated for the current year.

Details of our financial performance is further explained below.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The table below sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by business segments during the year ended 31 December 2023:

Total revenue by business segments

For the year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000
% of 

total revenue RMB’000
% of 

total revenue

Polyurethane materials 689,579 21.4% 698,839 20.7%
Animal nutrition chemicals 1,059,706 32.9% 1,180,366 34.9%
Fine chemicals 720,607 22.4% 732,114 21.7%
Pharmaceutical products and intermediates 734,352 22.9% 754,048 22.3%

     
Sub-total 3,204,244 99.6% 3,365,367 99.6%
Others (note) 13,425 0.4% 13,340 0.4%

     
Total 3,217,669 100.0% 3,378,707 100.0%

     

For the year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000
% of 

total revenue RMB’000
% of 

total revenue

Self-manufactured chemicals 2,189,805 68.1% 2,326,892 68.9%
Chemicals produced by third parties 1,014,439 31.5% 1,038,475 30.7%

     
Sub-total 3,204,244 99.6% 3,365,367 99.6%
Others (note) 13,425 0.4% 13,340 0.4%

     
Total 3,217,669 100.0% 3,378,707 100.0%

     

Note: Others primarily include revenue generated from transportation of hazardous chemicals for third parties in mainland China and other miscellaneous 

income.

Polyurethane materials

Our revenue generated from the sales of polyurethane materials slightly decreased from approximately RMB698.8 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB689.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Our sales volume of polymeric MDI and TDI remained stable at approximately 26,984 tonnes and 5,603 tonnes (2022: 
26,894 tonnes and 5,362 tonnes), respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the operation of downstream 
industries in mainland China, especially construction industry and household appliances industries, were significantly affected 
by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to a decrease in demand of polymeric MDI and TDI in mainland China 
during the last year. The significant increase in shipment costs in the last year also led to a decrease in export sales of our 
polyurethane products in other countries in Asia. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on logistics in current year was eased 
off and the supply of these products became more stable, leading to slight increase in sales volume.
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On the other hand, our average selling prices of polymeric MDI and TDI was approximately RMB15,257 and RMB16,491, 
respectively, per tonne for the year ended 31 December 2022 and approximately RMB14,418 and RMB16,856 per tonne, 
respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2023. For polymeric MDI, the market price dropped to its lowest level near the 
year end of 2022, and rebound during the first half of 2023. Hence, the average selling price for the current period still slightly 
decreased compared to last year.

Animal nutrition chemicals

Our revenue generated from sales of animal nutrition chemicals decreased from approximately RMB1,180.4 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB1,059.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due 
to the decrease in our average selling prices of choline chloride and betaine, which is partially offset by the increase in sales 
volume of choline chloride and the launch of our new product, methylamine.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales of choline chloride accounted for approximately 70% (2022: 75%) of our 
revenue under the animal nutrition chemicals segment. The revenue generated from sales of choline chloride decreased 
from approximately RMB904.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB759.6 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. The revenue generated from sales of betaine also decreased from approximately RMB224.7 
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB137.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The average selling prices of choline chloride and betaine decreased from approximately RMB7,829 and RMB9,951, 
respectively, per tonne for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB4,544 and RMB6,051 per tonne, 
respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily because of the decrease in the raw material costs due to 
oversupply in the market.

Our sales volume of choline chloride increased from approximately 115,470 tonnes for the year ended 31 December 2022 
to approximately 167,173 tonnes for the year ended 31 December 2023. During the current year, our product line for 
trimethylamine, being one of the important raw materials in the production of choline chloride, has commenced operation 
which increase our competitive advantage on production scale and process among the industry. As a result, we had an 
increase in market shares and sales to our existing/new customers of choline chloride.

During the year, we sold approximately 32,144 tonnes of methylamine recognising revenue of approximately RMB106.8 
million. We expect that there are still large potential for increase in both market price and sales volume of the product in the 
coming years.

Fine chemicals

Our revenue generated from sales of fine chemicals slightly decreased from approximately RMB732.1 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB720.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily attributable to 
(i) the discontinuation of sales of isophthalic acid since July 2022 due to the anticipation of scale production to be launched 
by a domestic supplier and decrease in projected profit from trading of this product; and (ii) the decrease in revenue derived 
from isooctanoic acid from approximately RMB347.0 million to RMB281.8 million, mainly due to a decrease in market price 
of this product as the market price of isooctyl alcohol, being the raw material used in the production of isooctanoic acid, was 
also decreased during the current period, which is partially offset by the increase in sales of ethylene glycol, which is used as 
a raw material for manufacture of solvents and coatings, etc., since the second half of year 2021.

During the year, the revenue generated from trading of ethylene glycol, a new third-party manufactured trading product 
which has been sold by our Group since second half of year 2021, was approximately RMB207.2 million (2022: RMB131.0 
million).
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Pharmaceutical products and intermediates

Our revenue generated from sales of pharmaceutical products and intermediates and supplements decreased from 
approximately RMB754.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB734.4 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the termination of our trading of medicines due to low profitability.

The revenue generated from iodine and iodine derivatives (excluding sub-processing services) were approximately RMB219.3 
million and RMB467.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, and approximately RMB194.7 million and RMB499.2 
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively. The average selling prices of our iodine and iodine derivatives 
(excluding sub-processing services) were approximately RMB532,000 and RMB276,618 for the year ended 31 December 
2022, and approximately RMB525,746 and RMB340,252 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The global market price for 
iodine had been increased over year 2022 and maintained in the first half of 2023 and started to drop gradually towards the 
end of 2023.

On the other hand, the sales volume of iodine and iodine derivatives (excluding sub-processing services) decreased from 
approximately 412 tonnes and 1,690 tonnes for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 370 tonnes and 1,467 
tonnes for the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the increase in raw material 
cost, which led to a decrease in market demand.

The table below sets forth our total sales in terms of geographical locations of our customers during the year ended 31 
December 2023:

Total revenue by geographical locations

For the year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000
% of 

total revenue RMB’000
% of 

total revenue

Mainland China 2,524,520 78.5% 2,782,741 82.4%
Europe 296,219 9.2% 283,504 8.4%
Other countries in Asia 
 (excluding mainland China and Vietnam) 152,777 4.7% 122,817 3.6%
Vietnam 87,321 2.7% 61,389 1.8%
Others 156,832 4.9% 128,256 3.8%

     
Total 3,217,669 100.0% 3,378,707 100.0%

     

Our revenue derived from mainland China contributed approximately 82.4% and 78.5% of our total revenue for the year 
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively. Given that the revenue derived from mainland China constitutes a 
substantial portion of our total revenue, the fluctuations in revenue of sales in mainland China for our business segments 
of polyurethane materials, animal nutrition chemicals, fine chemicals and pharmaceutical products and intermediates and 
supplements were in line with the fluctuations in the overall revenue of each of these segments.

Our revenue derived from Europe, Asia (excluding mainland China and Vietnam) and Vietnam increased from approximately 
RMB283.5 million, RMB122.8 million and RMB61.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 
RMB296.2 million, RMB152.8 million and RMB87.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively, as we have 
put more effort to restore our global market share after the COVID-19 pandemic period.
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Cost of sales

Our cost of sales comprises mainly cost of raw materials and inventories, staff costs, manufacturing overheads, depreciation 
and others. Cost of raw materials and inventories is our main cost of sales. Staff costs mainly comprise salaries, wages and 
social insurance costs for those who are directly involved in the production and the management team of the production 
plants.

Our cost of sales increased from approximately RMB2,720.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 
RMB2,880.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in our cost of sales was mainly attributable to 
the increase in (i) costs of iodine and iodine derivatives as the global market price of iodine was at a historical high level; (ii) 
raw material costs for production of methylamine, which was a new product of our Group during the current year; and (iii) 
procurement costs for ethylene glycol due to the increase in sales, which was partially offset by the decrease in raw material 
costs of choline chloride and betaine due to the decrease in market prices of trimethylamine and ethylene oxide.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The table below sets forth a breakdown of gross profit and gross profit margin by business segments during the year ended 
31 December 2023:

Total gross profit by business segments

For the year ended 31 December

2023 2022
Gross profit Gross profit

RMB’000 margin % RMB’000 margin %

Polyurethane materials 56,102 8.1% 31,254 4.5%
Animal nutrition chemicals 191,827 18.1% 287,752 24.4%
Fine chemicals 40,866 5.7% 90,392 12.4%
Pharmaceutical products and intermediates 46,596 6.4% 247,374 32.8%
Others 1,589 11.8% 1,128 8.5%
     
Total 336,980 10.5% 657,900 19.5%
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Our gross profit decreased from approximately RMB657.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 
RMB337.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Our overall gross profit margin decreased from 19.5% for the year 
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 10.5% for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in our gross profit 
and gross profit margin were mainly due to the decrease in the gross profit and gross profit margin of (i) our animal nutrition 
chemicals segment, as a result of the decrease in market price and the excess supply of choline chloride and betaine in 
the market; (ii) our iodine and iodine derivatives, as a result of the record high global market price of iodine over the current 
year, which led to tightening profit margin of iodine and iodine derivatives; and (iii) isooctanoic acid due to our strategy on 
expanding our market shares after increasing our production capacity during second half of year 2022.

Other income

Our other income primarily comprises gross rental income, one-off and unconditional subsidies from the relevant government 
authority and interest income.

Our other income increased from approximately RMB13.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB21.4 
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in our other income was mainly due to an income derived from 
an additional value-added tax credit policy amounting to approximately RMB11.4 million, which was partially offset by the 
decrease in (i) other government grants from approximately RMB7.7 million to RMB7.0 million; and (ii) bank and other interest 
income from approximately RMB4.9 million to approximately RMB2.3 million as a result of decrease in average restricted 
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents during the current year.

Other gains and losses

Our other gains and losses primarily comprise (i) net foreign exchange gains or losses which primarily arose from appreciation 
or depreciation of United States dollar (“US$”) against Renminbi (“RMB”) as the functional currency of our subsidiaries in 
the PRC is RMB while their export sale to customers and purchase from overseas suppliers were mainly settled in US$;  
(ii) gains/losses on disposals of plant and equipment; and (iii) net gains or losses arising from fair value changes on derivative 
financial instruments and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

Our Group recorded net other gains of approximately RMB8.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 and net other 
gains of approximately RMB2.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease in gain in our net other gains 
and losses was mainly because of the decrease in a net foreign exchange gain of approximately RMB14.4 million, as a result 
of the slight appreciation of US$ against RMB during the year ended 31 December 2023 comparing to last year, which was 
partially offset by a decrease in losses on disposals of plant and equipment of approximately RMB9.9 million, since there 
was a significant loss on disposals of plant and equipment due to the technical enhancement of our production functions in 
Tai’an City, Shandong Province, the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily comprise transportation costs, staff remuneration for our sales and marketing 
team, port charges, storage costs, material costs for export and packaging materials and insurance costs.

Our selling and distribution expenses decreased from approximately RMB151.8 million for the year ended 31 December 
2022 to approximately RMB132.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in our selling and distribution 
expenses was primarily due to the decrease in logistic costs (including transportation, port charges and shipment costs), as 
driven by the decrease in oil price and price war resulted from keen competition in the logistics industry.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily comprise staff costs, including salary, social insurance costs and provident funds for our 
staff (other than the staff who are directly involved in the production, the management team of the production plants and the 
sales and marketing team), entertainment expenses, travelling expenses, rent, depreciation and amortisation of leasehold 
improvements, office equipment and motor vehicle, safety costs, office expenses, repair expenses, and environmental 
protection costs in relation to implementation of safety and environmental protection measures and others.

Our administrative expenses increased from approximately RMB104.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 
approximately RMB123.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in our administrative expenses was 
primarily due to the increase in (i) transportation expense and advisory fees for conducting feasibility studies of our potential 
expansion plans and site visits of locations, such as Malaysia; and (ii) increase in environmental and safety production costs 
due to the expansion in product range and production volume during the year.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses primarily comprise raw materials consumed for conducting research and development 
activities, staff costs and social insurance costs for our research and development personnel, electricity expenses, 
depreciation of our research centre, hardware supplies and transportation cost of raw materials for conducting research and 
development.

Research and development expenses comprise all costs that are directly attributable to our research and development 
activities. Because of the nature of our research and development activities which mainly aimed to develop production 
equipment and method for improving our own production efficiency and it is difficult to assess the probable future economic 
benefits in the research phase of a project, the criteria for recognition of such costs as an asset are not met. As such, our 
research and development costs are generally recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Our research and development expenses slightly decreased from approximately RMB77.3 million for the year ended 31 
December 2022 to approximately RMB75.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in our research and 
development expenses was primarily due to a decrease in cost of raw materials of approximately RMB12.5 million as result 
of completion of some production technology enhancement projects during last and current year, such as research project 
of highquality isooctanoic acid, which is partially offset by the increase in staff cost of approximately RMB7.7 million as a 
result of the expansion of research and development team of approximately 70 staff more when compared to year 2022.

Finance costs

Finance costs represent interest on bank and other borrowings and loans from related companies, discounted bills and lease 
liabilities.

Our finance costs increased from approximately RMB37.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 
RMB39.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in our finance costs was primarily due to the increase 
in the average level of outstanding term loans and loans from related parties during the year.

Income tax expenses

Our income tax expenses decreased from approximately RMB33.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to a tax 
credit of approximately RMB9.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in our income tax expenses 
was in line with the decrease in our profit before taxation.
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Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded a profit for the year of approximately RMB2.7 million for the year ended 31 
December 2023, comparing to a profit for the year of approximately RMB274.6 million for the year ended 31 December 
2022, as a combined result of the above fluctuations.

PROSPECTS

The Group’s establishment of the new production plant in the western region from our existing Tai’an production plant at 
the Tai’an Daiyue Chemical Industrial Park (泰安岱嶽化工產業園) is nearly completed. The new production plant consisted 
production facilities for (i) the production of trimethylamine, which is the key raw material for the production of choline chloride 
and betaine, and (ii) the construction of a pilot plant for manufacturing various pharmaceutical intermediates, including methyl 
iodide, iodopropynyl butylcarbamate (“IPBC”) and moxifloxacin side chain. Except for the production of moxifloxacin side 
chain, which is expected to commenced in 2024, production lines for other products had commenced during the first half of 
the current year. We expected the commencement of the above production lines will increase our competitive advantage on 
production scale and process among the industry.

During the year, the Group acquired the land use right for a land plot located at Binh Duong Province with a lease period 
up to 2058 at Vietnam Dong (“VND”) 33,880,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB10.0 million). The investment is 
expected to expand our production scale of choline chloride and iodine derivatives in Vietnam for export sales to western 
countries. We expect the production will kick started in 2024.

In September 2023, the Group has deposited RMB10,000,000 for a possible acquisition of a piece of land located at 
Manzhuang Town, Daiyue District, Tai’an City, Shandong Province, the PRC. The land will be used for expanding our 
production scale of fine chemicals in mainland China, including but not limited to isononanoic acid, isooctanoic acid and 
related products.

In February 2024, we entered in to a heads of agreement for the acquisition of land located at Mukim Gebeng, Daerah 
Kuantan, Negeri Pahang, Malaysia, at a consideration of Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”) 37,026,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB55,539,000). In order to echo the national “Belt and Road” policy and decentralise our production system to the 
south-east Asia region, we selected Malaysia as our next expansion location for production of choline chloride, betaine 
and other chemical products. Such expansion plan not only mitigates geopolitical risk but also increases our production 
flexibility and optimises use of natural resources. We believe that such expansion can also increase our market share 
of the abovementioned products. The Land is located in Malaysia-China Kuantan International Logistics Park, which is 
a comprehensive industrial park that features international logistics, processing and manufacturing. We believe that the 
expansion project in Malaysia will promote our international trade business.

After reviewing the Group’s existing business portfolio, development strategy and financial resources, the Directors are 
of the view that the Group can benefit from tapping into the financial sector, including but not limited to the provision of 
financial advisory, brokerage, asset management and investment management services. During the year, we had invested 
into a corporation with relevant licences and with qualified persons to carry out the corresponding financial services activities 
accordingly. We believes that the development of such services can complement the one-stop solutions that the Group 
offers its customers and bring value to the shareholders of our Company (the “Shareholders”) through better deployment of 
available resources.

In the opinion of the Board, the impact of the international affairs including the Russia-Ukraine War and other geopolitical 
issues to the Group is still uncertain up to the date of this report. Management will remain alert to the development of the 
pandemic and take measures as appropriate.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to Shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the 
Group consists of debt, including bank and other borrowings, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising 
issued capital and reserves. The management of the Group reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of capital 
and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through 
the payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the issuance of debts and repayment of existing borrowings. The 
Group’s overall strategy remained unchanged throughout the year.

During the year, the Group’s working capital was financed by both internal resources and borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets and bank balances and cash amounted to approximately RMB1,742.4 
million (2022: RMB1,678.6 million) and RMB77.4 million (2022: RMB103.2 million), respectively. The bank balances and cash 
were mainly denominated in RMB and US$.

As at 31 December 2023, the borrowings (including loans from related companies) were approximately RMB711.7 million 
(2022: RMB655.9 million). As at 31 December 2023, borrowings amounting to approximately RMB711.7 million (2022: 
RMB645.9 million) are carried at fixed interest rates ranging from 0% to 7.2% (2022: from 0% to 7.2%) per annum and 
repayable from 2024 to 2050 (2022: from 2023 to 2050). As at 31 December 2022, borrowings amounting to approximately 
RMB10.0 million are carried at variable interest rates ranging from 4.25% to 5.7% per annum and repayable in 2023.

The gearing ratio of the Group, which was calculated by dividing the total external borrowings by total equity as at the end of 
the year and multiplied by 100%, is 122.4% (2022: 108.8%). The increase in gearing ratio of the Group was mainly due to (i)  
the increasing borrowing as at 31 December 2023; and (ii) the repurchase of shares during the year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects would be affected by a number of risks and 
uncertainties including market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to currency risk and interest rate risk. There has been no change in the Group’s 
exposure to these risk or the manner in which it manages and measure the risks.

Currency risk

Certain financial instruments are denominated in foreign currencies of respective group entities which are exposed to foreign 
currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors 
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk for certain financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, which 
carried interests at fixed interest rates.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk for its interest bearing financial liabilities and certain of its interest 
bearing financial assets, which carried interests at variable interest rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. The management monitors interest rate risk exposure 
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arises. The Group aims at keeping borrowings at 
variable rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate 
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The management will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and 
floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.

Credit Risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge the 
obligations by counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management 
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring 
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable 
amount of trade debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for 
irrecoverable amounts. The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss model upon the application 
of IFRS 9 on trade receivables. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the loss allowance on trade receivables at lifetime expected 
credit loss.

The credit risk on bill receivables at fair value through other comprehensive income are limited as those bills are issued by 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and no history of default in the past, thus no 
loss allowance provision for bills was recognised during the year.

For other receivables, rental deposits and amount due from an associate, management of the Group makes periodic 
collective assessment as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of these receivables based on historical 
settlement records, past experience and also available and supportive forward-looking information. The management of the 
Group believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of other receivables, rental 
deposits and amount due from an associate.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on bank balances and restricted bank deposits which are deposited with several 
banks. However, the credit risk on bank balances and restricted bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies, and expected credit loss is insignificant.

The credit risk on loan receivable is limited because the counterparty is a state-owned entity with high reputation. The 
management is of the opinion that the average loss rate is insignificant, thus no loss allowance provision is recognised for the 
year ended 31 December 2023.

Except for loan receivable, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on trade and bill receivables and other 
receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of non-availability of funds to meet all contractual financial commitments as they fall due. In the 
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate 
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the year. The 
Group strives to reduce credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its 
customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity 
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s foreign currency transactions are mainly denominated in RMB and US$. The Group has currency exposure as 
certain income and expenses incurred in mainland China were denominated in RMB and certain overseas sales income were 
denominated in US$ and other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign exchange rate risk arising from future commercial 
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities which are denominated in RMB. During the year, the Group did not commit 
to any financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

During the year, the Group’s capital expenditures consisted of additions to property, plant and equipment and construction 
in progress in our operations amounting to approximately RMB153.4 million (2022: RMB282.7 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a capital commitment of approximately RMB20.1 million (2022: RMB17.0 million). 
The capital commitments primarily related to the establishment of the new Vietnam production lines and purchase of 
machinery and equipment in mainland China for existing usage. We intend to fund these commitments with cash generated 
from our operations and bank and other borrowings.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, save as (i) restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB30.4 million (2022: RMB33.9 million); (ii) 
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB43.4 million and RMB355.3 million respectively 
(2022: right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB44.4 million and RMB99.7 million 
respectively); (iii) bill receivables at fair value through other comprehensive income of approximately RMB86.0 million (2022: 
RMB76.9 million); (iv) cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB2.4 million (2022: RMB3.7 million); (v) inventories of 
approximately RMB11.6 million (2022: RMB10.6 million); and (vi) trade receivables and other receivables and prepayments of 
approximately RMB2.4 million (2022: RMB2.8 million) to secure the borrowings, the Group did not pledge any other assets.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 
Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 1,098 (2022: 1,028) employees, including the Directors. Total staff costs 
(including Directors’ remuneration) was approximately RMB135.8 million (2022: RMB118.0 million) for the year ended 31 
December 2023.

Remuneration is determined with reference to market norms and individual employees’ performance, qualification and 
experience.

On top of the basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the individual’s 
performance. Other major staff benefits include contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit plan, Hong Kong’s 
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and the state-managed retirement benefit schemes.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a 
performance related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually. 
The Group also operates a share option scheme adopted by the Company on 16 December 2019 where options to 
subscribe for Shares may be granted to the Directors and employees of the Group.

The Company adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”) on 1 March 2023 (the “Adoption Date”). Details of 
which were disclosed in the announcement dated 1 March 2023 (the “Announcement”). The purposes of the Share Award 
Plan are to recognise and reward the contribution of Eligible Participants (as defined in the Announcement), to give incentives 
to Eligible Participants in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group and to attract 
suitable personnel for further development of the Group. The number of awards available for grant as of 1 January 2023 and 
31 December 2023 are nil and 50,900,000 Shares, respectively.

As at the date of this report, no Shares were granted under the Share Award Plan.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant investment or capital assets (2022: Nil).
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures” 
below, the Group did not have any plans for material investments or capital assets in the coming year.

The Group will finance the future acquisitions through internally generated funds and other fund-raising activities, including 
but not limited to issue of new debts or equity instruments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 
VENTURES

The Group has not acquired nor disposed of any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcement (the “Land Acquisition Announcement”) of the Company dated 19 February 
2024. Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms used in this report shall have the same meanings as those defined in the 
Land Acquisition Announcement.

On 19 February 2024, GHW International (Malaysia) SDN BHD (the “Purchaser”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered in to a heads of agreement (the “HOA”) with MCKILP Development SDN BHD (the “Vendor”), for the 
acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of land (the “Land”) located at Mukim Gebeng, Daerah Kuantan, Negeri Pahang, Malaysia, at 
a consideration of RM37,026,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB55,539,000). A formal sale and purchase agreement (the 
“SPA”) in relation to the Acquisition will be entered into between the Purchaser and the Vendor within four months from the 
date of the HOA. As as the date of this report, the Acquisition has not been completed.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant events after reporting period.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yin Yanbin, aged 56, is the founder of our Group, our executive Director, the chairman of our Board and the nomination 
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the chief executive officer of our Company. Mr. Yin is also a director of 
each of GOHI Int’L Limited (“GOHI Int’L”), GHW Holdings Limited (“GHW Holdings”), Nanjing Goldenhighway International 
Supply Chain Management Company Limited* (南京金海威國際供應鏈管理有限公司) (“GHW International SCM”), 
Nanjing Goldenhighway New Materials Co., Ltd.*(南京金海威新材料有限公司) (“GHW Chemicals”), Golden Highway 
International (Hong Kong) Limited (“GHW International (HK)”), Goldray International Enterprises Co., Limited (“Goldray 
International”), Havay Industry Inc. (“Havay Industry”), GHW USA LLC (“GHW USA”), Taian Havay Group Co., Ltd.* (泰
安漢威集團有限公司) (“Havay Group”), Jiangsu Xinnuo Pharmaceutical Trading Co., Ltd.*(江蘇省信諾醫藥對外貿易有
限公司) (“Xinnuo Pharmaceutical”), Nanjing Happyelephant Health Technology Co., Ltd (南京格格象健康科技有限公
司) (“Nanjing Happyelephant”), Taian Yueda Logistics Co., Ltd.* (泰安嶽達物流有限公司) (“Taian Yueda”), Most Victory 
Holdings Limited (“Most Victory”), GOLDENHIGHWAY HOLDINGS PTE.LTD. (“GHW PTE”) (registered and appointed on 
20 April 2023) and GHW INTERNATIONAL (MALAYSIA) SDN. BHD. (“GHW MALAYSIA”) (registered and appointed on 4 
August 2023), the chairman, general manager and legal representative of GHW International SCM, the general manager 
and legal representative of GHW Chemicals and Xinnuo Pharmaceutical, the chairman and legal representative of Nanjing 
Happyelephant, the legal representative of Havay Group, Taian Yueda and Golden Highway Mexico, S.de R.L. de C.V. 
(“Golden Highway Mexico”), all of which are our subsidiaries. Mr. Yin is primarily responsible for strategic planning of our 
Group and overseeing the management and business performance, asset management, financial positions and human 
resources of our Group. Mr. Yin has over 23 years of experience in the applied chemical products industry. Mr. Yin received 
a college diploma in machinery manufacturing process and equipment from Jiangsu Radio and Television University* (江
蘇廣播電視大學) in the PRC in July 1989 and further obtained a bachelor’s degree in business management from China 
Pharmaceutical University* (中國藥科大學) in the PRC in July 2001.

Mr. Zhuang Zhaohui, aged 55, is our executive Director. He is also a member of the remuneration committee (the 
“Remuneration Committee”). Mr. Zhuang joined our Group in February 2001. Mr. Zhuang is also a director of each of 
GHW International SCM, Nuovomondo Chemicals Private Limited (“Nuovomondo Chemicals”) and GHW MALAYSIA 
(registered and appointed on 4 August 2023), all of which are our subsidiaries. Mr. Zhuang is primarily responsible for 
managing, supervising and coordinating the sales strategies and business operations of our Group. Mr. Zhuang has over 23 
years of experience in the applied chemical products industry. Mr. Zhuang received a college diploma in foreign trade from 
Nanjing Audit College* (南京審計學院) (currently known as Nanjing Audit University* (南京審計大學)) in the PRC in July 1989 
and further obtained an executive master of business administration from Shanghai Jiaotong University* (上海交通大學) in 
the PRC in June 2012.

Mr. Chen Zhaohui, aged 55, is our executive Director. He is also the chairman of the risk management committee (the 
“Risk Management Committee”). Mr. Chen joined our Group in July 1997. Mr. Chen is also a director of each of GHW 
International SCM and Nanjing Hanshang Weisou Electronic Technology Co., Ltd.* (南京瀚商微搜電子科技有限公司) 
(“Hanshang Weisou”), and the chairman and legal representative of Hanshang Weisou, all of which are our subsidiaries. Mr. 
Chen is primarily responsible for managing the capital and finance management, administration and information technology 
of our Group. Mr. Chen has over 23 years of experience in the applied chemical products industry. Mr. Chen completed his 
secondary education, specialising in industrial business management in the PRC in July 1987.

Mr. Zhou Chunnian, aged 52, is our executive Director. He is also a member of the Risk Management Committee. Mr. 
Zhou joined our Group in January 1996. Mr. Zhou is also a director of GHW International SCM, one of our subsidiaries. Mr. 
Zhou is primarily responsible for managing, supervising and coordinating the sales and business operations as well as capital 
management of our Group. Mr. Zhou has over 23 years of experience in the applied chemical products industry. Mr. Zhou 
received a bachelor’s degree in chemical processing of coal from Dalian University of Technology* (大連理工大學) in the PRC 
in July 1994 and further obtained an executive master of business administration from Shanghai Jiaotong University* (上海交
通大學) in the PRC in December 2012.
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Mr. Chen Hua, aged 51, is our executive Director. He is also a member of the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Chen 
joined our Group in July 1995. Mr. Chen is also a director of GHW International SCM, a subsidiary of our Company. Mr. 
Chen is primarily responsible for formulating and monitoring the implementation of sales strategies of our Group. Mr. Chen 
has over 23 years of experience in the applied chemical products industry. Mr. Chen received a bachelor’s degree in polymer 
chemistry and physics studies from University of Science and Technology of China* (中國科學技術大學) in the PRC in July 
1995. Mr. Chen further obtained an executive master of business administration from Shanghai Jiaotong University* (上海交
通大學) in the PRC in June 2012.

Mr. Diao Cheng, aged 56, is our executive Director. Mr. Diao joined our Group as an integrated human resources manager 
of Hanhe Enterprises in April 1998. Mr. Diao is the deputy chief executive officer of our Group and is mainly responsible 
for managing strategic development of our Group and operations management of overseas subsidiaries. Mr. Diao is also a 
director and a general manager of Hanshang Weisou, a subsidiary of our Company. Mr. Diao received a college diploma in 
management engineering (finance management) from Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics* (南京航空航天大
學) in the PRC in June 1994, a bachelor’s degree in human resources management from Nanjing University of Science and 
Technology* (南京理工大學) in July 2005 and an executive master of business administration degree from Nanjing University 
in June 2015.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Hongbin, aged 57, is our Independent Non-executive Director. He is also a member of each of the audit committee 
(the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Sun holds various positions 
in China Pharmaceutical University* (中國藥科大學). He is currently a professor, a director of the Jiangsu Key Laboratory 
of Drug Discovery for Metabolic Disease* (江蘇省代謝性疾病藥物重點實驗室), and an associate director of the State Key 
Laboratory of Natural Medicines* (天然藥物活性組分與藥效國家重點實驗室), of China Pharmaceutical University* (中國藥
科大學). Mr. Sun is also a distinguished professor of the Ministry of Education of the PRC’s “Changjiang Scholars Program” 
and the deputy director of the Pharmaceutical Chemistry Committee of the Chinese Pharmaceutical Association. Mr. Sun is 
currently the director of Jiangsu Vcare Pharmatech Co., Ltd* (江蘇威凱爾醫藥科技有限公司), a company which specialises 
in pharmaceutical research development. Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor’s degree in chemistry from Jilin University in the PRC 
in 1989 and received a doctor’s degree in science from China Pharmaceutical University* (中國藥科大學) in the PRC in July 
1995.

Mr. Wang Guangji, aged 70, is our Independent Non-executive Director. He is also a member of the Audit Committee. 
Mr. Wang is currently the chairman of the academic committee of the China Pharmaceutical University* (中國藥科大
學), an independent director of Jinling Pharmaceutical Company Limited* (金陵藥業股份有限公司) (resigned on 28 June 
2023), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000919), Jiangsu Nhwa Pharmaceutical Co., 
LTD* (江蘇恩華藥業股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002262), FRONTIER 
BIOTECHNOLOGIES INC.* (前沿生物藥業 (南京) 股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock 
code: 688221), and Jiangsu Aidea Pharmaceutical Co.,Ltd.* (江蘇艾迪藥業股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shanghai 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688488), respectively, and a director of Sichuan Kelun Pharmaceutical Company Limited* (四
川科倫藥業股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002422), and Jiangsu Lianhuan 
Pharmaceutical Co.,Ltd.* (江蘇聯環藥業股份有限公司) a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 
600513), respectively. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in pharmacy from the China Pharmaceutical University* (中國
藥科大學) in January 1977 and further obtained a doctor of pharmacy from the University of Otago in New Zealand in June 
1993. He was appointed as an academician of Chinese Academy of Engineering in 2013.
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Ms. Zheng Qing, aged 56, is our Independent Non-executive Director. She is also the chairlady of each of the Audit 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee. Ms. Zheng has over 20 years 
of experience in the financial management industry. Ms. Zheng was the financial controller of Nanjing region of Fullshare 
Holdings Limited (豐盛控股有限公司) (“Fullshare Holdings”, stock code: 607) from June 2015 to December 2022, and 
she has been redesignated as the financial consultant of Fullshare Holdings since January 2023. Since December 2016, 
Ms. Zheng has been an executive director of China High Speed Transmission Equipment Group Co., Ltd (中國高速傳動
設備集團有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 658). Ms. Zheng received a college diploma in 
economic management, majoring in foreign trade, from Nanjing Audit College* (南京審計學院) (currently known as Nanjing 
Audit University (南京審計大學)) in the PRC in July 1989. She completed the Economic Management courses in Nanjing 
University* (南京大學) in the PRC in June 1993 through self-study. She received a bachelor’s degree in applied accounting 
from Oxford Brookes University in the United Kingdom in January 2005 through long distance learning, and further obtained 
a master degree in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in November 2012. 
Ms. Zheng has been a member and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since April 2002 and April 
2007, respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu Wing Hou, aged 36, is our chief financial officer and company secretary. Mr. Wu is also the legal representative and 
director of New Material (Vietnam) Co. Ltd and GHW Holdings Limited, all of which are our subsidiaries. Mr. Wu is primarily 
responsible for overseeing the overall financial position and accounting matters of our Group. Mr. Wu received a bachelor’s 
degree in business administration, majoring in accounting and finance, from the University of Hong Kong in December 2009. 
Mr. Wu was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2013.

Ms. Jiang Hong, aged 54, joined our Group as an accounting personnel of Xinnuo Pharmaceutical in March 1998. Ms. 
Jiang is the deputy chief financial officer of our Group and is mainly responsible for managing the financial and general 
operations of our Group. Ms. Jiang has over 23 years of experience in financial management and accounting. Ms. Jiang 
received a college diploma in industrial accounting from Nanjing Radio and Television University* (南京廣播電視大學) in the 
PRC in June 1990.
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The Directors present this report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2023.

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 25 April 2018. The 
Company listed its Shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 21 
January 2020. The Company issued 250,000,000 Shares at an offer price of HK$0.51 per Share.

The listing of and the permission to deal in the Shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange commenced on 21 January 
2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries 
are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair business review of the Group as well as discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the 
material factors underlying its financial performance and financial position is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s 
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 8 and pages 9 to 22 respectively of this annual 
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects would be affected by a number of risks and 
uncertainties including market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk`. The risk management 
policies and practices of the Group are stated in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has actively participated in sustainability and social responsibility and recognises its responsibility to protect 
the environment from its business activities. The Group endeavours to comply with the laws and regulations regarding 
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste 
reduction.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations 
by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during the year ended 31 December 
2023.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 83 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are 
set out in note 42 to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of change in equity, respectively in this 
annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to our Shareholders was approximately RMB83.4 
million (2022: RMB83.5 million), as determined under IFRSs and in accordance with the Companies Act of the Cayman 
Islands. The amount includes the Company’s share premium, capital reserve, retained profits or accumulated losses which 
may be distributable provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, if any, 
the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this 
annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of 
this report. Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 32 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”) and there is no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 1 March 2023 and 4 July 2023. Unless otherwise defined, 
capitalised terms used in this report shall have the same meanings as those defined in the announcements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Trustee purchased a total of 50,900,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange, at 
a consideration of HK$0.5 per Share, for an aggregate consideration of HK$25,450,000, excluding transaction costs, for the 
purpose of the Plan, funded by the Company’s internal resources.

Save as disclosed above and in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

TAX RELIEF 

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to Shareholders by reason of their holdings in the Shares of 
the Company.

DONATIONS

The Group made nil charitable donations (2022: RMB197,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the Group’s largest customer and five largest customers accounted 
for approximately 2.8% (2022: 2.2%) and 8.2% (2022: 7.8%) respectively of the total revenue of the Group for the year. 
Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers, which comprise third-party manufacturers, accounted 
for approximately 7.2% (2022: 13.4%) and 27.6% (2022: 43.7%) respectively of the total purchases of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2023.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, any of their close associates (within the meaning of the Rules 
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange) or any Shareholders who or which owns 
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers 
or suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2023.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,  SUPPLIERS,  CUSTOMERS AND OTHER 
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers 
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees, suppliers and 
customers. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no material and significant disputes between the Group 
and its employees, suppliers and/or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Yin Yanbin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhuang Zhaohui
Chen Zhaohui
Zhou Chunnian
Chen Hua
Diao Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Sun Hongbin
Wang Guangji
Zheng Qing

Pursuant to paragraph 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if 
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation 
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), Mr. Zhou Chunnian, Mr. Diao Cheng and Mr. Sun 
Hongbin will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for election at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 23 to 25 of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from 
each of Mr. Sun Hongbin, Mr. Wang Guangji and Ms. Zheng Qing, being the current Independent Non-executive Directors, 
and as at the date of this annual report, the Company still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing from his/her date 
of appointment which term will continue, and such letter of appointment may be terminated by either party by serving not 
less than three-months’ prior written notice for the case of executive Directors and one-month’s prior written notice for the 
case of independent non-executive Directors, respectively, to the other party. Each Director will be re-elected at the AGM in 
accordance with the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Directors’ remuneration including the Directors’ fees is subject to the Shareholders’ approval at general meeting. Other 
emoluments are recommended by the Remuneration Committee for the Board’s approval, having regard to the operating 
results of the Group, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions/Exempted Continuing Connected Transactions” 
on page 30 of this annual report and notes 8, 11, 23 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements, no Director nor a 
connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or 
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company’s holding company or any of the Company’s 
subsidiaries was a party during or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023, and no contract of significance to which 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Controlling Shareholders (as defined below) or an entity 
connected with the Controlling Shareholders (as defined below) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted 
during or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors had interests in business which competes or may compete with the Group’s business.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/EXEMPTED CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in notes 8, 11, 23 and 36 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

During the year, the Group had the following continuing connected transactions which are exempted from the reporting, 
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules and are included 
herein for information only.

On 24 March 2020, a loan agreement was entered into between Nanjing Hanhe Enterprises Co., Ltd. (“Hanhe 
Enterprises”), an indirectly-owned subsidiary of Mr. Yin, as lender and Havay Group as borrower (the “Loan Agreement”), 
pursuant to which Hanhe Enterprises had agreed to provide a loan facility to Havay Group in the aggregate amount of 
RMB110,000,000 (the “Loan Facility”) at an interest rate of 2% per annum with a term of 2 years. On 1 December 2020, a 
supplemental agreement was entered into between Hanhe Enterprises and Havay Group, pursuant to which the interest rate 
was adjusted from 2% to 1.8% per annum with effect from 1 October 2020. On 31 December 2021, an extension agreement 
was entered into between both parties, pursuant to which the due dates of the loans were extended to 2023. On 15 April 
2022, another supplemental agreement was entered into between Hanhe Enterprises and Havay Group, pursuant to which 
the interest rate was adjusted from 1.8% to 4% per annum with effect from 15 April 2022. On 9 June 2023, an agreement 
was entered into between both parties, pursuant to which Hanhe Enterprises had agreed to provide a loan facility to Havay 
Group in the aggregate amount of RMB32,150,000 (the “New Loan Facility”) at interest rate of 4% per annum and with a 
term of 1 year or less from the respective loan advance dates. On 31 December 2023, another extension agreement was 
entered into between both parties, pursuant to which the due dates of the loans were extended to 2025. As at 31 December 
2023, the outstanding loan from Hanhe Enterprises amounting to approximately RMB27.0 million. Detailed terms of the Loan 
Facility were disclosed in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements.

On 1 March 2022, a loan agreement was entered into between Nanjing Jinhan Tianxia Sports Culture Development 
Company Limited* (南京金漢天下體育文化發展有限公司) (“Jinhan Tianxia”), an indirectly-owned subsidiary of Mr. Yin, as 
lender and Havay Group as borrower (the “Loan Agreement II”), pursuant to which Jinhan Tianxia had agreed to provide 
loans to Havay Group in the aggregate amount of RMB54,600,000 at an interest rate of 1.8% per annum with a term 
of less than 2 years. On 15 April 2022, a supplemental agreement was entered into between Jinhan Tianxia and Havay 
Group, pursuant to which the interest rate was adjusted from 1.8% to 4% per annum with effect from 15 April 2022. On 
15 June 2023, a supplemental agreement was entered into between both parties, pursuant to which the existing loans can 
be redrawn upon repayment with a term of 1 year. On 31 December 2023, another extension agreement was entered into 
between both parties, pursuant to which the due dates of the loans were extended to 2025. As at 31 December 2023, the 
outstanding loan from Jinhan Tianxia amounted to RMB54.6 million. Detailed terms of the loans were disclosed in note 23 of 
the consolidated financial statements (the Loan Agreements collectively referred to as the “Loan Arrangements”).

As at the dates of the Loan Arrangements, Mr. Yin held approximately 55.31% of the issued share capital of the Company 
in aggregate and is a Controlling Shareholder (as defined below) and is therefore a connected person of the Company. 
Accordingly, the Loan Arrangements constitute connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

The Loan Arrangements had been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have confirmed that the 
transactions were entered into: (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial 
terms or, if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial terms, on 
terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and (c) 
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Loan Arrangements are fully exempted from the shareholders’ 
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Save in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and as disclosed above, the Group has not entered into any 
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction during the year which should be disclosed pursuant to the 
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their 
respective associates in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) 
which were required, to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as 
otherwise to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

(i) Positions in the Shares

Name
Capacity/Nature
of Interests

Number of
Shares held

Approximate 
Shareholding Percentage

Long
Position

Short
Position

Long
Position

Short
Position

Mr. Yin (Note) Interest in a controlled
corporation

553,141,500 Nil 55.31% Nil

      

Note:

Among these Shares, (a) 375,000,000 Shares are held by Commonwealth B, which is owned as to 80% by Commonwealth Yanbin Limited 

(“Commonwealth Yanbin”) which is in turn wholly owned by Mr. Yin; and (b) 178,141,500 Shares are held by Commonwealth Happy Elephant, which 

is owned as to approximately 98.26% by Commonwealth YYB Limited (“Commonwealth YYB”) which is in turn wholly owned by Mr. Yin. By virtue of 

the SFO, Mr. Yin is deemed to be interested in the 375,000,000 Shares held by Commonwealth B and the 178,141,500 Shares held by Commonwealth 

Happy Elephant.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their 
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company 
or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, to be recorded in the 
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year or up to the date of this report were there any rights to acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective 
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company or any of its 
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 16 December 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) which became 
effective on 21 January 2020. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected 
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Directors consider the Share Option Scheme, 
with its broadened basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward the employees, the Directors and other selected 
participants for their contributions to the Group. Eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme, amongst others, include 
any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including any executive Director but excluding any Non-executive Director) 
of the Group, any Non-executive Director (including Independent Non-executive Directors) of the Group, any supplier, 
any customer, any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support to the Group, any 
Shareholder of any member of the Group, any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to the Group and any other 
group or classes of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other 
business arrangement and growth of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten 
years from 21 January 2020. Please refer to the Company’s prospectus dated 31 December 2019 (the “Prospectus”) for 
details of the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2023, no Share options were granted, cancelled, lapsed or forfeited under the Share Option Scheme 
and there were no outstanding Share options under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023.

At the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 December 2023, the total number of share options that can be granted 
under the Share Option Scheme was 100,000,000 and 100,000,000 respectively, which represented approximately 10% 
and 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at such dates respectively.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

On 1 March 2023, the Company adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”). Details of which were disclosed 
in the announcement dated 1 March 2023 (the “Announcement”). The purposes of the Plan are to recognise and reward 
the contribution of Eligible Participants (as defined in the Announcement), to give incentives to Eligible Participants in 
order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further 
development of the Group.

The vesting date in respect of any award shall be not less than 12 months from the grant date. The aggregate maximum 
number of Shares (the “Plan Mandate Limit”) (i) to be purchased by the trustee by applying the group contribution; and (ii) 
to be issued under any other share option schemes adopted or to be adopted by the Company from time to time, shall not 
exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the adoption date or the relevant date of approval of the refreshment 
of the Plan Mandate Limit. The aggregate maximum number of Shares (the “Service Provider Sub-limit”) to be purchased 
by the trustee by applying the group contribution for the awards to be awarded to all service providers pursuant to the 
Share Award Plan shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the adoption date or the relevant date of 
approval of the refreshment of the Service Provider Sub-limit. The maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant shall not 
exceed 1% of the issued Shares at the Adoption Date (i.e. 10,000,000 Shares). The number of awards available for grant as 
of 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 are nil and 50,900,000 Shares, respectively.

The Share Award Plan shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the adoption date but may be 
terminated earlier as determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee, provided that such termination shall not 
affect any subsisting rights of any selected participant.

As at the date of this report, no Shares were granted under the Share Award Plan.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year, save for the Share Option Scheme previously mentioned, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked 
agreements, and there did not subsist any equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company as at 31 December 2023.

COMPLIANCE OF THE DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

As disclosed in the Prospectus, Mr. Yin and Ms. Wu Hailing (“Ms. Wu”), the spouse of Mr. Yin, Ms. Wang Wei, Mr. Pan Bing, 
Commonwealth B, Commonwealth Yanbin, Commonwealth Violet Limited, Commonwealth YYB, Commonwealth Happy 
Elephant, HMZ Holdings Ltd and HappyBean Holdings Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into 
with and in favour of the Company a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) on 19 December 2019. 
Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed that none of them is engaged 
in, or interested in, any business (other than the Group) which, directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with our 
business. To protect the Group from any potential competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders has unconditionally 
and irrevocably undertaken in favour of the Company and the Group, on a joint and several basis, that at any time during 
the Relevant Period (as defined below), each of them shall, and shall procure that their respective close associates and/or 
companies controlled by them (other than the Group) shall:

(a) not, directly or indirectly, be interested or involved or engaged in or carry on or be concerned with or acquire or hold 
any right or interest (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner, agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward 
or otherwise) in any business, or is about to be engaged in any business which competes or is likely to compete 
directly or indirectly with the business currently and from time to time engaged by the Group in the PRC and any other 
country or jurisdiction to which the Group provides such products and/or services and/or in which any member of the 
Group carries on business mentioned above currently and from time to time (the “Restricted Activity”);

(b) not solicit any existing employee or then existing employee of the Group for employment by it/him or its/his close 
associates (excluding the Group);

(c) not, without the consent from the Company, make use of any information pertaining to the business of the Group 
which may have come to its/his/her knowledge in its/his/her capacity as the Controlling Shareholder or otherwise for 
any purpose of engaging, investing or participating in any Restricted Activity;

(d) not, either on its/his/her own or in conjunction with any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other contractual 
agreement, whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, carry on, participate in, hold, engage in, acquire or 
operate, or provide any form of assistance to any person, firm or company (except members of the Group) to conduct 
any Restricted Activity;

(e) not, either on its/his/her own or in conjunction with any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other contractual 
agreement, whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, solicit or endeavour to entice away from or 
discourage from dealing with the Group any person who was at any time during the period of one year preceding the 
date of the Deed of Non-competition a manufacturer for or supplier or subcontractor, customer or client of the Group;

(f) if there is any project or new business opportunity (the “Business Opportunity”) that relates to the Restricted 
Activity and is offered or becomes aware to the Controlling Shareholders, they shall (i) promptly refer such project 
or new business opportunity to the Group in writing for consideration and provide such information as is reasonably 
required in order to enable the Group to come to an informed assessment of such opportunity, (ii) use its/his/her best 
endeavours to procure such opportunity offered to the Group on terms no less favourable than the terms on which 
such opportunity is offered to such Controlling Shareholder and/or its/his close associates, and (iii) with regard to any 
project or new business opportunity which shall have been rejected by the Group and the principal terms of which the 
Controlling Shareholders and/or any of his/its close associates and/or entities or companies controlled by him/it/her 
invest or participate shall be no more favourable than those made available to the Company;
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(g) not invest or participate in or carry on any project or business opportunity of the Restricted Activity; and

(h) procure its/his/her close associates (excluding the Group) not to invest or participate in or carry on any project or 
business opportunity of the Restricted Activity.

The above undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition do not apply to:

(a) the holding of, or interests in, the shares of any members of the Group; and

(b) the holding of, or interests in, the shares of a company other than a member of the Group whose shares are listed on 
a recognised stock exchange provided that the total number of the shares held by the relevant Controlling Shareholder 
and/or its/his close associates does not exceed 5% of the issued shares of that class of the company in question, and 
such Controlling Shareholder and its/his/her respective close associates, whether acting singly or jointly, would not 
participate in or be otherwise involved in the management of the company in question.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has further unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken to the Company and the Group:

(a) to allow the Directors, their respective representatives and the auditors to have sufficient access to the records of 
each of the Controlling Shareholders and their respective close associates to ensure compliance with the terms and 
conditions of the Deed of Non-competition;

(b) to provide to the Group and the Directors (including the Independent Non-executive Directors) from time to time all 
information necessary for the annual review by the Independent Non-executive Directors with regard to compliance 
with the terms of the Deed of Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders; and

(c) to make an annual declaration as to full compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-competition and a consent to 
disclose such letter in the annual report.

The obligations of the Controlling Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition will remain in effect during the period 
(the “Relevant Period”) from the date (the “Listing Date”) of successful listing (the “Listing”) until the earlier of the date on 
which:

(a) the Controlling Shareholders, together with their close associates, whether individually or taken together, cease to be 
interested directly or indirectly in 30% (or such other amount as may from time to time be specified in the Listing Rules 
as being the threshold for determining controlling shareholder) or more of the issued share capital of the Company; or

(b) the Shares cease to be listed and traded on the Stock Exchange.

The Directors believe the 30% threshold is justifiable as it is equivalent to the thresholds applied under the Listing Rules and 
the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buybacks issued by the SFC (the “Takeovers Code”) for the concept of 
“control”.

For details of the Non-Competition Deed, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders - 
Deed of Non-Competition” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed 
of Non-Competition for disclosure in this annual report during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Independent Non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance and enforcement status of the Deed of Non-competition, and are of 
the view that the Controlling Shareholders have abided by the undertakings contained in the Deed of Non-competition during 
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other 
than Directors or chief executive of the Company), who had interests or short positions in the Shares and the underlying 
Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows.

Positions in the Shares

Name
Capacity/Nature
of Interests

Number of
Shares held

Approximate 
Shareholding Percentage

Long
Position

Short
Position

Long
Position

Short
Position

Commonwealth B Beneficial owner 375,000,000 Nil 37.50% Nil

Commonwealth Yanbin Interest in controlled
 corporation (Note 1)

375,000,000 Nil 37.50% Nil

Commonwealth Happy
 Elephant

Beneficial owner 178,141,500 Nil 17.81% Nil

Commonwealth YYB Interest in controlled
 corporation (Note 2)

178,141,500 Nil 17.81% Nil

Ms. Wu Interest of spouse
 (Note 3)

553,141,500 Nil 55.31% Nil

Commonwealth GHW Beneficial owner 186,058,500 Nil 18.61% Nil

Endless Reward Limited Beneficial owner
 (Note 4)

50,900,000 Nil 5.09% Nil

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong)
 Limited

Trustee of a trust
 (Note 4)

50,900,000 Nil 5.09% Nil

      

Notes:

1. Commonwealth B is owned as to 80% by Commonwealth Yanbin which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Yin. By virtue of the SFO, each of Commonwealth 

Yanbin and Mr. Yin is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Commonwealth B.

2. Commonwealth Happy Elephant is owned as to approximately 98.26% by Commonwealth YYB which is in turn wholly owned by Mr. Yin. By virtue of the 

SFO, each of Commonwealth YYB and Mr. Yin is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Commonwealth Happy Elephant.

3. Ms. Wu is the spouse of Mr. Yin and is deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr. Yin is interested in under the SFO.

4. Endless Reward Limited is wholly-owned by Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited, which is the trustee of GHW International Employee Incentive Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person, other than the Directors and Chief Executive of the 
Company, whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions 
in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company” above, had registered an interest or short position in the 
Shares or underlying Shares that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Reference is made to the announcement (the “Land Acquisition Announcement”) of the Company dated 19 February 
2024. Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms used in this report shall have the same meanings as those defined in the 
Land Acquisition Announcement.

On 19 February 2024, GHW International (Malaysia) SDN BHD (the “Purchaser”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered in to a heads of agreement (the “HOA”) with MCKILP Development SDN BHD (the “Vendor”), for the 
acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of land (the “Land”) located at Mukim Gebeng, Daerah Kuantan, Negeri Pahang, Malaysia, 
at a consideration of RM37,026,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB55,539,000). A formal sale and purchase agreement 
(the “SPA”) in relation to the Acquisition will be entered into between the Purchaser and the Vendor within four months from 
the date of the HOA. As as the date of this report, the Acquisition is not completed.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant events after reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company 
has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to code provision (the “Code Provisions”) C.1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out 
under Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and subject to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws 
of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), the Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’ 
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any legal actions brought against the Directors and 
management of the Group which may arise out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the 
benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of the Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the AGM to be held on 
Wednesday, 22 May 2024, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 17 May 2024 to Wednesday, 
22 May 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. All transfers accompanied by 
the relevant certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Link 
Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Limited at Suite 1601, 16/F, Central Tower, 28 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong for 
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 16 May 2024 (Hong Kong time).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report 
on pages 38 to 52 of this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the requirements as set 
out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process, internal control and risk 
management systems, including, among others, material risks relating to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”), of 
the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Zheng Qing (chairlady), 
Mr. Sun Hongbin and Mr. Wang Guangji.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the 
auditing, internal control, including, among others, material risks relating to environmental, social and governance, of 
the Group and risk management and financial reporting matters, including review of the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 with the management and the Company’s external auditor, 
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited.

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be 
proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Yin Yanbin

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024

The English translation of Chinese names or words in this report, where indicated by “*”, are included for information purpose 
only, and should not be regarded as the official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the Code Provisions as set out in the CG Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the 
year ended 31 December 2023. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied with all the Code 
Provisions of the CG Code, save and except for the Code Provision C.2.1. Details of the deviation from the Code Provision 
C.2.1 are explained in the section “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this corporate governance report. The Board 
is committed to complying with the principles of the CG Code contained in the Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The 
Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance consistent with the needs 
and requirements of its business and the Shareholders. The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a 
quality board, sound internal controls, and transparency and accountability to all the Shareholders. The Board will continue 
to review and enhance its corporate governance practice to ensure compliance with the CG Code, and make necessary 
changes as appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set forth in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct 
regarding the dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors and employees during the year ended 31 December 
2023.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed that he/she has complied with the required 
standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprisewide risk is a priority of the Company. The Company is 
convinced that corporate governance and directors and officers liability insurance (the “D&O Insurance”) complement 
each other. The Company has arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect 
of legal actions against the Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities. The D&O Insurance will be 
reviewed and renewed annually.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board, led by the Chairman of the Board, is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and overseeing the 
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance. The Board has delegated to the management of the Company 
the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has 
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their 
respective terms of reference.

The Board reserved its decision for all major matters of the Company, including approving and monitoring all policy matters, 
overall strategies and budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material transactions (in particular those 
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and 
operational matters. Daily management and administration functions were delegated to the management. The Board has 
delegated various responsibilities to the management of the Company. These responsibilities include implementing decisions 
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating day-to-day operation and management of the Company in accordance with the 
management strategies and plans approved by the Board, formulating and monitoring the operation and production plans 
and budgets, and supervising and monitoring the internal control systems.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in 
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company held five Board meetings, one AGM and nil extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”) throughout the year. 
During the year, the Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other 
Directors.
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At least 14 days’ notice for all regular Board meetings will be given to all Directors and they must be given the opportunity 
to include items or businesses for discussion in the agenda. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notice will be given. 
Relevant agenda and accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular 
Board meeting.

Board Composition

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the composition of the Board as at the 
date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors
Yin Yanbin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhuang Zhaohui
Chen Zhaohui
Zhou Chunnian
Chen Hua
Diao Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors
Sun Hongbin
Wang Guangji
Zheng Qing

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and functions has been published on the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange, and the independent non-executive Directors have been identified in all corporate communications that 
disclose the names of Directors.

Relationship

There was no financial, business, family or other material relationship among the Directors. The biographical details of the 
Directors are set out in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the 
Company should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has not separated the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Yin is the Chairman of the Board and also the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company who is responsible for overseeing the operations of the Group during the year. The Board believes that vesting 
the roles of both the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in the same person provides 
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of 
business decisions and strategies. The Board shall nevertheless review the structure from time to time to ensure appropriate 
measures are being taken should suitable circumstances arise.
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Directors’ Attendance Record

During the year ended 31 December 2023, five board meetings and one AGM were held and the individual attendance 
record of each of the Directors is set out in the following table:

Attendance/
Number of

Attendance/
Number of

Board Meetings AGM

Executive Directors
Yin Yanbin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 5/5 1/1
Zhuang Zhaohui 5/5 1/1
Chen Zhaohui 5/5 1/1
Zhou Chunnian 5/5 1/1
Chen Hua 5/5 1/1
Diao Cheng 5/5 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Sun Hongbin 5/5 1/1
Wang Guangji 5/5 1/1
Zheng Qing 5/5 1/1

   

Regular Board meetings are scheduled at approximately quarterly intervals. Minutes of the Board meetings and the meetings 
of the Board committees are recorded in sufficient details. Originals of such minutes, being kept by the Company Secretary, 
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Directors may have access to the senior 
management and the Company Secretary at all time and, upon reasonable request, obtain independent professional advice 
under appropriate circumstances as and when necessary at the Company’s expense, ensuring that Board procedures and 
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the 
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter must be dealt with by a physical Board meeting with the 
independent non-executive Directors present at the meeting rather than by written resolutions.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, using annual general 
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their participation.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the Company in respect of relevant actions against the Directors.

The Board is of the view that the following mechanisms adopted by the Company are effective in ensuring that independent 
views and inputs are available to the Board:

‧ The Board is represented by sufficient number of non-executive Directors which meets the requirement of the Listing 
Rules.

‧ In assessing suitability of the Director candidates, the Board will consider their profiles, including their character, 
experience, qualifications and time commitment; the Board will also consider to the Board’s overall composition and 
skill matrix as well as the Company’s diversity policy.

‧ The Board will review each Director’s time commitment to the Company’s business annually.

‧ The Board will assess non-executive Directors’ independence upon appointment and annually.

‧ Directors are required to abstain from voting in matters in which he has material interest.

‧ The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee are authorised by the Board to 
obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice as necessary to assist the respective committee.

The quality of deliberations at meetings of the Board are reviewed during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had complied with the requirement as set out in the Listing Rules 
regarding appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board, one 
of which, namely Ms. Zheng Qing, shall have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise. Independent non-executive Directors play an important role through their independent judgments 
and advice, which is of great influence to the decision of the Board.

Each independent non-executive Director signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years since 
their respective dates of appointment unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing or as may be agreed 
between the independent non-executive Director and the Company. The Company has received an annual confirmation of 
independence from each of the three independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The 
Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with an initial term of three years commencing from 
the date of appointment and is subject to the re-appointment in accordance with the Articles. The letter of appointment for 
each executive Director can be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing or as may be agreed between the 
executive Director and the Company.

In accordance with the Articles, the Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board shall be subject to re-election 
by Shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointments and any Directors appointed by the Board as an 
addition to the existing Board shall then be eligible for re-election at the next following annual general meeting. Every Director 
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and 
are eligible for re-election at annual general meetings of the Company. At each annual general meeting, one-third of the 
directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest but not less than 
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election.

At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Zhou Chunnian, Mr. Diao Cheng and Mr. Sun Hongbin will retire from office by rotation and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. The Company’s circular, sent together with this annual report, 
contains detailed information of the above recommended persons as required by the Listing Rules.

Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her 
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of 
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be 
supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains 
informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics 
will be issued to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the 
Company’s expenses. According to the records of the Company, in 2023, all Directors attended training sessions on duties 
and obligations of directors of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, covering topics on connected transactions and 
corporate governance. The Company also provided periodic legal updates and developments on the Listing Rules, the 
Companies Ordinance, news updates from the Stock Exchange and Securities & Futures Commission of Hong Kong and 
other relevant legal and regulatory requirements to all Directors, as well as regular updates on the Company’s performance, 
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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According to the confirmation/records provided by the Directors, all the Directors have participated in the continuous 
professional developments in the following manners during the year ended 31 December 2023:

Attending or 
participating in 

seminars/
in-house briefing or 

reading materials 
relevant to the 

Company’s business/
director’s duties

Executive Directors
Yin Yanbin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) √

Zhuang Zhaohui √

Chen Zhaohui √

Zhou Chunnian √

Chen Hua √

Diao Cheng √

Independent Non-executive Directors
Sun Hongbin √

Wang Guangji √

Zheng Qing √
  

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee and the Risk Management Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and the Company’s 
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference which have been 
uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and that of the Company, and are provided with sufficient resources to 
discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 16 December 2019 with specific written terms of reference which is available 
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of 
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Zheng Qing (chairlady), Mr. Sun Hongbin and Mr. Wang Guangji. 
The primary duties of the audit committee include reviewing and supervising the Company’s financial reporting processes, 
internal control and risk management systems, including, among others, material risks relating to environmental, social and 
governance, nominating and monitoring external auditors and providing advice and comments to the Directors.
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The Audit Committee schedules to hold at least two meetings a year. During the year, the Audit Committee convened six 
meetings and the individual attendance record of each of the members is set out in the following table:

Attendance/
Number of Audit 

Committee Meetings

Members
Zheng Qing (Chairlady of the Audit Committee) 6/6
Sun Hongbin 6/6
Wang Guangji 6/6

  

This annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 16 December 2019 with specific written terms of reference which is available 
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consists of one Executive Director, namely Mr. Yin Yanbin (as 
chairman) and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Zheng Qing and Mr. Sun Hongbin. The primary duties 
of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and independence) of the 
Board; making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Directors and senior management to complement 
the Company’s corporate strategy; identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; making 
recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-appointment of the Directors; in identifying suitable individuals, 
considering individuals on merit and against the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board; 
reviewing the board diversity policy, as appropriate; and assessing the independence of the independent Non-executive 
Directors.

The Nomination Committee may obtain independent professional advice to perform its responsibilities, where necessary, at 
the Company’s expense.

The Nomination Committee schedules to hold at least two meetings a year. During the year, the Nomination Committee 
convened two meetings and the individual attendance record of each of the members is set out in the following table:

Attendance/
Number of Nomination 

Committee Meetings

Members
Yin Yanbin (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) 2/2
Zheng Qing 2/2
Sun Hongbin 2/2
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Nomination Policy

The Company adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”). The Nomination Policy aims at setting out the 
process for the nomination of a candidate for the Company’s directorship, the process and criteria to be adopted by 
the Nomination Committee in selecting and recommending a candidate for directorship in the Company as well as the 
subsequent procedures for considering and (if thought fit) approving the nomination by the Board and (as appropriate) the 
Shareholders, in order to facilitate the constitution of the Board with a balance of skills, knowledge, ability, experience and 
diversity of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business operations and environment 
as well as the industry in which the Company operates. The Nomination Policy supplements the terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee shall conduct the following processes (coupled with the following criteria) with a view to 
assessing and evaluating whether such candidate is suitably qualified to be appointed as a Director before making 
recommendations to the Board:

1. to assess such candidate’s qualifications, professional and educational background, skills, knowledge, ability, 
experience and expertise and also potential time commitment and attention to perform director’s duties, with reference 
to the corresponding professional knowledge and industry experience which may be relevant to the Company and also 
the potential contributions that such candidate could bring to the Board;

2. in addition and without prejudice to paragraph 1 above, to assess such candidate’s personal ethics, character, integrity 
and reputation which would be important to the overall business culture of the Company;

3. with reference to the Board Diversity Policy (as adopted and amended by the Board from time to time), to take into 
account the then current structure, size and composition of the Board and the Company’s corporate strategy, with 
due regard to the benefits of the appropriate diversity of perspectives within the Board as well as a strong independent 
element on the Board;

4. to consider Board succession planning considerations and the long-term needs of the Company;

5. in case of a candidate for an independent non-executive Director, to assess: (i) the independence of such candidate 
with reference to, among other things, the independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of Listing Rules; and (ii) the 
requirements relating to independent non-executive directors set out in Code Provision B.3.4 of Appendix C1 to the 
Listing Rules; and

6. to consider any other factors and matters as the Nomination Committee may consider appropriate.

As to the re-appointment of a Director, the Nomination Committee will, mutatis mutandis, apply the above processes 
(coupled with the above criteria) and (in the case of an independent non-executive Director) assess whether such Director 
has remained independent in the context of the Listing Rules and should be re-elected at the next general meeting of the 
Company.

The entire Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and appointment or recommendation (as the case may be) of 
candidates for the Company’s directorship, and accordingly, shall consider the recommendations from the Nomination 
Committee and make a decision.
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In view of the foregoing, the nomination procedures to select and recommend candidates for the Company’s directorship 
could be summarised as follows:

1. The chairman of the Nomination Committee will, upon receipt of a nomination from the nominating Director or the 
company secretary of the Company (as the case may be), convene a meeting of the Nomination Committee to 
consider the same in accordance with its terms of reference.

2. For filling a casual vacancy to the Board, the Nomination Committee will conduct the relevant selection process (coupled 
with the relevant selection criteria) against the nominated candidate and make recommendations to the Board for 
consideration, and the Board will then make a decision as to whether the nominated candidate shall be eligible to be 
appointed as a Director.

3. For proposing a candidate to stand for election as the Director at a general meeting of the Company:

(a) the Nomination Committee will make nominations to the Board for consideration, and the Board will then make 
recommendations to the Shareholders for consideration; and

(b) in accordance with Rule 13.70 of the Listing Rules, the Company shall issue an announcement or supplementary 
circular setting out the information required by the Listing Rules not less than 10 business days prior to the date 
of the general meeting. For more details, as mentioned above, please see the procedures for a Shareholder 
to propose a person for election as a Director (as amended from time to time) which are accessible on the 
Company’s website.

4. For re-appointing a Director:

(a) subject to (b) below, the Nomination Committee will conduct the relevant selection process (coupled with the 
relevant selection criteria) against the Director proposed to be re-appointed and make recommendations to the 
Board for consideration, and the Board will then make a decision as to whether the Director shall be eligible to be 
re-appointed as a Director; and

(b) if the Director proposed to be re-appointed or re-elected due to retirement by rotation under the Company’s bye-
laws is an independent non-executive Director who has served the Board for more than 9 years, the Nomination 
Committee shall also assess whether the Director has remained independent in the context of the Listing Rules 
and should be re-elected at the next general meeting of the Company and make recommendations to the Board 
for consideration. The Board will then make a decision as to whether the Director has remained independent in 
the context of the Listing Rules, and if so, recommend the proposed re-appointment/re-election of the Director 
to the Shareholders for consideration at the next general meeting of the Company.



GHW International | 2023 Annual Report       46

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Diversity Policy

The Company continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain a high standard of corporate 
governance and recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in the composition of the Board.

In December 2019, the Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) for compliance with 
the Code Provision of the Listing Rules concerning the diversity of Board members. The Company recognises and embraces 
the benefits of diversity in Board members. A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in the skills, 
regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken 
into account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while 
taking into account diversity including gender diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors, one of them is female. Three of them are independent non-
executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the management process.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued 
effectiveness.

Workforce diversity

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total workforce of 1,098 employees, of which 72.9% (800) are males, and 27.1% 
(298) are females.

While we believe our future employee recruitment should predominantly be merit-based and do not consider it appropriate to 
set any target gender ratio for our workforce, we recognize and embrace the benefits of having a diverse workforce, and will 
continue to enhance the diversity of our workforce, subject to availability of suitable candidates.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 16 December 2019 and revised and adopted on 3 January 2023 with 
specific written terms of reference which is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. As at the 
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Zheng 
Qing (as chairlady) and Mr. Sun Hongbin and one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhuang Zhaohui. The primary duties 
of the Remuneration Committee include evaluating the performance of executive Directors and senior management and 
determining their remuneration packages and making recommendations on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the 
Board retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and management 
of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is also responsible to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 
17 of the Listing Rules.

During the process of consideration, no individual Director will be involved in decisions relating to his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee may obtain independent professional advice to perform its responsibilities, where necessary, 
at the Company’s expense.
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The Remuneration Committee schedules to hold at least two meetings a year. During the year, the Remuneration Committee 
convened two meetings and the individual attendance record of each of the members is set out in the following table:

Attendance/
Number of 

Remuneration 
Committee Meetings

Members
Zheng Qing (Chairlady of the Remuneration Committee) 2/2
Zhuang Zhaohui 2/2
Sun Hongbin 2/2

  

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 16 December 2019 with specific written terms of reference which 
is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. As at the date of this report, the Risk Management 
Committee consists of three executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Zhaohui (as chairman), Mr. Zhou Chunnian and Mr. Chen 
Hua. The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee include monitoring the Company’s exposure to sanctions law 
risks and its implementation of the related internal control procedures.

The Risk Management Committee schedules to hold at least two meetings a year. During the year, the Risk Management 
Committee convened two meetings and the individual attendance record of each of the members is set out in the following 
table:

Attendance/
Number of 

Risk Management 
Committee Meetings

Members
Chen Zhaohui (Chairman of the Risk Management Committee) 2/2
Zhou Chunnian 2/2
Chen Hua 2/2

  

Remuneration of the Senior Management

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG code, the remuneration of the Senior Management by band for the year ended 
31 December 2023, is set out as below:

No. of person

Band of remuneration (HK$) 2023 2022

HK$1,000,000 and below 7 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1

   

Further details of the remuneration of Directors and the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to 
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Accountability and Audit

Financial Reporting

Financial results of the Group are announced in a timely manner in accordance with all statutory requirements, particularly 
the timeframe stipulated in Rule 13.49(1) and (6) of the Listing Rules.

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. Currently, the Company’s external auditor is ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (the “Auditor”).

The Directors’ responsibilities in preparing the consolidated financial statements and the Auditor’s responsibilities are set out 
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 78 to 80 of this annual report.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced and clear assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects. 
Management of the Company provides all relevant information to the Board, giving its members sufficient explanation and 
information that it needs to discharge its responsibilities.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The fees paid or payable to the Auditor of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out as follows:

Fees paid/payable
RMB’000

Audit service 1,600
  

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLE-BLOWING PROCEDURES

The Group maintains and effectively implements a comprehensive system of internal control and stringent policies for anti-
corruption, and is committed to preventing and monitoring any malpractices or unethical practice.

The Group is in compliance with all applicable anti-bribery and corruption laws including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance 
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong as well as all the relevant anticorruption laws in Singapore. The 
Group has also applied the Corporate Governance Code as the basis in formulating the internal rules and regulations for 
integrity discipline and clean administration. The Group will adhere to its corporate ethics and uphold its reputation to prevent 
corruption.

To prevent corruptive practices and raise employees’ awareness regarding such matter, the expectations and appropriate 
procedures of engaging third parties, and standards relating to anti-bribery and anti-corruption are set out in the anti-
corruption and bribery policy of the Group.

Employees, who are found breaching the Group’s code and policies will be investigated and may be subject to warning, 
suspension, termination of contract, dismissal and disciplinary discharge.

In addition, a whistleblowing policy has been established to provide employees with guidance and channels for the reporting 
of fraud, corruption, bribery, criminal offences, conflict of interest, harassment, workplace bullying and other non-compliances 
with the laws, regulations and internal controls or other forms of misconducts without fear of adverse consequences.

The policy provides a set of transparent and confidential procedures for dealing with the concerns raised by each employee 
and is fully supported by management and approved by the Board.

Suspected non-compliance issues may be reported to the chairman of the Audit Committee, the assistant to chairman of 
the Company, immediate supervisor or the head of department who is also required to notify any concerns to the Audit 
Committee on a timely basis. According to this policy, the identities of employees who reported in good faith will be kept 
confidentially and protected by the Group without any form of retaliation, harassment or victimization.

Anti-corruption training material had been circulated among all Directors and employees of the Group in accordance with the 
applicable laws of the relevant jurisdictions to enhance their knowledge and awareness on such issue.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

A sound and effective risk management and internal control system is important to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment 
and the Group’s assets. The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems of 
the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk associated 
in failing to achieve certain business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The Company has established the internal audit function to perform annual financial review, which generally carries out the 
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal 
control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management to oversee the formation, implementation and monitoring 
of the risk management and internal control systems.

The “top-down approach” and the “bottom-up approach” were adopted by the Group in order to measure the risks faced 
by the Group. The internal processes of risk assessment and measurement involve the participation of management in 
assessing the risk exposure such as identifying the risks and their impact. The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, 
has reviewed and assessed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems by reviewing the reports 
prepared by the internal audit function and the internal audit findings at each regularly scheduled meeting and considered 
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate for the year ended 31 
December 2023.

In detail, the procedures used to identify, evaluate and manage major risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

–  Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

–  Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria developed by the management, including the materiality 
of impact on the business and the likelihood of occurrence.

Risk Response

–  Determines the risk management strategies and internal control procedures to prevent, avoid or mitigate the significant 
risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

–  Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and ensures that appropriate internal control procedures are in 
place;

–  Revises the risk management strategies and internal control procedures in case of any significant change of situation; 
and

–  Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board regularly.

The Board considered that major risks of the Group were managed within the acceptable level and the management will 
continue to monitor the residual risks and report to the Board on an ongoing basis.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal 
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, including financial, operational and compliance controls 
and risk management function.

The management shall report to the Board as soon as practicable for any event which may constitute inside information, and 
the Board shall decide to make relevant disclosure in a timely manner, if required.
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Delegation by the Board

In general, the Board oversees the Group’s strategic development and determines the objectives, strategies and policies of 
the Group. The Board also monitors and controls operating and financial performance and sets appropriate policies for risk 
management in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. The Board delegates the implementation of strategies and day-
to-day operation of the Group to the management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wu Wing Hou was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 14 December 2018. During 
the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Wu Wing Hou has complied with the relevant professional training requirement 
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a clear, timely and effective communication with the Shareholders and 
investors of the Company. The Board also recognises that effective communication with the Company’s investors is critical 
in establishing investor confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the shareholders’ communication policy of the 
Company is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure the Shareholders and the investors of the 
Company will receive accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group through the publication of annual 
reports, interim reports, announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes all corporate communications on the 
website of the Company.

In respect of each matter to be considered at the annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings, including the 
re-election of Directors, a separate resolution will be proposed by the Chairman of the Board. Voting at general meetings of 
the Company is conducted by way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The poll results will be announced at general 
meetings and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively. In addition, the Company 
regularly meets with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media, and promptly releases information related 
to any significant progress of the Company, so as to promote the development of the Company through mutual and efficient 
communications.

The Shareholders may at any time send enquiries and requests for publicly available information and provide comments 
and suggestions to the Company. Such enquiries, requests, comments and suggestions can be sent by email to 
ghw@goldenhighway.com or to the Company Secretary by mail to the Company’s address as shown in the “Contact Us” 
section of the Company’s website.

For enquiries about their shareholdings in the Company, the Shareholders can direct the same to the Company’s branch 
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Limited, at suite 1601, 16/F, Central 
Tower, 28 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong or by email to hkenquiries@linkmarketservices.com, who has been appointed 
by the Company to handle the Shareholders’ share registration and related matters.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, an annual general meeting of the Company was held on 24 May 2023.

Members of the Board and chairpersons of various Board committees will attend the forthcoming annual general meeting 
of the Company to be held on Wednesday, 22 May 2024 at 5:00 p.m. (the “AGM”) to answer questions raised by the 
Shareholders. Pursuant to Code Provision F.2.2, the Company will invite representatives of the auditor to attend the AGM 
to answer Shareholders’ questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the 
accounting policies and the auditor’s independence.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy. Having considered 
the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place, it is satisfied that the Shareholders Communication Policy 
was effective during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’ 
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and voting. 
Besides, various rights of Shareholders, including the right to propose resolutions, are contained in the Articles.

The summary of certain rights of the Shareholders are disclosed below:

Procedures for Convening Extraordinary General Meetings and Putting Forward Proposals at General 
Meetings

Each general meeting other than an annual general meeting shall be called an extraordinary general meeting. General 
meetings may be held in any part of the world as may be determined by the Board. According to Article 58 of the Articles, 
any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital 
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written 
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the 
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months 
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene 
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred 
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Any requisition to convene an extraordinary general meeting or proposal to be put forward at the general meeting can be 
addressed to the Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 4301, 43/F, 
Tower One, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The requisitionist(s) must state in their request(s) 
the objects of the extraordinary general meeting to be convened, and such request must be signed by all the requisitionist(s). 
Upon receipt, the Company will verify the particulars of requisitionist(s) and if the request is in order, the Company will 
convene the extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the Articles.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director

The Articles are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and the “procedures for shareholders 
to propose a person for election as a director of the Company” are published on the website of the Company.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board and Company’s Contact Details

Shareholders and other stakeholders may send their enquiries, concerns and requisitions to the Board by addressing them 
to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 4301, 43/F, Tower One, 
Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). It is the policy of the Board in declaring or 
recommending a payment of dividends, to allow shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits and for the Company 
to retain adequate reserves for future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or recommending any dividend:

(i) financial results;

(ii) cash flow situation;

(iii) business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earnings:

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the factors set out above, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or 
period as follows:

‧ interim dividend;

‧ final dividend;

‧ special dividend; and

‧ any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem appropriate.

The payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws and regulations and the Company’s Articles.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the financial and cash-flow position of the Group, such 
Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be 
recommended or declared in any particular amount for any given period. The declaration of or recommendation of 
declaration of dividends is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board. Even if the Board decides to recommend and 
declare dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital requirements and 
surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents. The 
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company are available on the Company’s website and on the website of the 
Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

We are an applied chemical intermediates provider in the integrated chemical services market, which primarily engage in the 
production and sales of our chemicals and sales of chemicals produced by third party manufacturers. We have an operating 
history of over 20 years since 1995 by Mr. Yin, the founder of our Group, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, to 
engage in selling applied chemical intermediates produced by third party manufacturers.

We began to manufacture our own branded products of animal nutrition chemicals such as choline chloride, pharmaceutical 
intermediates such as iodine derivatives and polyurethane materials such as polymer polyether in 2004, 2008 and 2012, 
respectively. Currently, we have one production plant in the PRC which is strategically located in Tai’an, Shandong Province. 
Our production plant in Binh Duong Province, Vietnam also commenced production in 2016.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Our Group hereby publishes its Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) Report (“ESG Report”) and presents its 
sustainability performance. The report content aims to increase the transparency of the Group’s sustainability strategy, and 
describe how the Group has achieved steady growth in its performance, by blending in essential elements for sustainable 
development such as safety and environmental protection through its creativity and professionalism.

REPORTING STANDARD AND SCOPE

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Environment, Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out 
in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules prescribed by the Stock Exchange. The report covers the Group’s activities from 1 
January 2023 to 31 December 2023. The scope of the report includes the Group’s environmental and social performance. 
For environment aspects, the scope of the ESG Report mainly covers our operations in production plants, as stated 
below, which represents the most significant impact on the Group’s environmental performance. Information on corporate 
governance will be separately presented in the annual report in accordance with Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.

For a full list of material ESG aspects, respective key performance indicators (“KPI(s)”) and their reference within this report, 
please refer to the Environmental, Social And Governance Reporting Guide Index on page 58 to 60.
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Throughout the report, we adopted the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, as 
described below:

Reporting Principles Description

Materiality We made a consensus on the material topics through internal discussion and 
participation of key stakeholders. The outcome is summarised in the section – 
Materiality Assessment.

Quantitative To ensure that the effectiveness of our ESG policies and management systems 
can be evaluated and validated, we presented our ESG performance with the 
aid of environmental and social KPIs using robust methodologies, with reference 
to the ESG Reporting Guide.

Balance All environmental and social KPIs were computed and presented with reference 
to the ESG Reporting Guide and robust methodologies were adopted as 
illustrated in the respective sections of the ESG Report. Data comparisons 
over years have been provided to provide an unbiased comparison of our ESG 
performance from time to time.

Consistency The Report has been prepared based on the same methodologies, standard 
and reporting scope as compared to previous year.

  

THE BOARD’S OVERSIGHT OF ESG ISSUES

The Group has developed its environmental protection and social sustainability strategies, and designated teams are 
established within each business unit of the Group to manage ESG issues. The Board has the ultimate responsibility of 
ensuing the development and effectiveness of the Group’s ESG policies and measures, while Mr. Wu Wing Hou, chief 
financial officer and company secretary of the Company, would report to the Board with regards to the ESG management.

The Audit Committee provides oversight of the Group’s internal control, including, among others, material risks relating to 
ESG, of the Group and risk management.

For more details on our corporate governance structure, roles and responsibilities, please refer to our Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 38 to 52 of this Annual Report.
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STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The Group places great emphasis on the valuable opinions of all stakeholders regarding the operations and believes that 
their feedbacks will help the Group to continuously improve the quality of its products and services, which in turn optimizes 
its corporate management. The Group maintains transparent communication with its stakeholders the direction and progress 
of its sustainable development through a range of diversified communication channels, so that the Group can understand 
and consider the opinions of all parties when formulating development plans. The communication channels and discussion 
sections between the Group and its stakeholders are as follows:

Stakeholder Communication Channel Related Topic Achievement in the year

Government 
Authority

• Attending government 
meeting

• Reporting to relevant 
authorities actively

• Accepting supervision

• Operation compliance
• Environmental 

emission compliance
• Legitimacy of our 

products

• Complying with relevant laws 
and regulations

• Meeting relevant environmental 
regulations and requirements

Investor/
Shareholder

• General Meeting
• Disclosing listing information
• Activities such as public 

announcements

• Corporate 
governance

• Business operation
• Information disclosure

• Complying with relevant rules 
and regulations to release public 
announcements and information

Customer • Customer complaint 
mechanism

• Customer satisfaction 
assessment

• E-communication

• Customer satisfaction
• Product quality and 

safety

• General customer satisfaction

Employee • Regular and irregular 
interviews with employees

• Employee trainings
• Employee activities

• Training and 
development

• Remuneration and 
benefits

• Occupational health 
and safety

• Organizing introductory training, 
regular training and safety 
training

• Providing mark-to-market 
remuneration package

Supplier • Supplier meeting
• Telephone inquiry
• On-site inspection

• Communication with 
suppliers

• Product quality risk 
management

• Visiting suppliers and holding 
supplier meeting

Media • Press conference
• Email communication
• Telephone interview

• Information disclosure • Complying with relevant rules 
and regulations to release public 
announcements and information

Community • Participating community 
activities

• Social donation

• Environment 
protection

• Social contribution

• Collaborating with governments 
at all levels to prevent and 
control the epidemic

    

The Group had reviewed ESG disclosures of industry peers to identify common disclosure practices and communicated with 
stakeholders to rank the importance of different ESG issues. A designated team then analysed and developed a prioritised 
list of ESG issues of varying materiality levels for disclosure.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and employees who are responsible for the key functions of the Group have participated in preparing 
this report, assisted the Group in reviewing its operation, identifying key environmental, social and governance issues and 
assessing the importance of these issues to our businesses and stakeholders. Through internal discussion, we identified 
material environmental, social and governance issues to collect the information from relevant departments and business units 
of the Group.
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01 Investment in safety production

02 Good performance

03 Incidence rate of occupational disease

04 Compliant operation

05 High-quality products

06 Safeguarding customer's rights and interests

07 Scientic and technological innovation of products 

08 Control over the pollutants emission

09 Occupational health and safety training

10 Measures for occupational health and safety

11 Climate change mitigation

12 Corporate governance

13 Safety production accident

14 Customer service quality

15 Regulating employees

16 ESG governance

17 Improving the effciency of energy resources

18 Anti-corruption

19 Safeguarding employees’ rights and interests

20 Disposal of substandard products

21 Green procurement

22 Supplier HSE management system audit

23 Environmental and social risk management of supply chain

24 Precise poverty alleviation

25 Fighting the COVID-19

26 Fair procurement

27 Employee training and development

28 Care for and assistance to employees

29 Employee volunteer activities

30 Equal employment

31 Charitable donations

32 Environment and biodiversity protection

Importance to the Company
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Key concerns from 
stakeholders Our responses Targets Achievement

Compliant operation We conduct environmental impact 
assessment and evaluation on 
construction completion in strict 
accordance with relevant laws and 
regulations in various aspects including 
technology formation, construction and 
installation process as well as production 
management.

Ensure there is 
no administrative 
penalty at our 
production plants

Annual administrative 
penalty at our production 
plants: Nil

Investment in 
 safety production

We access the necessity of upgrade of 
our safety production equipment and 
protocol from time to time. 

We establish safety and environmental 
protection department to draw up and 
inspect regulations for safety production, 
arrange regular safety education and 
training for employees, revise and record 
the emergency plan for accidents.

Our management 
analysed the 
annual investment 
in safety 
production and 
reviewed the 
sufficiency of 
the upgrades of 
safety production 
equipment and 
protocol annually

Annual investment in 
safety production at Tai’an 
and Vietnam production 
plant: RMB10 million 
(2022: RMB8 million)

High-quality products During the procurement process, we 
request the supplier to provide a quality 
control report indicating the quality of the 
raw materials. Our procurement team will 
review the quality control report the ensure 
the raw material’s quality is up to standard.

We have our internal research and 
development team to study advanced 
production technology and purchase more 
advanced equipment in order to enhance 
our production with less impurities and 
higher quality.

We also conduct our internal testing 
finished products to uphold our product 
quality.

Ensure the product 
qualification rate 
over 99%

Limit the sales 
return rate to less 
than 1%

Product qualification rate: 
99.4% (2022: 99.4%)

Sales return rate: 0.4% 
(2022:0.4%)

Safety production accident We had carried out sufficient education 
programs on safety production and 
strengthened our supervision of safety 
production to avoid major accidents in 
production process.

Limit the annual 
number of major 
injuries to less than 
5 times.

Limit the annual 
number of minor 
injuries to less than 
20 times.

Annual number of major 
injuries: 2 (2022: 1).

Annual number of minor 
injuries: 7 (2022: 8).
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CONTACT DETAILS

If you have any comments or suggestions upon this report, please contact us through following ways:

Address: 6th Building, Xincheng Science Park, No. 69 Aoti Street, Nanjing, PRC
Tel: (86) 025 8473 4356

(852) 3590 8200
Email: ghw@goldenhighway.com

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

The following table summarises the Group’s significant environmental, social and governance issues as set out in this report:

The ESG Reporting Guide/KPI Material ESG aspects of the Group/KPI description Page

A. Environment

A1. Emissions GHG Emission 61
Waste Management (including waste gas, waste water and solid waste) 62-63

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 61-63

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions in 
total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

61

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity.

63

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity.

63

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 61-64

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and 
a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

64

A2. Use of Resources Energy Consumption 65
Water Consumption 66
Use of Packaging Materials 66-67

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) 
in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity.

65

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 66

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

65

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

66

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

66

A3. Environment and Natural 
Resources

Environmental Impact Management 67

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

67

A4. Climate change Response to climate change 68

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, 
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage 
them.

68
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The ESG Reporting Guide/KPI Material ESG aspects of the Group/KPI description Page

B. Society

B1. Employment Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities Policies 68-69

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical 
region.

69

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 69

B2. Health and Safety Occupational Health and Safety 70-71

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three 
years including the reporting year.

71

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 71

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they 
are implemented and monitored.

70

B3. Development and Training Staff Development and Training 72

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category 72

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 
employee category.

72

B4. Labor Standards Prevention of Child Labor or Forced Labor 73

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 
forced labour.

73

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 73

B5. Supply Chain Management Environmental and Social Risk Management of Supply Chain 73-74

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 74

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and 
monitored.

73-74

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

73-74

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and 
monitored.

73-74
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The ESG Reporting Guide/KPI Material ESG aspects of the Group/KPI description Page

B. Society

B6. Product Responsibility Product Responsibility 74-76

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 
health reasons.

75

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they 
are dealt with.

75

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 
property rights.

76

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 76

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 
implemented and monitored.

76

B7. Anti-Corruption Prevention of Corruption and Fraud 77

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the issuer or its employees during the year ended 31 December 
2023 and the outcomes of the cases.

77

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how 
they are implemented and monitored.

77

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 77

B8. Community Investment Contributions to Society 78

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 
needs, health, culture, sport).

78

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 78
   

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group confirmed that appropriate and effective management policies 
and internal control systems for environmental, social and governance issues are in place and confirmed the information 
disclosed in the ESG Report meets the ESG Reporting Guide.
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A. ENVIRONMENT

A1. Emissions

General disclosure and key performance indicators (“KPI”)

We have been, and intend to continue to be, committed to observing environmental protection and safety regulations in 
all of our business activities to ensure our operations are in compliance with the relevant regulations. According to the 
PRC environmental laws and regulations, chemical manufacturers in the PRC must comply with environmental laws and 
regulations stipulated by the state and the local environmental protection authorities. According to the Vietnamese law 
on environmental protection, enterprises need to prepare and submit reports on assessment of environmental impact or 
environmental protection plan to the competent authority. During our production processes, sewage, waste gas and solid 
waste are regularly discharged. Our operations are therefore subject to numerous national and provincial environmental laws 
and regulations governing the discharge of waste water, waste gas emission and hazardous chemicals.

In order to comply with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Vietnam, we have established the safety and 
environmental protection department (consisting of 42 staff members as at 31 December 2023) which is in charge of the 
preparation and implementation of our environmental, health and safety policies in our daily operations. The environmental, 
health and safety policies cover various aspects of our operations, including production, storage and transportation of our 
products and raw materials, repair of our equipment, prevention of pollution, training and protection of employees’ health.

Our environmental policies focus on ensuring that our production emission control, treatment of waste water are in 
compliance with the relevant regulations and policies of national and local governments. In addition, we have installed waste 
treatment facilities on our production plants to handle our discharges from the manufacturing process.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, we had produced the following waste materials, 
which have been dealt with through the implementation of corresponding environmental measures:

GHG

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions 2023 2022

Direct GHG emission (tCO2e) 27,354.2 28,962.2
Indirect GHG emission (tCO2e) 85,418.9 27,376.4
Total GHG mission (tCO2e) 112,773.1 56,338.6
Direct GHG Emission Intensity (direct GHG emission/M’ RMB 
 revenue derived from sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 12.46 12.45
Indirect GHG Emission Intensity (indirect GHG emission/M’ RMB 
 revenue derived from sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 38.91 11.76
GHG Emission Intensity (total GHG emission/M’ RMB 
 revenue derived from sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 51.37 24.21

   

The scope of the above GHG statistics includes data from Tai’an and Vietnam production plants.

The majority of the Group’s energy consumption includes the electricity in all premises, the natural gas, biomass moulding 
fuel, fuel oil and steam in our production plants. During the year ended 31 December 2023, diesel fuel for logistics and 
transportation, soda ash consumed in the production processes, GHG emitted from sewage treatment process and 
purchase of fresh water are also included in calculation of our direct and indirect GHG emissions. The use of natural gas, 
biomass moulding fuel, fuel oil, diesel fuel for logistics and transportation, soda ash consumed in the production processes, 
self-generated steam and GHG emitted from sewage treatment process contributes to direct GHG emissions, while the use 
of electricity, purchase of steam and fresh water contributes to indirect GHG emissions. In the face of global warming caused 
by GHG, the Group advocates energy conservation and emission reduction. Employees must work with the energy system 
within operations to use energy efficiently.
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We have adopted GB/T 2589-2020 version of general rules for calculation of the comprehensive energy consumption issued 
by the State Administration for Market Regulation and the Standardization Administration of the PRC to calculate the GHG 
emissions data. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the direct GHG emission have reduced by 5.6%. On the other 
hand, the indirect GHG emission have increased by 212.0%. The increase in indirect GHG emission mainly resulted from the 
increase in the new production line of methylamine.

Waste gas

Waste gas 2023 2022

NOx emissions (tonnes) 12.3 11.8
NOx emissions intensity (NOx emissions/M’ RMB revenue derived from 
 sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 0.0056 0.0051
SOx emissions (tonnes) 3.5 2.8
SOx emissions intensity (SOx emissions/M’ RMB revenue derived from 
 sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 0.0016 0.0012
PM emissions (tonnes) 2.8 2.3
PM emissions intensity (PM emissions/M’ RMB revenue derived from 
 sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 0.0013 0.0010

   

The scope of the above waste gas statistics includes data from Tai’an and Vietnam production plants.

Waste gas is generated during the production process. We have adopted the following measures to minimise the impact of 
the waste gas on the environment.

‧ Tail gas in storage tank or measuring tank of certain chemicals, including trimethylamine, hydrochloric acid, ethylene 
oxide and the waste gas generated from the decarboxylated cashew nut shell liquid, is permitted to be emitted only 
after absorption, combustion or purification in the absorption tower;

‧ Certain gas generated during production are collected or purified to ensure its concentration and emission rate meets 
the relevant emission standard of air pollutants;

‧ Pipes and equipment are tightly welded and more trainings are provided to the staff who are responsible for operating 
the equipment to perform annual leakage detection and repair on the pipes and equipment in order to minimise fugitive 
emission; and

‧ The LDAR management system is utilised at our production plants to detect and repair any possible gas leakage so as 
to minimise emission of volatile gases.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the NOx, SOx and PM emissions had increased by 4.2%, 25.0% and 21.7%, 
respectively, as compared to the same period in the last year owing to the increase in production volume of different 
products. We have established quarterly inspection and repairment of pipes in order to ensure that all leakage points were 
fixed in a short period of time. This effectively reduced emission of waste gas. Besides, closed pipeline system was adopted 
in the transportation of waste materials and waste water in order to reduce the leakage and volatilization of pollutants. We 
also replaced waste gas absorption filters to enhance waste gas absorption efficiency. We have replaced two boilers of 
Tai’an plant with unsatisfactory combustion performance and low heat efficiency with new Low-nitrogen combustion models. 
We are planning to add a set of dual dielectric low-temperature plasma exhaust gas treatment system (雙介質低溫等離子
廢氣處理系統) in our Vietnam production plant in the coming year, which is a promising and effective technical method for 
air pollution control in the world due to its efficient decomposition of pollutant molecules and high energy efficiency. We will 
continue to explore feasible emissions reduction measures to constantly reduce impacts on the environment.
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Waste water

Waste water 2023 2022

Wastewater quantity (m3) 653,869 300,851
   

The scope of the above waste water statistics includes data from Tai’an and Vietnam production plants.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the waste water quantity has increased as compared to the same period in 
the last year. It was mainly due to the increase in new production lines of methylamine and production volume of our self-
manufactured products, as methylamine production presented a larger circulating water consumption than that in production 
of other products such as choline chloride and betaine. We started trial production of methylamine in our Tai’an production 
plant in April 2023, then we put it into operation in November 2023. Approximately 10% less waste water was generated 
during the regular production period than in the trial period because of equipment replacement, cleaning and production 
maintenance. During the year, we continued to adopt condensation water recycling method to reduce water consumption.

To reduce the effect of water pollution, we have installed sewage treatment facilities at our production plants to treat all 
sewage generated during the production process of our products until its quality reaches the national standard and the 
relevant standard specified by the sewage treatment company which handles treated sewage for further treatment and 
discharge.

In addition, we have constructed three reservoirs with capacity of more than 5,768 cubic meters to minimize discharge of 
sewage in the event of accidents.

We will continue to enhance measures in condensation water retrieve system to reduce the discharge of waste water 
and municipal water consumption. In addition, the circulating water system is replaced by soft water to reduce the waste 
discharge of circulating water and frequency replacement.

Solid waste

Solid waste 2023 2022

Hazardous waste produced (tonnes) 450.8 427.5
Hazardous waste recycled (tonnes) (note) 436.1 427.5
Hazardous waste recycled percentage 96.7%* 100%
Non-hazardous waste produced (tonnes) 171.7 201.0
Non-hazardous waste recycled (tonnes) (note) 171.7 201.0
Non-hazardous waste percentage 100% 100%

   

Note: According to relevant state regulations, hazardous wastes were transferred to and properly disposed by qualified organizations which are independent 

third party to the Group, whereas non-hazardous wastes were transferred to and properly disposed by councils of respective cities.

* As at 31 December 2023, we stored 14.7 tonnes of hazardous waste in the warehouse and expected to transfer and dispose by qualified organizations 

in April 2024. Upon disposal, the hazardous waste recycled percentage would be 100%.
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The scope of the above solid waste statistics includes data from Tai’an and Vietnam production plants.

We generated solid waste during our production processes. Some of them are potentially hazardous, including waste 
activated carbon, cashew nut oil sludge, sodium nitrate, waste packaging, rectification residue, waste catalyst, high polymer 
impurities, elimination mother liquor, waste molecular sieve, waste engine oil and sludge at the sewage treatment facilities. 
We have engaged qualified hazardous waste treatment companies to dispose such waste. In the course of production, we also 
generate sodium chloride as a by-product, which are sold to an industrial salt manufacturer in Tai’an, Shandong Province, 
the PRC. Other domestic wastes are collected and disposed by our environmental hygiene government departments. Non-
hazardous domestic wastes are collected and disposed of by our environmental protection department.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the hazardous waste has increased as compared to the same period in the last 
year owing to the increase in new production lines of methylamine, iodomethane and iodopropynyl butylcarbamate (“IPBC”). 
On the other hand, the decrease in the non-hazardous waste was mainly attributable to the decrease in anti-epidemic 
garbage after the recovery from the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the applicable PRC 
environmental laws and regulations with regard to environmental protection. All of our products meet the relevant 
environmental requirements under the PRC laws and we were not subject to any fines or legal action involving material 
non-compliance with any relevant environmental regulation, nor were we aware of any threatened or pending action by 
any environmental regulatory authority during the year ended 31 December 2023. We have passed the inspection for the 
completion of environmental protection for our production plants as required by the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

We have also developed a series of internal policies and programs for environmental risk prevention to ensure compliance 
with the requirements of the applicable national, industrial and local standards, laws, regulations and policies. Such 
policies include report on the emission level of gas pollutants, waste water and solid waste to our environmental protection 
department and evaluation of such emission levels on a regular basis. If there is any deviation from the applicable emission 
standard, we will investigate the cause and rectify accordingly. Our discharge of waste water and solid waste and emission 
of gas pollutant is also monitored by the local environmental monitoring centre. During the year ended 31 December 2023, 
the discharge of each key pollutant remained within its respective prescribed regulatory limits.

We have obtained the certificate of GB/T24001-2016 idt ISO14001:2015 on 6 March 2017 for our environmental 
management system in the production of feed additives (including betaine and choline chloride), mixed feed additives and 
chemical products (including sodium periodate, diethyl sulfate, potassium iodide and sodium iodide) in our production plant 
in Tai’an, Shandong Province, which is valid until 4 May 2026.

Our environmental compliance expenses incurred for the year ended 31 December 2023 were approximately RMB5.4 million 
(2022: RMB4.2 million). During the current year, we established a set of sewage treatment station volume of 800m³/d to 
support the new production in the industrial park projects. On the other hand, we also increased 10 exhaust funnels, 7 soil 
monitoring points and 5 observation wells of groundwater in new industrial plant.

In view of our measures to the waste materials as detailed above, our Directors believe that our business operations do not 
have a material adverse impact on the environment.
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A2. Use of Resources

General disclosure and KPI

Energy consumption

Energy consumption 2023 2022

Electricity (MWh) 68,412.1 48,317.5
Coal, biomass moulding fuel and fuel oil (tonnes) 4,982.0 3,191.0
Coal, biomass moulding fuel and fuel oil (MWh) 23,173.4 15,525.5
Natural Gas (‘000 m3) 7,782.9 7,828.6
Natural Gas (MWh) 72,399.3 72,824.0
Steam (tonnes) 283,620.2 69,350.6
Steam (MWh) 219,059.5 53,333.1
Total Energy Consumption (MWh) 383,044.3 190,000.1
Energy Intensity (total energy consumption/M’ RMB revenue derived from 
 sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 174.5 81.7

   

The scope of the above energy consumption statistics includes data from Tai’an and Vietnam production plants. The majority 
of the Group’s energy consumption includes the electricity in all premises, the natural gas, biomass moulding fuel, fuel oil 
and steam in the production plants.

In terms of electricity consumption, employees must follow the electricity management guidelines to avoid wastage, which 
are summarized as follows:

‧ Centralize production approach on major power-consuming equipment to reduce electricity consumption of each unit;

‧ Gradually switch to high efficiency and energy-saving facilities in operation areas;

‧ Carry out regular patrols and maintenance to ensure equipment’s proper operation;

‧ Turn off idling machines;

‧ Report electricity consumption to the environmental audit team by the end of each month; and

‧ Encourage all departments to provide new energy-saving suggestions.

Moreover, we have elected to use model S18 energy-saving transformer, and transformer room and power room were 
designed to be proximate to substation to reduce line loss. Meanwhile, concentrated power factor compensation method 
was adopted to reduce reactive loss, resulting in the power factor after compensation of whole plant being more than 0.95.

To avoid the potential increase of electricity consumption by machines due to deterioration, the Group actively promote the 
use of high efficiency motors. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has replaced model Y and YZ motors 
with more energy-efficient model Y and YXZ motors in the Tai’an and Vietnam production plants, resulting in a reduction of 
approximately 1-3% of energy consumption, compared to the original models.

Variable frequency drive system was used in electrical equipment with high power and load variation for increasing energy 
utilization rate, resulting in a reduction of approximately 8% of energy, compared to the original system.

The combination of time control and light control is the way we adopted to adjust the lighting of lighting devices, resulting in 
a reduction in invalid runtime.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the energy consumption have increased by 101.6% as compared to the same 
period of the last year owing to the increase of (i) production volume of our self-manufactured products such as, choline 
chloride; and (ii) new production lines of methylamine associated with high steam consumption, which began operations in 
2023.
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The energy intensity increased by approximately 113.6% as compared to last year mainly due to the increase in energy 
consumption mentioned above as well as the decrease in market price of our major self-manufactured products, leading to 
decrease in revenue during the year. We will optimize process route and unit operation, promote process equipment and 
adopt energy saving transformer and high efficiency motor to reduce energy consumption.

Water consumption

Water consumption 2023 2022

Water Consumption (m3) 730,851 529,292
Water Intensity (water consumption/M’ RMB revenue derived from 
 sales of self-manufactured chemicals) 332.9 227.5

   

The scope of the above water consumption statistics includes data from Tai’an and Vietnam production plants. The majority 
of the Group’s water consumption includes the water consumed during the production process in the production plants. 
There were a significant increase in water consumption in the current year owing to the increase in (i) production volume of 
our major self-manufactured products; and (ii) new production lines of methylamine associated with high water consumption, 
which began operations in 2023.

The Group consumes a considerable amount of water during production and recognizes water as an important natural 
resource and hence, establishes water using guidelines for all premises to follow in order to efficiently utilize water resources. 
These include:

‧ Perform regular maintenance inspection to ensure that the machines do not drip;

‧ Notify maintenance department to repair immediately in case of discovered damage and leakage;

‧ Collect cleaning water used on-site to treat in the wastewater treating facility;

‧ Report water consumption and wastewater amount to the environmental audit team each month; and

‧ Encourage employees to actively participate in water-saving activities to increase water reduction awareness.

The main water source is the local governments. We have not encountered any issue in sourcing water.

The water intensity increased by approximately 46.3% as compared to the same period in the last year mainly due to the 
increase in water consumption mentioned above.

Packaging materials

Packaging material 2023 2022

Total Packaging Material (tonnes) 2,956.8 2,289.4
Amount of Recycled and Reused Package Material (tonnes) 635.5 699.2
Recycled and Reused Percentage 21.5% 30.5%

   

The scope of the above packaging materials statistics includes data from Tai’an and Vietnam production plants.

The Group takes safety and environmental friendliness concerns into consideration when selecting packaging materials in 
order to focus on environmental protection while ensuring product safety. The packaging materials used in the Group’s 
production plants are mainly paper material, plastic, wood and iron. The Group purchases reusable packaging materials for 
short-distance transportation of products within premises to avoid wasting resources and reduce waste generation. When 
packing products, in addition to following customers’ and industrial requirements, the Group also ensures that the materials 
are durable. This measure not only prevents any leakage of but also ensures that the quality of our products will not be 
affected due to expiry during storage or hoarding.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total packaging material used had increased by 29.2% as compared to last 
year owing to the increase in production quantity of our self-manufactured products, especially methylamine.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, more storage tanks are used to store polyurethane materials instead of partial 
paint buckets. Besides, more finished goods, raw materials and auxiliary materials are stored in storage tanks with capacities 
of 1000kg rather than 200kg. Since these tanks are recognised as our fixed assets, instead of package materials, the 
recycled and reused package material, reduced by approximately 29.5%.

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

General disclosure and KPI

Environmental impact management

The Group pursues the best practices in the environmental protection and focuses on the impact of the Group’s businesses 
to the environment and natural resources. In addition to complying with relevant environmental laws and regulations as well 
as properly preserving the natural environment, the Group has integrated the concept of environmental protection into its 
internal management and daily operations, with the aim of achieving environmental sustainability.

The Group strives to promote environmental protection and make effective use of resources. It continuously monitor 
business operations that may incur any potential impact to the environment, and minimises such impact to the environment 
through promoting green office and operating environment by adopting four basic principles which are reduce, reuse, recycle 
and replacement. Where applicable, we adopt green purchasing strategies and the most practical technologies to protect 
our natural resources.

Noise pollution

The effective measures to strengthen fixed infrastructure, increase shock absorbers, install eliminate noise filters and isolate 
noise source equipments were adopted in Tai’an and Vietnam production plants to successfully prevent the noise pollution.

Outdoor lightings

The Group introduces light emitting diode high efficiency lighting products in Tai’an and Vietnam production plants to replace 
traditional low efficiency light source such as metal halide lamp, sunlight dysprosium lamp and high pressure sodium lamp, 
to save the power for lighting and establish high quality and effective lighting environment.

Landscape and natural habitat

All areas except buildings and roads in Tai’an and Vietnam production plants are lined with green plants. During the year 
ended 31 December 2023, we started to build our new production plant in Taian and Vietnam. We consistently emphasize 
on greening construction of the new production plant. The total green areas of the two production plants were 26,128 
square meters and 660 square meters, respectively.
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A4. Climate Change

General disclosure

Climate-related impact management

Response to climate change has become a global consensus. The Chinese Government has put forward the climate action 
goals of “striving to peak carbon dioxide emissions before 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality before 2060”. While making 
important contributions to economic development, the Group has always adhered to the standard requirements of high 
efficiency of resource utilization and clean production process, constantly innovates and breaks through environmental 
governance technologies, and is committed to building a green and low-carbon enterprise.

The Group attaches great importance to greenhouse gas emissions during production and operation, and actively 
responds to climate change. We adhere to the policy of energy conservation and emission reduction throughout every link 
of production and operation, strengthen energy management, continuously upgrade high-efficiency and energy-saving 
equipment, and gradually eliminate high energy-consuming equipment; continue to optimize processes, improve equipment 
operating flexibility, improve reaction operating conditions, and reduce the energy consumption of the process; meanwhile, 
we also continue to promote the construction of digital factories, to achieve equipment asset management, energy 
consumption management, environmental optimization, process optimization and other efficient management. In terms of 
process optimization, we vigorously develop pollution-free electrolysis process to realize green production of potassium 
iodate successfully, and sharply reduced steam energy consumption and utilization of other chemical raw and auxiliary 
materials.

In the future, we will actively respond to national policies on climate change, give full play to the Group’s comprehensive 
advantages in hydrogen energy manufacturing and development, and build an industrial chain of environmental protection 
and green economy, to assist in mitigating climate change, and achieve the carbon peak goal earlier.

B. SOCIETY

B1. Employment

General disclosure

Employee benefits and equal opportunities policies

Employees are regarded as the Group’s largest and most valuable assets and the core of competitive advantage. They 
provide the driving force for continuous innovation to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has fully complied with relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, 
including the Company Law of the PRC, the Civil Code of of the PRC, the Labor Contract Law of the PRC and the 
Regulations on Labor Inspection and Security, as well as the statutory requirements in Vietnam, including the Labour Code 
of 2012, which regulates the labour contract, internal labour regulations, occupational health and safety expatriates and 
statutory insurance.

The Group is committed to maintaining a diverse workforce that includes age, gender, family status, sexual orientation, 
disability, ethnicity, religion and equal opportunities.

The Group’s “Employee Handbook” contains policies in regards to recruitment, promotion, discipline, working hours and 
leave. The human resources department has been responsible for ensuring all employees have fully understood the contents 
of the handbook.



GHW International | 2023 Annual Report       69

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The management regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration and benefits policies in reference to the market standards 
and is committed to safeguarding the rights and interests of the staff. Remuneration and benefits have been adjusted on an 
annual basis or on special occasions in accordance with the employees’ individual performance, contribution and market 
conditions.

Number of employees % of employees

Employee category 2023 2022 2023 2022

Gender
Male 800 743 72.9% 72.3%
Female 298 285 27.1% 27.7%

Position
Senior Management 8 8 0.7% 0.8%
Management 91 90 8.3% 8.7%
Staff 999 930 91.0% 90.5%

Age
18-30 years old 297 269 27.0% 26.2%
31-50 years old 697 674 63.5% 65.5%
51 years old or above 104 85 9.5% 8.3%

Location
Shandong 771 697 70.2% 67.8%
Nanjing 139 143 12.7% 13.9%
Ho Chi Minh 143 143 13.0% 13.9%
Others 45 45 4.1% 4.4%

Total staff 1,098 1,028 100.0% 100.0%
     

Turnover rate 2023 2022

Senior Management 0% 0%
Management 1.1% 2.2%
Staff 19.3% 20.1%
The Group overall employee turnover rate 17.7% 18.4%

   

Note: Independent Non-executive Directors are not included in the statistics of the above tables.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the overall employee turnover rate of the Group had decreased by approximately 
0.8 percentage point as compared to the previous year. In order to ensure that daily operations are not affected by staff 
turnover, the human resources department is responsible to identify the reasons for employee turnover and maintain the 
turnover rate to avoid operational disruption.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and 
regulations relating to employment and labour practices.
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B2. Health and Safety

General disclosure

Occupational health and safety

The Group has always placed emphasis on occupational safety and has set up an occupational health and safety 
management system to provide a safe working environment for employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has complied with relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, including 
the Work Safety Law of the PRC and Occupational Disease Prevention and Control Law of the PRC, as well as the statutory 
requirements in Vietnam, including the Labour Code of 2012, which regulates the labour contract, internal labour regulations, 
occupational health and safety expatriates and statutory insurance.

We have implemented adequate safety measures across all premises in accordance with local fire and obtained a new 
certificate of GB/T45001-2020 idt ISO 45001:2018 on 6 April 2021 for occupation health safety management system in 
the production of feed additives and mixed feed additives in our Tai’an production plant, which is valid until 5 April 2024, 
providing employees with a safe and secure workplace.

We have implemented a system of occupational health and safety measures. All of our production plants and employees are 
required to adhere to the principles of safety measures outlined by the safety protection department.

We have established a team of 50 employees as at 31 December 2023, to oversee safety management, among whom 
41 have obtained the necessary qualification certificates issued by the relevant authorities, and are responsible for the 
management of production safety. We have also set up a system to ensure safe production. Under the system, we have 
defined clearly the responsibilities of each of the members in the team and the rules and procedures required for ensuring 
safety in our operations.

In order to maintain our production safety, the safety protection department conducts production safety checks regularly and 
investigation of any accidents during the production processes and keeps proper record of the production safety checks. 
In addition, regular safety production trainings are provided to our employees to keep them abreast of the Group’s safety 
production guidelines and the measures taken during emergency.

In addition, we have implemented safety infrastructure and safety measures to ensure safety of our employees and 
properties, to prevent or minimise community exposure to hazardous materials, and to avoid exacerbation of natural 
hazards. We have also obtained a renewed certificate of compliance with FAMI-QS Code on 8 July 2020 for our feed safety 
management system with good manufacturing practice in our Tai’an production plant, which is valid until 7 July 2026 and 
a renewed certificate of ISO22000:2018 on 8 April 2022 for our feed safety management system in the production of feed 
additives and mixed feed additives in our Tai’an production plant, which is valid until 21 April 2025.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the health and safety laws 
and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, we did not have any major accidents, claims or complaints relating to work safety 
which had materially and adversely affected our operations (2021 and 2022: nil and nil). The number of lost days due to work 
injury was 648 days (2021 and 2022: 577 days and 282 days). The cause of lost days was mainly due to (i) a traffic accident 
occurred in the way to the factory, which is not under the control of our Company and leading to 266 working days lost; and 
(ii) minor accidents during the manufacturing operation. Our safety management team will continue to ensure safe production 
and improve our rules and procedures to ensure safety in our operations.

In respect of the safety protection matters, our expense incurred for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately 
RMB10.1 million (2022: RMB8.1 million). The increase in amount was due to the fact that the new production lines of 
methylamine have been established and operated for the current year. We will continue to ensure our compliance with the 
applicable safety protection matters in the future.

Furthermore, amid the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has surveyed immediately, formulated plans and has elaborated 
and implemented various prevention and control measures to actively heed to the government’s calls. Office staff had 
worked remotely from home and online with the functions of online contract signature, order inquiry and logistics tracking 
provided by the application of GHW e-commerce system (金海威電商APP系統) upon full cooperation with government 
authorities to prevent and control the pandemic. The start of the new work model has ensured the procurement, sales and 
supply of important materials and raw materials even under the circumstances of a more severe situation and no personnel 
on the job. We strictly checked the staff’s travel schedule, registered their daily health condition, disinfected office area and 
delivered epidemic prevention materials after return to the office. In addition, we started getting vaccines for our staffs. The 
Company will continue to strictly comply with the nation’s various instructions, actively implement internal prevention and 
control, and fully cooperate with corresponding authorities to uphold our hygiene standard and minimise the impact to our 
business operations.
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B3. Development and Training

General disclosure

Staff development and training

Employees are regarded as the Group’s largest and most valuable assets and an essential part of maintaining a competitive 
advantage. The Group provides its staff with training courses for upgrading skills and development as needed.

The Group encourages and supports employees to participate in personal and professional training to fulfill the needs of 
emerging technologies and new equipment. The Group also encourages the culture of sharing of knowledge and experience.

The Group has made good use of its internal resources to organise various forms of training for employees in its offices in the 
PRC and Vietnam, including management, customer service and financial knowledge.

Our human resources department is responsible for organising and implementing the training plan for the employees of our 
Group. The training plan shall be designed with reference to the development of the Group and the employees’ seniority. 
Specifically, we provide trainings including workplace safety, technology updates, management skills, corporate strategy 
planning, industry analysis, corporate loyalty, communication skills and technical skills. Trainings are conducted internally and 
externally and provided to new employees and current employees.

Overall training 2023 2022

Topics 1. Workplace safety
2. Production technology
3. Management 

effectiveness and 
enhancement

4. Financial updates
5. Internal Control 

Management
6. Laws and Regulations

1. Workplace safety
2. Production technology
3. Management effectiveness 

and enhancement
4. Financial updates
5. Internal Control Management
6. Women’s health and safety

Total hours of topics 11,778.0 11,980.5
   

Number of employees attended trainings/Average training hours by 
 employee category/percentage of employees trained 2023 2022

Gender
Male 471/21/58.9% 498/20/67.0%
Female 126/16/42.3% 139/14/48.8%

Position
Senior Management 8/18/100% 8/12/100%
Management 31/38/34.1% 57/27/63.3%
Staff 558/19/55.9% 572/18/61.5%
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B4. Labour Standards

General disclosure

Prevention of child labor or forced labor

The Group strictly prohibits employing any child labor or forced labor in its operations. The Group has established a well-
defined recruitment process which examines the background of candidates and a formal reporting procedure for handling 
any exception. During the recruitment process, the age of the applicant is verified against the identity documents of the 
applicant. In addition, the Group conducts regular reviews and inspections to prevent any child labor or forced labor in 
operation.

The Group encourages employees to get off work on time to ensure adequate resting time. According to the “Employee 
handbook”, employees could work overtime only on a voluntary basis. If any forced labor behavior is discovered, the 
management would intervene to cease the infringement actions, and make reasonable compensation to the relevant 
employee. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any child labor or forced labor cases.

In the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging suppliers which are already known to be employing child labor or forced 
labor in their operations. The Group has complied with the Abolition of Forced Labor Convention with respect to Employment 
of Workers, the Labor Law of the PRC on the Employment of Adolescents under the Age of 16 and their Legal Rights and 
Interests and Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labor in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group complied with all the laws and regulations relating to the prevention of 
child labor or forced labor. The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to 
employment and labour practices.

B5. Supply Chain Management

General disclosure

Environmental and social risk management of supply chain

The Group has established and implemented relevant policies for supplier management. In order to strengthen the selection 
of suppliers, the Group welcomes qualified, competent and high-quality suppliers to join. The Group’s procurement 
department has specially formulated this policy in order to standardise the supplier management and improve the operational 
standard.

The Group’s procurement department is also responsible for organising the supplier evaluation work in two ways which 
include the ongoing project evaluation and the annual assessment. The evaluation results will serve as the basis of supplier 
management. Suppliers need to react quickly to the assessment result, and take effective measures to improve the services 
provided within prescribed period. The Group has the rights to terminate the cooperation with service providers who violate 
the rules or do not meet the targets.

To ensure the quality of raw materials and chemicals produced by third party, each of our potential suppliers has to pass 
our assessment before they are included in our list of approved suppliers. We select the suppliers based on various factors 
including but not limited to their market reputation, scale, quality, pricing of products and their business relationship with 
us. Our procurement department conducts background checks of the potential suppliers before any sales transactions and 
evaluates the existing suppliers annually based on various factors such as quality and stability of the supply of raw materials, 
payment terms, delivery timeliness, quality of customer services. The assessment results will be used as a benchmark for the 
continuation or termination of cooperation in the future.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, we obtained raw materials and chemicals produced by third party from suppliers 
based in various regions and countries, including but not limited to the PRC, Japan, South Korea, Thailand, India, Singapore, 
Europe, Chile and the United States for our production and sales of polyurethane materials, animal nutrition chemicals, 
fine chemicals and pharmaceutical products and intermediates and supplements. Our major suppliers are chemicals 
manufacturers. As at the date of this report, we have established the business relationship with some of our five largest 
suppliers for more than five years. We are generally granted credit terms of up to approximately 90 days. We closely monitor 
the quality of the raw materials and chemicals produced by our suppliers. All raw materials and chemicals produced by our 
suppliers have to comply with the incoming quality control requirements.

The Group maintains close liaison with its suppliers to monitor their performance to ensure that it is consistent with their 
service commitment.

To strengthen the performance of responsibilities of site constructors for our new production plant, the Group carries out 
safety, environmental protection and epidemic prevention work during construction; provides safety education and training 
to the builders, supervises the management of construction materials, improves the control of construction machinery; take 
effective measures, such as hanging the slogans related to civilized construction, enclosure protection, dust control and 
suppression and occupational health and epidemic prevention.

The Group clearly puts forward the requirements for environmental protection and energy saving in the bidding, procurement 
and acceptance of the supplier’s products or services; continuously optimises and improves the production plants and 
processes in terms of environmental protection and energy saving, at the same time, the Group regularly monitors the 
procurement and use of energy-saving and environmental protection equipment in the new construction and expansion 
projects of the users, to ensure that energy conservation and environmental protection measures are implemented.

Suppliers geographical distribution Number of suppliers % of suppliers

2023 2022 2023 2022

The PRC 731 695 91.8% 89.6%
Vietnam 44 36 5.5% 4.6%
Asia (other than the PRC and Vietnam) 15 28 1.9% 3.6%
Others 6 17 0.8% 2.2%

     

B6. Product Responsibility

General disclosure

Product Responsibility

We believe that strict quality control is essential for us to maintain sustainable growth in the chemicals industry. Accordingly, 
we have implemented a quality control system for each stage in the production processes of polyurethane materials, animal 
nutrition chemicals, fine chemicals and pharmaceutical intermediates. It is our policy to purchase raw materials from qualified 
and reputable suppliers. We have the quality control guidelines and conduct quality checks from supply of raw materials and 
chemicals produced by third parties to manufacturing and finished products testing to ensure that the quality of our products 
meet our customers’ expectations.
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As at 31 December 2023, our quality control department, which consists of 42 employees in mainland China (with an 
average of approximately 9 years of experience in implementing quality control measures, 22 of whom have obtained 
certification in quality control of chemicals and/or chemical safety and 4 of whom are currently practicing as pharmacists in 
the mainland of China) and 7 employees in Vietnam, who are responsible for overseeing and maintaining the quality control 
of our production processes and the chemicals produced by third party manufacturers including pharmaceutical products. 
We also provide regular internal and external training programmes to our quality control personnel in order to standardise our 
quality control procedures.

Our quality management and control systems generally cover the following:

‧ Incoming quality control: When raw materials and chemicals produced by third party manufacturers are delivered to 
our warehouses, our quality control personnel will perform sample testing to ensure that the quality of the raw materials 
and chemicals produced by third party manufacturers meet our chemical quality requirements and specifications 
before they are accepted. If the sampled raw materials do not meet our standards, we either return any sub-standard 
raw materials and chemicals produced by third parties to our suppliers or (in the case of minor deviation from our 
standards), use such raw materials under the strict control and supervision of the quality control department.

‧ In-process quality control: We conduct quality inspections throughout the key production stages to ensure that our 
work-in-progress comply with the required standard. Unqualified work-in-progress are not allowed to enter the next 
phase of production and will be reported to our production department so that any reworking procedures can be 
carried out to rectify any quality issues.

‧ Outgoing quality control: We have established testing guidelines setting out the testing procedures and requirements 
for each batch of our finished products to ensure their specifications comply with the national and industry standards 
before dispatching to our customers. These testing guidelines are reviewed and updated from time to time. Our testing 
procedures include checking the physical appearance and that other chemical indicators are satisfied.

To facilitate close monitoring of our operations and ensure consistency of quality, we hold monthly quality review meetings 
where, under the overall supervision of our quality control department, various departments are required to prepare detailed 
reports on relevant issues and concerns discovered during their regular quality checks.

We value our customers’ feedback on product quality as we believe this will help us further improve our products and 
sustain long-term business relationship with our customers. We have designated a sales representative for each customer 
to make sure that we obtain and handle our customers’ feedback in a timely manner. All customer complaints are handled 
by our quality control department in accordance with the internal customer complaints handling procedures, which involve 
discussion with the relevant departments and follow up with the customer directly in order to resolve any quality issues in a 
timely and effective manner.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, we did not receive any complaints or dissatisfaction with the products and 
services according to the customers’ feedback on product quality.

We have received several certifications in connection with our quality management system, food safety management 
system, feed safety management system, environmental management system and laboratory accreditation in relation to our 
production.
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Product warranty

We generally give customers warranty terms in relation to product quality of up to seven days from the date of delivery of 
our products. We have adopted an internal policy to handle the claims or complaints from customers for defects of our 
products. Upon receipt of any claims or complaints from our customers within this period, we make internal investigations 
to understand the matter in this regard. If we find that we are responsible for the defects, we will acknowledge the issue 
promptly by offering sales compensation such as exchanging the products, providing discount or price reduction in 
subsequent sales. The amount and nature of compensation are determined on a case-by-case basis. In the event that our 
products are damaged during the delivery and transportation process, we claim against our insurers for any losses incurred 
due to such product damages according to our arrangements with these insurers. For the year ended 31 December 2023, 
we claimed approximately RMB1,975,000 (2022: RMB458,000) against our insurers for product damages resulted from the 
delivery and transportation process which contributed to our sales compensation for defective products.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, we did not experience any material disputes with our customers, any material 
claim relating to our product liability or return of goods in relation to the quality of our products that had a material and 
adverse impact on our business, and did not record any large-scale product recall due to quality defects.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group’s day-to-day operations involve the use of the intellectual property owned by customers, suppliers or the Group 
itself. Therefore, the protection of intellectual property rights is an extremely important task for the Group. When the Group 
engages with its customers or suppliers, it will include the protection of intellectual property in the contractual terms. The 
Group’s legal department also reviews all the contracts in operation and ensure that the contractual terms protect both 
parties’ intellectual property rights. The Group also requires technical professionals to sign strict confidentiality agreements. 
Confidential information of our customers is only accessible to employees who are responsible for the corresponding project.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group complied with relevant laws and regulations governing the 
confidentiality of data and intellectual property, including but not limited to Patent Law of the PRC, Trademark Law of the 
PRC and Copyright Law of the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations relating to product responsibility.

Safeguarding Customer Privacy

The Group respects the privacy of each stakeholder. When negotiating with suppliers, customers or partners, the Group 
signs a confidentiality agreement to safeguard the interests of all parties. In addition, the Group also requires all employees 
to collect only the necessary personal or commercial information from customers and carefully process the information to 
ensure that the information is not leaked.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any leaking of customer information.
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B7. Anti-Corruption

General disclosure

Prevention of corruption and fraud

Preventive measures, enforcement and monitoring

The Group has implemented the relevant policies and stipulated in the “Employee Handbook”, strengthening its internal 
control mechanism, anti-corruption and anti-bribery work so as to achieve the business philosophy of “abiding by the law, 
integrity and quality service”.

Reporting mechanism

The mechanism includes the establishment of an inspection team and the establishment of a channel for evaluation and 
reporting. It is strictly forbidden to use the business opportunities or powers to obtain personal interests or benefits. If there is 
a conflict of interest, it needs to be reported to the management of the Group on a timely basis. The Group also encourages 
employees and all persons with whom the Group does business, including customers and suppliers, to report the suspected 
wrongdoing within the Group voluntarily.

The Group has complied with major relevant laws and regulations including the Corruption Ordinance of the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations relating to anti-corruption.

B8. Community Investment

General disclosure

Contributions to society

As a responsible company, the Group actively strives to become a positive force in the community and maintains close 
communication and interaction with the community to contribute to community development.

The Group enhances the quality of life of community through arts, culture and entertainment using on demand systems and 
activities. Following the development of culture, the community can gain a deeper understanding of history and culture and 
cultivate higher appreciation of the present and future cultural activities and to a greater level of enjoyment.

The Group will also actively encourage employees to contribute their time and skills to community volunteer works to benefit 
local communities by giving them opportunities to learn more about social and environmental issues and enhance the 
corporate value of the Group.

As a moral and responsible enterprise, the Group will consider from time to time to make donations to charities when the 
Group records after-tax profits and has sufficient funds.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group hasn’t funded (2022: RMB197,000) to the Community Chest and 
charity parties in the PRC.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GHW INTERNATIONAL
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GHW International (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 142, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2023, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“the HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has trade receivables 
amount ing to RMB223,973,000, net of a l lowance 
amounting to RMB5,264,000. 

Management judgement and estimations are required to 
assess and determine the recoverability of trade receivables 
and adequacy of allowance made using the expected credit 
losses (“ECL”) model under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments . 
These judgements include estimating and evaluating 
expected future receipts from customers based on the 
Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration 
forward-looking information that is reasonable, supportable 
and available without undue costs or effort. At every 
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are 
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information 
are considered.

The key assumptions and estimation on allowance for ECL 
and the Group’s credit risk management are disclosed in 
notes 4 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements, and 
further information related to trade receivables is provided in 
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on 
trade receivables included: 

‧ Obtaining an understanding of the process of 
management’s assessment and monitoring of credit 
risks, and determination of allowance for ECL; 

‧ Evaluating the model used by management in 
determining the allowance for ECL;

‧ Test ing the integr i ty  of  in format ion used by 
management to develop the internal credit rating, 
including trade receivables aging analysis as at 31 
December 2023, on a sample basis, by comparing 
individual items in the analysis with the relevant sales 
invoices and other supporting documents;

‧ Challenging management’s basis and judgement in 
determining allowance for ECL on trade receivables 
as at 31 December 2023, including their identification 
of credit-impaired trade receivables that are assessed 
individually, the reasonableness of management’s 
grouping of the remaining trade debtors into different 
categories in the internal credit rating, and the basis 
of estimated loss rates applied in each category in the 
internal credit rating (with reference to historical default 
rates and forward-looking information); and

‧ Obtaining confirmations and evidences of subsequent 
settlements on a sample basis for trade receivable 
balances.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information in the Company’s 
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We 
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s 
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P05498
Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 5 3,217,669 3,378,707
Cost of sales (2,880,689) (2,720,807)
    
Gross profit 336,980 657,900
Other income 6 21,351 13,099
Other gains and losses 7 2,663 8,788
Impairment losses reversal (recognised) under expected credit loss model, 
 net of reversal 4,058 (1,131)
Selling and distribution expenses (132,815) (151,846)
Administrative expenses (123,508) (104,504)
Research and development expenses (75,241) (77,290)
Finance costs 8 (39,207) (36,988)
Share of results of associates (1,067) —
    
(Loss) profit before taxation 9 (6,786) 308,028
Taxation 10 9,510 (33,401)
    
Profit for the year 2,724 274,627
    
Other comprehensive (expense) income
 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign operations (878) (10,776)
 Fair value (loss) gain on bill receivables at fair value through 
  other comprehensive income (“FVTOCl”) (19) 58
 Income tax relating to an item that may be reclassified subsequently to 
  profit or loss (9) 3
    
Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of income tax (906) (10,715)
    
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,818 263,912
    
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 2,724 274,627
    
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 1,818 263,912
    
Earnings per share
 – Basic (RMB per share) 13 0.003 0.275
    
 – Diluted (RMB per share) 13 N/A N/A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 14 779,251 690,323
 Right-of-use assets 15 50,299 52,062
 Interest in associates 16 — —
 Rental deposits 829 643
 Deferred tax assets 17 5,499 254
 Loan receivable 22 16,664 16,064
 Deposits for acquisition of land use right — 9,994
    

852,542 769,340
    
Current assets
 Inventories 18 340,115 359,140
 Trade receivables 19 223,973 219,351
 Bill receivables at FVTOCl 20 100,848 100,340
 Other receivables and prepayments 22 109,701 84,983
 Tax recoverable 1,467 7,973
 Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 24 448 113
 Derivative financial instruments 24 — 275
 Amount due from an associate 25 5,471 —
 Restricted bank deposits 26 30,404 33,935
 Cash and cash equivalents 26 77,393 103,183
    

889,820 909,293
    
Current liabilities
 Trade and bill payables 27 274,965 255,966
 Other payables and accrued charges 28 105,328 93,508
 Lease liabilities 29 4,774 4,881
 Contract liabilities 30 25,581 24,848
 Tax liabilities 1,923 5,447
 Loans from related companies 23 — 81,750
 Borrowings 31 471,909 313,926
    

884,480 780,326
    
Net current assets 5,340 128,967

    
Total assets less current liabilities 857,882 898,307
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current liabilities
 Other payables 28 8,128 —
 Borrowings 31 158,148 260,183
 Loans from related companies 23 81,600 —
 Lease liabilities 29 1,890 2,692
 Deferred tax liabilities 17 26,699 32,812
    

276,465 295,687
    
Net assets 581,417 602,620
    
Capital and reserves
 Share capital 32 8,844 8,844
 Reserves 572,573 593,776
    
Total equity 581,417 602,620
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 142 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 22 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

  
YIN YANBIN CHEN ZHAOHUI

Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company 
Share

capital

Share

premium

Capital

reserve

Safety

reserve

Translation

reserve

Statutory

reserve

FVTOCI

reserve

Treasury

reserve

Retained

earnings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)

At 1 January 2022 8,844 78,219 58,734 2,565 1,647 59,158 (327) — 130,239 339,079

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 274,627 274,627

Other comprehensive (expense) income for 

 the year — — — — (10,776) — 61 — — (10,715)
           
Total comprehensive (expense) income for 

 the year — — — — (10,776) — 61 — 274,627 263,912

Deemed contribution from a shareholder 

 (note 23) — — (371) — — — — — — (371)

Transfer from Safety Reserve to 

 Retained Eamings — — — (856) — — — — 856 —

Appropriation — — — — 36,337 — — (36,337) —
           
At 31 December 2022 8,844 78,219 58,363 1,709 (9,129) 95,495 (266) — 369,385 602,620

           
At 1 January 2023 8,844 78,219 58,363 1,709 (9,129) 95,495 (266) — 369,385 602,620

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 2,724 2,724

Other comprehensive expense for the year — — — — (878) — (28) — — (906)
           
Total comprehensive (expense) income for 

 the year — — — — (878) — (28) — 2,724 1,818

Repurchase of share (note 33(b)) — — — — — — — (23,021) — (23,021)

Appropriation — — — — — 984 — — (984) —
           
At 31 December 2023 8,844 78,219 58,363 1,709 (10,007) 96,479 (294) (23,021) 371,125 581,417

           

Note a: Capital reserve represented (i) the capital injection from owners of Nanjing Goldenhighway International Supply Chain Management Company 

Limited (“GHW International SCM”), a subsidiary of GHW Intemational (the”Company”), in excess of nominal value of share capital amounting 

to RMB26,071,000 prior to reorganisation; (ii) contribution from shareholders net of capital gain tax related to reorganization amounting to 

RMB28,336,000; (iii) acquisition of additional interest in Taian Havay Group Co.,Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, related to reorganisation amounting 

to RMB1,717,000; (iv) deemed contribution from a shareholder in relation to a waiver of amount due to a shareholder amounting to RMB444,000; (v) 

effect of re-denominating the par value of the Company’s shares amounting to RMB60,000; and (vi) deemed contribution from a shareholder in relation 

to loans from a related company controlled by Mr.Yin Yanbin amounting to RMB1,735,000.

Note b: Pursuant to the relevant regulation in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), a subsidiary of the Company in the mainland of China (together with 

its subsidiaries collectively referred as the “Group”) is required to provide for safety reserve based on annual sales amount. The reserve can be used for 

improvements of safety storage and production process, and eligible to be transferred to retained earnings upon utilisation.

Note c: As stipulated by the relevant laws in the mainland of China, the mainland of China subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory reserve fund. The 

minimum transfer to statutory reserve is 10% of profit after tax of the mainland of China subsidiaries according to the mainland of China subsidiaries’ 

statutory financial statements. No appropriation is required if the balance of the statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered capital of the 

mainland of China subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023 2022
RMB'000 RMB’000

Operating activities
(Loss) profit before taxation (6,786) 308,028
Adjustments for:
 Finance costs 39,207 36,988
 Bank interest income (1,716) (4,314)
 Dividends from financial assets at FVTPL (2) (41)
 Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments 248 (448)
 Fair value changes on financial assets at FVTPL 38 (317)
 Interest income on loan receivable (600) (600)
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 13,875 11,733
 (Reversal of) write-down of inventories (3,308) 2,648
 (Reversal of) impairment losses under expected credit loss model (4,058) 1,131
 (Gains) losses on disposals of plant and equipment (719) 9,141
 Share of results of associates 1,067 —
 (Gains) losses on termination of lease contracts (63) 157
 Net foreign exchange losses (gains) 23 (14,401)
   
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 37,206 349,705
 Decrease (increase) in inventories 77,981 (17,737)
 Increase in trade receivables (492,346) (412,491)
 Decrease in bill receivables at FVTOCI 485,693 299,958
 Increase in other receivables and prepayments (24,718) (21,253)
 Decrease in derivative financial instruments 31 470
 Increase in trade and bill payables 18,999 57,957
 Increase in other payables and accrued charges 15,367 6,411
 Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 733 (14,420)
   
Cash generated from operations 118,946 248,600
 Income taxes refund (paid) 1,124 (14,521)
   
Net cash generated from operating activities 120,070 234,079
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Investing activities
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment (139,878) (274,365)
 Advance to an associate (15,848) —
 Placements of restricted bank deposits (30,404) (33,935)
 Acquisition of interest in associates (580) —
 Purchase of financial asset at FVTPL (476) (2,105)
 Payments for rental deposits (186) —
 Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits 33,935 111,493
 Repayment from an associate 10,030 —
 Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment 1,150 174
 Interest received 1,716 8,402
 Withdrawal of financial asset at FVTPL 108 2,353
 Deposit paid for acquisition of land use right — (9,994)
 Refund of rental deposits — 257
   
Net cash used in investing activities (140,433) (197,720)
   
Financing activities
 Repayments of borrowings (450,415) (501,920)
 Repayments to a related company (84,750) (56,350)
 Interest paid (38,299) (36,681)
 Repurchase of shares (23,021) —
 Repayments of lease liabilities (5,106) (4,768)
 New borrowings raised 495,812 539,584
 Loans from a related company 84,600 54,600
 Proceeds from underecognised discounted bills 16,209 14,606
   
Net cash (used in) from financing activities (4,970) 9,071
   
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (25,333) 45,430

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 103,183 58,025
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (457) (272)
   
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 77,393 103,183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. GENERAL

 GHW International (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the 
Companies Law Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 25 April 2018 
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 21 
January 2020. The controlling shareholders of the Company are Mr. Yin Yanbin and Ms. Wu Hailing, the spouse of Mr. 
Yin Yanbin. The addresses of the Company’s registered office and the principal place of business are Cricket Square, 
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands and 6th Building, Xincheng Science 
Park, No. 69 Aoti Street, Nanjing, the PRC, respectively.

 The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and 
sale of chemical and pharmaceutical products. Details of the subsidiaries are disclosed in note 41.

 The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional currency 
of the Company.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

 In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
issued by International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for its 
accounting year beginning on 1 January 2023. IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); 
International Accounting Standards (“IAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs did not 
result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

 The Group has not applied the new IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The application of these new 
IFRSs will not have material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such 
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated 
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies set out below.

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics 
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions 
that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 “Leases” (“IFRS 16”), and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in 
IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

— Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

— has power over the investee;

— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

— has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

 The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from 
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

 When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

 All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

 The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods 
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

 A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

 Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; 
or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has 
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

 Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.

 A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

 The Group’s revenue primarily arises from manufacture and sale of chemical related products and medicine, 
which is recognised at a point in time when the control of goods has transferred, i.e. when the goods have been 
delivered to customers.

Investments in associates

 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 
those policies.

 The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for equity accounting 
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events 
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of 
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate 
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted 
in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds 
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of 
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. 
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

 An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment 
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised 
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

 The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired. 
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested 
for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of 
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not 
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal 
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases.

 When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the 
entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group 
retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 
9 “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the 
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
associate and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest 
in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, 
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that 
associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets 
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate 
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the 
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the 
relevant associate.

 When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions 
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the 
associate that are not related to the Group.

 The group applies IFRS 9, including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests in an associate to 
which the equity method is not applied and which form part of the net investment in the investee. Furthermore, 
in applying IFRS 9 to long-term interests, the group does not take into account adjustments to their carrying 
amount required by IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (“IAS 28”) (i.e. adjustments to the 
carrying amount of long-term interests arising from the allocation of losses of the investee or assessment of 
impairment in accordance with IAS 28).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

 A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

 For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of IFRS 16, the Group assesses 
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date 
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the 
contract are subsequently changed.

 The Group as a lessee

 Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

 For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the 
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

 The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component, and 
instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease 
component.

 Right-of-use assets

 The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

— the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

— an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease.

 Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

 Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the 
lease term.

 The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

 Refundable rental deposits

 Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to 
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

 The Group as a lessee (Continued)

 Lease liabilities

 At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value 
of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group 
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is 
not readily determinable.

 The lease payments include:

— fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

— variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 
the commencement date;

— amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

— the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

— payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

 After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

 The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
when the lease term has changed, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

 The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

 Lease modifications

 The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

— the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

— the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances 
of the particular contract.

 For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability 
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

 The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the 
relevant right-of-use assets.

 When the modified contract contains one or more additional lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of 
the lease component. The associated non-lease components are included in the respective lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Foreign currencies

 In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

 For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing 
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates 
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates 
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of qualifying assets which, are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

 Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is 
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Government grants

 Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

 Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

 Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other 
income”.

 The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured 
as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest 
rates.

Employee benefits

 Retirement benefit costs

 Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plan, Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 
and the state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have 
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

 Termination benefits

 A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the 
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

 Short-term employee benefits

 Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense 
unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

 A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave) after 
deducting any amount already paid.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

 Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss)profit before tax 
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
difference.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities.

 For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable 
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

 For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 
12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group recognises 
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable 
temporary differences.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same 
taxation authority.

 Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, or for administrative purposes other than properties under construction as described below. Property, 
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

 Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less 
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, including 
costs of testing whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs 
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis 
as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

 Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than construction in progress less their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, 
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for a prospective basis.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Research and development expenses

 Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

 An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

— the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 
use or sell the intangible asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

 The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which it is incurred.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are 
acquired separately.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment 
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

 The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating 
unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated 
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate 
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a 
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including 
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment 
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to 
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of 
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would 
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of 
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or 
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprise of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to 
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months or less), 
highly liquid in investments that are readily convertible to a know amount of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on the 
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include 
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make 
the sale.

Financial instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from 
contracts with customer which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees or points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premium or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the 
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets

 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

 Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

— the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and 
collecting contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next 
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the 
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

 Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for receivables classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest 
income calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes 
in the carrying amount of these receivables are recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and 
accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised in profit or loss 
with corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing the carrying amounts of these receivables. When 
these debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in OCI are 
reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

 Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or 
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

 Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets  (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

 The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
(including trade receivables, bill receivables at FVTOCI, rental deposits, other receivables, deposits for acquisition 
of land use rights, amount due from an associate, FVTPL, derivative financial instruments, restricted bank 
deposits and cash and cash equivalents), which is subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount 
of ECL is updated at the reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

 Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 
relevant instrument. In contrast, twelve-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that 
is expected to result from default events that are possible within twelve months after the reporting date. 
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific 
to debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current condition at the reporting date 
as well as the forecast of future conditions.

 The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

 For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. 
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood 
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

 In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort.

 In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets  (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

 Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, 
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

 Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) 
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt 
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally 
understood definition.

 The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

 The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 
generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely 
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the 
Group).

 Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is 
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets  (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

 A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

 The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when 
the amounts are over five years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still 
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

 The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and 
loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an 
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring 
as the weights.

 Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for 
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance 
with IFRS 16.

 Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a collective basis taking into consideration 
past due information and relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic information.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets  (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

 For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when 
formulating the grouping:

— Past-due status;

— Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

— External credit ratings where available.

 The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to 
share similar credit risk characteristics.

 Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial 
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the 
financial asset.

 Except for bill receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment loss in 
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade 
receivables and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss 
allowance account. For bill receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in 
OCI and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying amount of these receivables. 
Such amount represents the changes in the FVTOCI reserve in relation to accumulated loss allowance.

 Foreign exchange gains and losses

 The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

— For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains and losses’ line item as part of the 
net foreign exchange gains/(losses);

— For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains 
and losses’ line item (note 7) as part of the net foreign exchange gains/(losses). As the foreign currency 
element recognised in profit or loss is the same as if it was measured at amortised cost, the residual foreign 
currency element based on the translation of the carrying amount (at fair value) is recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the fair value through other comprehensive income/revaluation reserve;

— For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains and losses’ line item as part of the gain/(loss) 
from changes in fair value of financial assets; and

— For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income in the fair value through other comprehensive income/revaluation reserve.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial assets  (Continued)

 Derecognition of financial assets

 The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

 On derecognition of bill receivables classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in 
the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

 Classification as debt or equity

 Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with substance 
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

 Financial liabilities

 All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost

 Financial liabilities including borrowings, trade and bill payables, other payables and loans from related companies 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments  (Continued)

 Foreign exchange gains and losses

 For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end 
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost 
of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the ‘Other gains and losses’ 
line item in profit or loss as part of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial liabilities that are not part 
of a designated hedging relationship. For those which are designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge of 
foreign currency risk, foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in a separate component of equity.

 The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and 
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured as at 
FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or 
loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable, is recognised in profit or loss.

 Derivative financial instruments

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

 A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the 
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives 
are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

 Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

 A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management of the Group is 
required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets within the next financial year.

a) Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, using internal credit rating based on the Group’s 
historical default rates, as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. These judgements and 
estimations include estimating and evaluating expected future receipts from customers based on historical 
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and adjusted for forward-looking information that 
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant 
information about specific debtors is updated. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates 
are reassessed and changes in the forwardlooking information are considered. In addition, trade receivables 
with credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade 
receivables is RMB223,973,000 (2022: RMB219,351,000), net of allowance for credit losses of RMB5,264,000 
(2022: RMB9,316,000). The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL 
and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in note 19.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents revenue arising from manufacture and sale of chemical related products and medicine for both 
years.

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Types of goods
Animal nutrition 1,059,706 1,180,366
Medicine 734,352 754,048
Fine chemicals 720,607 732,114
Polyurethane materials 689,579 698,839
Others 13,425 13,340

   
3,217,669 3,378,707

   
Timing of revenue recognition
A point in time 3,217,669 3,378,707
   

The Group’s revenue is under fixed price arrangement with corporate customers. Under the Group’s standard contract 
terms, the credit term is generally 60 days and customers have a right to exchange or return the goods only under 
the condition of quality issue tested by a third-party testing institution. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
based on historical experiences, the impact of revenue reversal would be immaterial.

All performance obligations for sales of goods are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the 
transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at the end of the reporting period is not disclosed.

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, the key management of the Group, being the 
chief operating decision maker, reviews the consolidated results as a whole when making decisions about allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the Group and hence, the Group has only one reportable segment and no 
further analysis of this single segment is presented.

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on the location of customers. 
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets
(excluding deferred 

tax assets and 
financial instruments)

Year ended 31 December As at 31 December

2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

The mainland of China 2,524,520 2,782,741 742,836 669,541
Europe 296,219 283,504 487 550
Vietnam 87,321 61,389 75,037 63,353
Other countries in Asia (excluding the mainland of 
 China and Vietnam) 152,777 122,817 10,915 8,771
Other 156,832 128,256 275 170

     
3,217,669 3,378,707 829,550 742,385
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

There was no revenue from individual customer contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group during both years.

6. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Government grants (note i) 6,989 7,704
Value-added tax (“VAT”) additional deduction benefits (note ii) 11,386 —
Bank interest income 1,716 4,314
Interest income on loan receivable 600 600
Others 660 481

   
21,351 13,099

   

Notes:

(i) The relevant government authority granted one-off and unconditional subsidies to the Group amounting to RMB6,989,000 (2022: RMB7,697,000) 

and nil (2022: RMB7,000) in relation to the Group’s contribution in local district and subsidies in relation to the Covid-19 pandemic, which were 

recognised in the profit or loss in the year which they received.

(ii) Under the China Unveils End-of-Period VAT Credit Refund Policy for Advanced Manufacturing Sector, advanced manufacturing industry 

taxpayers are now entitled to additional 5% input VAT deduction with output VAT. One of the subsidiaries of the Group is benefited from this 

policy approximately RMB11,386,000 for the year.

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Net exchange gains 904 15,256
Gains (losses) on disposals of plant and equipment 719 (9,141)
Write-off of long aging payable — 1,540
Fair value changes on financial assets at FVTPL (38) 317
Fair value changes on derivative financial instruments-commodity 
 derivative contracts (note) (248) 448
Others 1,326 368

   
2,663 8,788

   

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, amount represented realised losses of RMB248,000 (2022: gains of RMB649,000) and unrealised 

losses of nil (2022: RMB201,000) arising on changes in fair value of commodity derivative contracts.
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8. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on borrowings 32,102 30,198
Interest on discounted bills 3,392 3,180
Interest on loans from related companies 3,343 3,182
Interest on lease liabilities 370 428

   
39,207 36,988

   

9. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Loss) profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration 2,021 2,299
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 2,883,997 2,718,159
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 63,519 41,015
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,004 5,427

   
Total depreciation 69,523 46,442
Capitalised as cost of inventories manufactured (55,648) (34,709)

   
13,875 11,733

   
Directors’ remuneration (note 11) 4,460 5,704
Other staff costs
 Salaries and other benefits 113,202 99,110
 Retirement benefits 18,116 13,192

   
Total staff costs 135,778 118,006

   
Research and development costs recognised as an expense 75,241 77,290

   
(Reversal of ) write-down of inventories, net of reversal (note) (3,308) 2,648
   

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, some defective inventories became reusable after processing by the Group and thus a reversal of 

write-down of inventories of RMB3,308,000 was provided.
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10. TAXATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Island and is exempted from the Cayman Islands income tax.

No provision for income tax has been made for subsidiaries in the United States, Seychelles, Hong Kong and Canada, 
as there was no estimated assessable profit during both years.

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Laws and Implementation Regulations of the Law of the PRC (the “PRC EIT 
Law”), the applicable tax rate of subsidiaries in the mainland of China is 25% for both years.

In 2016, Taian Havay Group Co., Ltd. was recognised as a High and New Technology Enterprise and enjoyed a tax 
rate of 15% since 2016, and further extended for another two three-year respectively in 2019 and 2022, according to 
the PRC EIT Law.

Certain subsidiaries in the mainland of China were qualified as small low-profit enterprises and enjoyed a preferential 
tax rate of 20% (2022: 20%) with 75% (2022: 87.5%) reduction for the first RMB1 million of annual taxable income and 
75% (2022: 75%) reduction for the above RMB1 million but below RMB3 million of annual taxable income during the 
year ended 31 December 2023.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax 1,831 7,947
Under provision in prior years 27 139
   

1,858 8,086
Deferred tax (note 17) (11,368) 25,315

   
Total (9,510) 33,401
   

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Loss) profit before taxation (6,786) 308,028
   
Tax at PRC enterprise income tax rate of 25% (1,697) 77,007
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,892 4,839
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (54) (196)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 662 2,057
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (772) (3,885)
Additional deduction of research and development expenses (note a) (8,707) (15,405)
Additional deduction of machinery and equipment procurement (note b) — (14,559)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 319 (3,953)
Income tax at concessionary rates (1,373) (16,863)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognised 201 4,637
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences previously not recognised (8) (417)
Under provision in prior years 27 139

   
Taxation for the year (9,510) 33,401
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10. TAXATION (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of unrecognised deductible temporary differences was RMB50,599,000 
(2022: RMB41,549,000), while tax losses not recognised was RMB 33,177,000 (2022: RMB33,985,000). In the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, no deferred tax assets are recognised due to the unpredictability of future 
profit streams. Such unrecognised losses for the Group entities will expire in various years up to and including 2024 to 
2028. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of RMB123,005,000 (2022: RMB55,157,000).

(a) Pursuant to Announcement No.13 of the State Administration of Taxation in 2021, From 1 January 2021, with 
respect to the research and development (“R&D”) expenditures actually incurred by manufacturing enterprise in 
the course of its R&D activities, an extra 100% of the amount of R&D expenses actually incurred is deductible 
before tax payment when the said expenses are not converted into intangible asset and included in the current 
profits and losses.

(b) According to the PRC EIT Law and its relevant regulation issued in 2022, entities that qualified as High and New 
Technology Enterprise are entitled to an additional 100% of the amount of qualified machinery and equipment 
newly purchased from 1 October 2022 to 31 December 2022, which is allowed to be deducted from taxable 
income.

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s emoluments

Name Position
Date of appointment as the 
directors of the Company

Mr. Yin Yanbin Executive diector and chief executive officer 25 April 2018
Mr. Zhuang Zhaohui Executive diector 25 April 2018
Mr. Chen Zhaohui Executive diector 25 April 2018
Mr. Zhou Chunnian Executive diector 25 April 2018
Mr. Chen Hua Executive diector 25 April 2018
Mr. Diao Cheng Executive diector 26 May 2021
Ms. Zheng Qing Independent non-executive director 16 December 2019
Mr. Sun Hongbin Independent non-executive director 16 December 2019
Mr. Wang Guangji Independent non-executive director 16 December 2019
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s emoluments (Continued)

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company for their service rendered are as 
follows:

Directors’ 
fee

Salaries and 
other benefits

Discretionary 
bonus

Retirement 
benefits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Executive directors
Mr. Yin Yanbin — 984 300 104 1,388
Mr. Zhuang Zhaohui — 597 80 80 757
Mr. Chen Zhaohui — 506 60 80 646
Mr. Zhou Chunnian — 434 60 80 574
Mr. Chen Hua — 394 30 80 504
Mr. Diao Cheng — 193 30 80 303

      
Sub-total — 3,108 560 504 4,172

      
Independent non-executive directors —
Ms. Zheng Qing 96 — — — 96
Mr. Sun Hongbin 96 — — — 96
Mr. Wang Guangji 96 — — — 96

      
Sub-total 288 — — — 288

      
Total 4,460
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer’s emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ 
fee

Salaries and 
other benefits

Discretionary 
bonus

Retirement 
benefits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Executive directors
Mr. Yin Yanbin — 896 900 99 1,895
Mr. Zhuang Zhaohui — 575 300 82 957
Mr. Chen Zhaohui — 509 150 82 741
Mr. Zhou Chunnian — 434 250 82 766
Mr. Chen Hua — 399 100 82 581
Mr. Diao Cheng — 195 200 81 476

      
Sub-total — 3,008 1,900 508 5,416

      
Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Zheng Qing 96 — — — 96
Mr. Sun Hongbin 96 — — — 96
Mr. Wang Guangji 96 — — — 96

      
Sub-total 288 — — — 288

      
Total 5,704
      

Note: The discretionary bonuses are determined with reference to the Group’s and individual performance.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of 
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the 
Company.

During both years, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors and the chief executive officer of the 
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the 
directors of the Company has waived any remuneration during both years.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Four (2022: four) of the highest paid individuals’ were director of the Company and their emoluments were 
disclosed in (a) above. The emoluments of the remaining highest paid individual during the year, which were 
individually more than Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 1,000,000, were as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 1,289 1,235
Discretionary bonus (note) — —
Retirement benefits 16 16

   
1,305 1,251

   

Note: Discretionary bonus is determined based on their duties and responsibilities of the relevant individuals within the Group and the Group’s 

performance.
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals are within the following bands:

2023 2022

Less than HK$1,000,000 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1
   

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement 
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

12. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company for both years, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end 
of the reporting period.

13. EARNING PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings:
 Earnings for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings
  per share attributable to owners of the Company 2,724 274,627
   

2023 2022
’000 ’000

Number of shares:
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
  of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share (note) 974,759 1,000,000
   

Note: The Trustee of  the Company’s share award plan repurchased 50,900,000 shares of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023. 

Details of the repurchase of share are set out in note 33(b).

No diluted earnings per share for 2023 and 2022 was presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings﹑
Plant and properties and Leasehold Office Motor Constructions

machinery structures improvement equipment vehicles in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        
COST
At 1 January 2022 289,367 97,357 5,205 8,010 21,570 153,996 575,505
Additions 3,221 461 51 846 2,452 275,685 282,716
Transfers 110,273 121,837 — 960 480 (233,550) —
Disposals (17,226) (1,563) — (237) (463) — (19,489)
Exchange adjustment 2,117 1,275 (5) 46 170 534 4,137
        
At 31 December 2022 387,752 219,367 5,251 9,625 24,209 196,665 842,869
Additions 4,700 8,534 3,722 2,695 4,660 129,118 153,429
Transfers 185,497 17,428 — 126 767 (203,818) —
Disposals (10,780) (18) — (347) (941) — (12,086)
Exchange adjustment (426) 133 — (2) (25) (428) (748)

        
At 31 December 2023 566,743 245,444 8,973 12,097 28,670 121,537 983,464

        
DEPRECIATION AND 
 IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 (77,548) (23,713) (4,068) (4,873) (10,276) — (120,478)
Provided for the year (31,833) (4,490) (668) (1,039) (2,985) — (41,015)
Eliminated on disposals 9,028 481 — 223 442 — 10,174
Exchange adjustment (809) (310) 5 (26) (87) — (1,227)

        
At 31 December 2022 (101,162) (28,032) (4,731) (5,715) (12,906) — (152,546)
Provided for the year (47,008) (10,782) (632) (1,551) (3,546) — (63,519)
Eliminated on disposals 10,492 7 — 331 825 — 11,655
Exchange adjustment 196 (19) — 2 18 — 197

        
At 31 December 2023 (137,482) (38,826) (5,363) (6,933) (15,609) — (204,213)

        
CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2023 429,261 206,618 3,610 5,164 13,061 121,537 779,251

        
At 31 December 2022 286,590 191,335 520 3,910 11,303 196,665 690,323

        

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s buildings, properties and structures with net book value of RMB32,415,000, RMB454,000 and RMB8,250,000 

(2022: RMB21,253,000, RMB498,000 and RMB8,670,000) were located in Vietnam, Ukraine and Hong Kong, respectively. The remaining buildings, 

properties and structures were located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, are depreciated after taking into account the estimated residual 

value on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 9.50%

Buildings, properties and structures Shorter of lease terms or useful lives

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms or useful lives

Office equipment 10.0% to 20.0%

Motor vehicles 16.7% to 23.8%

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged buildings, plant and machinery and motor vehicles with a total net book value of RMB355,340,000 

(2022: RMB99,696,000) to secure general banking and other facilities granted to the Group
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold 
lands Buildings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2023
 Carrying amount 43,377 6,922 50,299
    
As at 31 December 2022
 Carrying amount 44,405 7,657 52,062
    
For the year ended 31 December 2023
 Depreciation charge (1,010) (4,994) (6,004)
    
For the year ended 31 December 2022
 Depreciation charge (1,008) (4,419) (5,427)

    

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Total cash outflow for leases 5,476 5,196
   
Additions to right of use assets 4,497 4,736
   

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged leasehold land with a net book value of RMB43,377,000 (2022: 
RMB44,405,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses and parking spaces for its operations. Lease contracts 
are entered into for fixed term of 2 months to 120 months. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the 
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract 
is enforceable.
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16. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of unlisted investment in associates 1,067 —
Share of post-acquisition loss and other comprehensive expenses (1,067) —

   
— —

   

Detail of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period is as follow:

Name of entity
Place of 
incorporation

Principal place of 
business

Portion of ownership
interest held by the Group Principal activity

2023 2022

Silver Nile Global Investments 
 Corporation Limited* 
 (formerly known as 
 FUTEC Financial Group Limited)

Hong Kong Hong Kong 34% N/A Investment holding 
 and provision 
 of general 
 administration, 
 consulting and 
 supporting services

Silver Nile Global Hong Kong 
 Investments Limited* 
 (formerly known as 
 FUTEC Financial Limited)

Hong Kong Hong Kong 34% N/A Provision of financial 
 services and 
 rendering of 
 investment 
 dealing services

      

* The associates were acquired by the Group for an independent third party during the  year ended 31 December 2023.

The above associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.

Information of associates that is not material

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

The Group’s share of loss for the year 1,067 —
   
The Group’s share of total comprehensive expense for the year 1,067 —

   
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associates — —

   
The unrecognised share of loss of associates for  the year 2,252 —
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17. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and 
liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets 5,499 254
Deferred tax liabilities (26,699) (32,812)

   
(21,200) (32,558)

   

The followings are the major deferred tax liability and assets recognised and movement thereon during the current and 
prior year:

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
ECL 

provision Tax losses

Fair value 
adjustment 

on bill 
receivables 

at FVTOCI Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 (8,392) 751 327 58 (7,256)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (25,056) 78 (337) — (25,315)
Credit to other comprehensive income — — — 3 3
Exchange adjustment — — 10 — 10

      
At 1 January 2023 (33,448) 829 — 61 (32,558)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss 4,259 (309) 7,418 — 11,368
Charge to other comprehensive income — — — (9) (9)
Exchange adjustment — — (1) — (1)

      
At 31 December 2023 (29,189) 520 7,417 52 (21,200)

      

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC 
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to retained earnings of the PRC subsidiaries amounting 
to RMB408 million (2022: RMB382 million) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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18. INVENTORIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials and consumables 97,534 106,899
Work in progress 56,182 35,420
Finished goods 186,399 216,821

   
340,115 359,140

   

Included in the above figures are finished goods of RMB11,630,000 (2022: RMB10,615,000) which have been pledged 
as security for borrowings.

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 229,237 228,667
Less: allowance for credit losses (5,264) (9,316)

   
223,973 219,351

   

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to RMB217,180,000, net of 
allowance for credit losses of RMB9,018,000.

Generally, credit terms of 60 days is granted to customers. An aging analysis of the trade receivables presented based 
on the invoice dates, which approximate the dates of revenue recognition, at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

0-30 days 135,651 148,390
31-60 days 62,561 39,749
61-90 days 14,519 18,285
Over 90 days 11,242 12,927

   
223,973 219,351

   

The management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit approvals. 
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit 
limits by customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed regularly.

As at 31 December 2023, carrying amount of trade receivables amounted to RMB2,398,000 (2022: RMB2,628,000) 
have been pledged as security for the Group’s borrowings.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group applied internal credit rating for its customers. The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment 
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables

Group A The counter party has a low risk of default 
 based on historical repayment records and 
 has a good reputation

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired

Group B The counter parties, which are hospitals, 
 have higher creditability but sometimes 
 repays in full after due dates

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired

Group C The counter party usually settles in full 
 after due day with a higher risk of default

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired

Group D There is evidence indicating the asset is 
 credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

Group E There is evidence indicating that the debtor is 
 in severe financial difficulty and the Group 
 has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed 
based on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). As at 31 December 2023, the debtors with credit-
impaired amounted to RMB731,000 (2022: RMB508,000) are assessed individually, and the rest of debtors amounted 
to RMB228,506,000 (2022: RMB228,159,000) are assessed grouped by internal credit rating.

Gross carrying amount

Internal credit rating Average loss rate
Trade receivables

As at 31 December

2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Group A 1.12% 1.93% 205,500 191,311
Group B 1.12% 1.93% — 1,239
Group C 9.73% 14.26% 23,006 35,609

     
228,506 228,159

     

The estimated loss rates are estimated on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and 
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance within Group A, B and C are debtors 
with aggregate carrying amount of RMB25,761,000 (2022: RMB31,212,000) which are past due as at the reporting 
date. Out of the past due balances, RMB4,575,000 (2022: RMB1,725,000) has been past due 90 days or more and 
is not considered as in default. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the trade receivables within Group A, B 
and C at the end of the reporting period which have been past due over 90 days are not considered as in default by 
considering the historical and expected subsequent repayment from the trade debtors.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables:

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit 

impairmented)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit 

impairmented)
RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022 7,796 1,222
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January 2022:
 - Transfer to credit-impaired (70) 70
 - Impairment losses recognised — 185
 - Impairment losses reversed (note) (7,674) (100)
 - Amounts written off as uncollectible — (869)
New financial assets originated 8,756 —

   
As at 31 December 2022 8,808 508
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January 2023:
 - Transfer to credit-impaired (159) 159
 - Impairment losses recognised — 486
 - Impairment losses reversed (note) (4,921) (306)
 - Amounts written off as uncollectible — (116)
New financial assets originated 805 —

   
As at 31 December 2023 4,533 731

   

Note: The reversal of loss allowance are mainly due to settlement in full by trade debtors with a gross carrying amount of RMB228,159,000 (2022: 

RMB215,958,000).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables that were denominated in foreign currencies other than the 
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Denominated in United States dollars (“U.S.$”) 42,327 25,098
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20. BILL RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCL

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bill receivables at FVTOCl 100,848 100,340
   

The following is an aging analysis of bill receivables at FVTOCI presented based on bill issuance date or endorsement 
date at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

0-180 days 100,848 100,340
   

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged bill receivables at FVTOCI with a total net book value of 
RMB86,012,000 (2022: RMB76,874,000) to secure general banking facilities and supplier payments granted to the 
Group.

21. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has discounted bank issued bill receivables to banks or transferred 
bank issued bill receivables to its suppliers to settle its payables through endorsing the bank issued bills to its suppliers. 
The Group has limited exposure in respect of the settlement obligation of these bank issued bill receivables under 
the relevant PRC rules and regulations should the issuing bank failed to settle the bills on maturity date. The Group 
considered the risk of non-settlement by the issuing banks with good credit quality on maturity is insignificant. In the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group transferred and did not retain substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of this part of bank issued bills. Accordingly, the Group has derecognised this part of bank issued bill 
receivables and the payables to the suppliers in their entirety.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to loss, which is the same as the amount payables by the 
Group to banks or the suppliers in respect of the discounted bank issued bills and endorsed bank issued bills, should 
the issuing banks fail to settle the bills on maturity, amounted to RMB229,387,000 and RMB148,777,000 (2022: 
RMB142,925,000 and RMB203,499,000), respectively.

For the part of transferred bank issued bills that were not derecognised as the Group has not transferred the significant 
risks and rewards relating to these receivables, the Group continued to recognise the remaining part of bank issued 
bills and respective liability. These financial assets are recognised as bill receivables at FVTOCI in the consolidated 
financial statements. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of these transferred bank issued bills were 
RMB86,012,000 (2022: RMB76,874,000), which were the same as the carrying amounts of associated liabilities.

All the bank issued bill receivables discounted to banks or endorsed to suppliers of the Group have a maturity date of 
less than one year from the end of the reporting period.
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22. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments for materials 45,184 38,941
PRC value added tax recoverable 25,954 25,348
Loan receivable (note) 16,664 16,064
Deferred and prepaid expenses 12,891 15,187
Prepaid advisory fee for an associate 10,075 —
Deposits paid to suppliers 2,621 3,583
Advance to staff 1,108 938
Other receivables 11,868 986

   
126,365 101,047

   
Presented as:
 Non-current assets 16,664 16,064
 Current assets 109,701 84,983

   
126,365 101,047

   

Note: Loan receivable represents an unsecured 5-year term loan advanced to an independent third party in principal amount of RMB15,000,000. The 

loan receivable carries at fixed interest rate of 4% per annum and is repayable in 2026.

The carrying amount of other receivables amounted to RMB15,000 (2022: RMB154,000) have been pledged as 
security for the Group’s borrowing.
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23. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Nanjing Hanhe Enterprises Co., Ltd. 27,000 27,150
Nanjing Jinhan Tianxia Sports Culture Development Company Limited 54,600 54,600

   
81,600 81,750

   
Presented as:
 Non-current assets 81,600 —
 Current assets — 81,750

   
81,600 81,750

   

On 24 March 2020, a loan agreement was entered into between Nanjing Hanhe Enterprises Co., Ltd. (“Hanhe 
Enterprises”), an indirectly-owned subsidiary of Mr. Yin, as lender and the Group as borrower, pursuant to which Hanhe 
Enterprises had agreed to provide a loan facility to the Group in the aggregate amount of RMB110,000,000 (the “Loan 
Facility”) at an interest rate of 2% per annum with a term of 2 years. On 1 December 2020, a supplemental agreement 
was entered into between Hanhe Enterprises and The Group, pursuant to which the interest rate was adjusted from 2% 
to 1.8% per annum with effect from 1 October 2020. On 31 December 2021, an extension agreement was entered 
into between both parties, pursuant to which the due dates of the loans were extended to 2023. On 15 April 2022, 
another supplemental agreement was entered into between Hanhe Enterprises and The Group, pursuant to which the 
interest rate was adjusted from 1.8% to 4% per annum with effect from 15 April 2022. On 9 June 2023, an agreement 
was entered into between both parties, pursuant to which Hanhe Enterprises had agreed to provide a loan facility to 
the Group in the aggregate amount of RMB32,150,000 at interest rate of 4% per annum and with a term of 1 year or 
less from the respective loan advance dates. On 31 December 2023, another extension agreement was entered into 
between both parties, pursuant to which the due dates of the loans were extended to 2025. As at 31 December 2023, 
the outstanding loan from Hanhe Enterprises amounting to approximately RMB27,000,000.

On 1 March 2022, a loan agreement was entered into between Nanjing Jinhan Tianxia Sports Culture Development 
Company Limited (“Jinhan Tianxia”), an indirectly-owned subsidiary of Mr. Yin, as lender and The Group as 
borrower, pursuant to which Jinhan Tianxia had agreed to provide loans to The Group in the aggregate amount 
of RMB54,600,000 at an interest rate of 1.8% per annum with a term of less than 2 years. On 15 April 2022, a 
supplemental agreement was entered into between Jinhan Tianxia and The Group, pursuant to which the interest 
rate was adjusted from 1.8% to 4% per annum with effect from 15 April 2022. On 15 June 2023, a supplemental 
agreement was entered into between both parties, pursuant to which the existing loans can be redrawn upon 
repayment with a term of 1 year. On 31 December 2023, another extension agreement was entered into between 
both parties, pursuant to which the due dates of the loans were extended to 2025. As at 31 December 2023, the 
outstanding loan from Jinhan Tianxia amounted to RMB54,600,000. 

24. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL/DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial asset at FVTPL:
 Listed equity investments 448 113

   
Derivative financial instruments:
 Commodity derivative contracts (note) — 275
   

Note: Commodity derivative contracts entered into by the Group for the purpose of reducing its exposure to commodity price risk in the operation, are 

not accounted for under hedge accounting.
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25. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

 The amount due from an associate is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

 Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s 
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at market rates range from 0.00% to 10.00% (2022: 0.01% to 
0.50%) per annum.

 Restricted bank deposits represent the deposits pledged to banks for securing short-term banking facilities granted 
to the Group and are therefore classified as current assets. The restricted bank deposits carry interest at market rates 
which range from 0.00% to 6.85% (2022: 0.30% to 2.80%) per annum.

 The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits that were denominated in foreign currencies 
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

U.S.$ 21,816 22,459
Others 567 598

   
22,383 23,057

   

27. TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 270,143 253,816
Bill payables 4,822 2,150

   
274,965 255,966

   

 The following is an aging analysis of bill payables at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

0-180 days 4,822 2,150
   

 All bill payables of the Group are with a maturity period of less than one year.

 The credit period on purchase of inventories is generally 90 days. The following is an aging analysis of trade payables 
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

0-30 days 131,508 157,670
31 - 60 days 87,418 28,332
61 - 90 days 16,955 27,749
Over 90 days 34,262 40,065

   
270,143 253,816
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27. TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES (Continued)

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables that were denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

U.S.$ 35,050 51,504
Others 2,690 —

   
37,740 51,504

   

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Payables for property, plant and equipment 43,729 32,045
Payables for freight charge and storage fee 24,108 24,893
Accrued salaries and welfare expenses 14,569 18,652
PRC value-added tax payable and other tax payables 5,349 9,549
Interest payable 1,538 630
Others 24,163 7,739

   
113,456 93,508

   

 The total is analysed for reporting purpose as:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Current 105,328 93,508
Non-current 8,128 —

   
113,456 93,508

   

 As at 31 December 2023, the non-current amounts are related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable in 2025.

29. LEASE LIABILITIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Lease liabilities payable:
 Within one year 4,774 4,881
 Within a period of more than one year, but not more than two years 1,502 2,512
 Within a period of more than two years, but not more than five years 388 180

   
Present value of lease liabilities 6,664 7,573
Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months
    shown under current liabilities (4,774) (4,881)

   
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current liabilities 1,890 2,692
   

 The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities was 5.5% (2022: 5.5%).
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

 As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to RMB39,268,000.

 The amounts represent advance payments from customers for goods. The amounts of RMB24,848,000 (2022: 
RMB39,268,000) that represented the entire contract liabilities balances at the beginning of the respective years, were 
recognised as revenue during the year.

 The Group generally offer 100% credit term for customers with long-term relationship and request deposit of 40% to 
100% on acceptance of orders for customers assessed to be of lower creditability.

31. BORROWINGS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Secured bank loans (note) 254,677 286,418
Unsecured bank loans 221,175 116,900
Other loans (note) 154,205 170,791

   
630,057 574,109

The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are repayable
 based on scheduled repayment terms:
 Within one year 471,909 313,926
 More than one year but not more than two years 112,100 64,639
 More than two years but not more than five years 45,000 194,500
 More than five years 1,048 1,044

   
630,057 574,109

Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities (471,909) (313,926)
   
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 158,148 260,183
   

Note: The Group’s borrowings were secured by assets of the Group as detailed in notes 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 22, 26 and 37.

 Analysis as followings:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed-rate borrowings 630,057 564,109
Variable-rate borrowings — 10,000

   
630,057 574,109

   

 The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2023 2022

Effective interest rate:
 Variable-rate borrowings N/A 4.25%-5.7%
 Fixed-rate borrowings 0%-7.2% 0%-7.2%
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31. BORROWINGS (Continued)

 Borrowings that are denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group 
entities are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

U.S.$ 27,343 19,318
   

27,343 19,318
   

32. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
Shares Amount

HK$

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
Authorised
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 2023 10,000,000,000 100,000,000

   
Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 2023 1,000,000,000 10,000,000
   

RMB’000

Presented as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 8,844
  

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a) Share option scheme

 On 16 December 2019, the share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”) is conditionally 
approved and adopted by a resolution in writing passed by the shareholders of the Company.

 The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected participants as 
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The directors of the Company consider the Share 
Option Scheme, with its broadened basis of participation, will enable the Group to grant options to any full-time 
or part-time employees, non-executive directors, suppliers, customers shareholders, consultants and advisors 
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries and any entity which, in the opinion of the board of directors of the 
Company, have contributed to the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company.

 The subscription price per share under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined at the discretion of the 
directors of the Company, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares 
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a 
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the 
Share.

 The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on which the 
Share Option Scheme is adopted.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(a) Share option scheme (Continued)

 An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 21 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was 
made. The nominal consideration HK$1 will be paid by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance 
of the offer.

 Unless otherwise determined by the directors of the Company and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a 
grantee, there is no minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before 
it can be exercised.

 The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this 
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option 
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the day on which dealings in 
the shares first commence on the Stock Exchange (i.e. not exceeding 100,000,000 shares).

 No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its 
adoption.

(b) Share award scheme

 The Company’s share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed 
on 1 March 2023 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible employees of the 
Group and any contractor, advisor (professional or otherwise), consultant or expert in any area of business or 
business development of any member of the Group, who provided its services to any member of the Group on a 
continuing and recurring basis.

 Subject to the terms of the Share Award Plan, the eligibility of any of the Eligible Participants to an Award shall 
be determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee from time to time on the basis of the Board’s or 
the Remuneration Committee’s opinion as to his contribution and/or future contribution to the development and 
growth of the Group.

 The Board or the Remuneration Committee may from time to time, at its discretion, determine the earliest Vesting 
Date and other subsequent date(s), if any, subject to and upon which the Awarded Shares held by the Trustee 
upon trust and which are referable to a Selected Participant shall vest in that Selected Participant. The Vesting 
Date in respect of any Award shall be not less than 12 months from the Grant Date, provided that for Employee 
Participants and Related Entity Participants, the Vesting Date may be less than 12 months from the Grant Date 
(including on the Grant Date) in certain circumstances as described in the Plan.

 No options were granted under the Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023.

 On 4 July 2023, the Trustee purchased an aggregate of 50,900,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange for the 
purpose of the Share Award Plan, funded by the Company’s internal resources with a consideration of HK$0.5 
per share. The total consideration is HK$25,450,000 (equivalent to RMB23,021,000).
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

 The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the 
local PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to 
the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement 
benefits schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes.

 The Group also participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. Under the 
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ 
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The assets of the scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes a certain percentage 
of the relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by the employee.

 For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total expense recognised in profit or loss of RMB18,620,000 (2022: 
RMB13,700,000) represents contributions paid to these schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the 
schemes. As at end of the reporting period, there was no outstanding contributions payable to the schemes.

 There is no statutory requirement to operate any retirement benefit schemes in other jurisdictions.

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided
 in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:
 – acquisition of property, plant and equipment 20,082 16,974
   

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 During both years, other than those disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the 
following significant transactions with related parties:

 Provision of guarantees by related party of the Group

 Certain related party of the Group have provided guarantees to banks to support facilities granted by those banks to 
the Group as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Provision of guarantees
 Mr. Yin Yanbin 89,057 125,000
 Ms. Wu Hailing — 68,000
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

 Compensation of key management personnel

 The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term benefits 5,399 6,667
Post-employment benefits 559 562

   
5,958 7,229

   

 Non-trade transactions with related party of the Group

 Certain related party of the Group have non-trade transactions with the Group as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on loans from a related company-Hanhe Enterprises 1,129 1,156
Interest on loans from a related company-Jinhan Tianxia 2,214 1,700
Advisory fee paid to an associate 4,242 —
   

37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

 At the end of the reporting period, assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to secure general 
facilities granted to the Group:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted bank deposits 30,404 33,935
Right-of-use assets 43,377 44,405
Property, plant and equipment 355,340 99,696
Bill receivables at FVTOCI 86,012 76,874
Inventories 11,630 10,615
Trade receivables 2,398 2,628
Cash and cash equivalents 2,367 3,662
Other receivables 15 154

   
531,543 271,969
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged from prior year.

 The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt balance, which includes the borrowings, lease liabilities and 
loans from related companies and, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity balances. Equity balance consists of 
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital, share premium, capital reserve, safety reserve, 
translation reserve, statutory reserve, FVTOCI reserve and retained earnings.

 The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on an on-going annual basis. As part of this review, the 
management of the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the 
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
 At amortised cost 370,331 388,677
 At FVTOCI 100,848 100,340
 At FVTPL 448 388   

471,627 489,405
   
Financial liabilities
 At amortised cost 1,080,160 977,132
   

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Group’s major financial instruments include restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, bill receivables at FVTOCI, other receivables, financial asset at FVTPL, rental deposits, amount due 
from an associate, deposits for acquisition of land use rights, trade and bill payables, other payables, borrowings, 
loans from related companies, lease liabilities and derivative financial instruments. Details of the financial 
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include 
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate 
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

 Market risk

 The Group’s activities expose it primarily to currency risk and interest rate risk. There has been no change in the 
Group’s exposure to these risk or the manner in which it manages and measure the risks.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

 Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk

 Certain cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade and bill payables, and borrowings are 
denominated in foreign currencies of respective group entities which are exposed to foreign currency risk. 
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors 
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need 
arise.

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period are mainly as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets
U.S.$ 59,302 47,557
RMB 259 242

Liabilities
U.S.$ 51,028 70,822
RMB 2,690 —
   

 Sensitivity analysis

 The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on a 5% increase/decrease in functional 
currency of respective group entities against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used 
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive 
number below indicates a decrease in the Group’s post-tax result, where functional currency of respective 
group entities had strengthened 5% against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening 
of functional currency of respective group entities against the relevant foreign currency, there would be an 
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss for the year.

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Increase) decrease in the Group’s post-tax result
 – if functional currency of the relevant group entities
    denominated in RMB strengthens against U.S.$ (310) 1,278
 – if functional currency of the relevant group entities
    denominated in U.S.$ strengthen against RMB 91 (12)
   

 In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk 
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.



GHW International | 2023 Annual Report       134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

 Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk

 The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk for certain financial assets, financial liabilities, including 
fixed-rate bank deposits, fixed-rate borrowings, loans from related companies and lease liabilities.

 The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk for its interest bearing financial liabilities and 
certain of its interest bearing financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits 
and variable-rate borrowings, which carried interests at variable interest rates.

 The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. The management monitors interest 
rate risk exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arises. The 
Group aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposures by 
assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and 
outlook. The management will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure 
they are within reasonable range.

 Sensitivity analysis

 No sensitivity analysis for the interest rate exposure of cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits 
and variable-rate borrowings was presented as the management of the Group considers that the interest 
rate fluctuation is not significant.

 Credit risk

 The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to 
discharge the obligations by counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised 
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the end of the reporting period.

 The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the 
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals 
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, 
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that 
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group performs impairment assessment 
under ECL model on trade receivables. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s 
credit risk is significantly reduced.

 The Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the loss allowance on trade receivables at lifetime 
ECL as disclosed in note 19.

 The credit risk on bill receivables at FVTOCI are limited as those bills are issued by banks with high credit ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies and no history of default in the past, thus no loss allowance 
provision for bills was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

 For other receivables, rental deposits and amount due from an associate with gross carrying amounts of 
RMB32,261,000, RMB829,000 and RMB5,471,000 respectively (2022: For other receivables, rental deposits 
and deposits for acquisition of land use rights with gross carrying amounts of RMB21,571,000, RMB643,000 
and RMB9,994,000 respectively), as at 31 December 2023, management of the Group makes periodic 
collective assessment as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of these receivables based on 
historical settlement records, past experience and also available and supportive forward-looking information. 
The management of the Group believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding 
balances of other receivables, rental deposits, amount due from an associate and acquisition of land use rights.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

 Credit risk (Continued)

 The Group have concentration of credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits which 
are deposited with several banks. However, the credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank 
deposits is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies, and ECL is insignificant.

 The credit risk on loan receivable is limited because the counterparty is a state-owned entity with high reputation. 
The management is of the opinion that the average loss rate is insignificant, thus no loss allowance provision is 
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023.

 Except for loan receivable, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, bill 
receivables at FVTOCI and other receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and 
customers.

 Liquidity risk

 In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows.

 The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Group can be required to pay.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

 Liquidity risk (Continued)

 The table includes both interest and principal cash flows:

Weighted
 average On demand Total
 effective or within Over undiscounted Carrying

 interest rate 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flow  amount
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2023
Trade and bill payables — 274,965 — — — 274,965 274,965
Borrowings
 – fixed rate 5.57 506,861 118,022 45,726 1,367 671,976 630,057
Other payables — 85,410 8,128 — — 93,538 93,538
Loans from related companies 4.00 — 88,259 — — 88,259 81,600
Lease liabilities 5.50 4,805 1,627 437 — 6,869 6,664

        
872,041 216,036 46,163 1,367 1,135,607 1,086,824

        
At 31 December 2022
Trade and bill payables — 255,966 — — — 255,966 255,966
Borrowings
 – fixed rate 5.54 334,860 73,691 199,310 2,132 609,993 564,109
 – variable rate 4.35 10,254 — — — 10,254 10,000
Other payables — 65,307 — — — 65,307 65,307
Loans from related companies 4.00 83,478 — — — 83,478 81,750
Lease liabilities 5.50 5,027 2,729 203 — 7,959 7,573

        
754,892 76,420 199,513 2,132 1,032,957 984,705
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

 The following provides information about how the Group determines fair value of various financial assets.

(i) Fair value measurement of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

 Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair values at the end of the reporting period. The 
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value

Financial assets 2023 2022
Fair value
hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs

Commodity derivative contracts — 275,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in New York Mercantile 
Exchange Future Exchange.

Listed equity securities at FVTPL 448,000 113,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets.
Bill receivables at FVTOCI 100,848,000 100,340,000 Level 2 Discounted cash flow method was used to 

capture the present value of the expected 
future economic benefits to be derived from the 
ownership of the bill receivables.

     

(ii) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis

 The management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial 
liabilities of the Group recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements at the end of the 
reporting period approximate their fair values.

 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.
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40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will 
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Loans from
related Accrued Lease

companies Borrowings interest liabilities Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 82,803 608,376 649 8,821 700,649
Financing cash flows (4,606) 37,664 (30,217) (5,196) (2,355)
Interest expenses 3,182 — 30,198 428 33,808
Exchange adjustment — (845) — — (845)
Deemed contribution to a shareholder 371 — — — 371
Inception of leases — — — 4,736 4,736
Termination of lease contracts — — — (1,216) (1,216)
Effect of maturity discounted bills — (71,086) — — (71,086)

      
At 31 December 2022 81,750 574,109 630 7,573 664,062
Financing cash flows (3,493) 45,397 (31,194) (5,476) 5,234
Interest expenses 3,343 — 32,102 370 35,815
Exchange adjustment — (96) — — (96)
Inception of leases — — — 4,497 4,497
Termination of lease contracts — — — (300) (300)
Effect of transfer from 
 discounted bills — 10,647 — — 10,647

      
At 31 December 2023 81,600 630,057 1,538 6,664 719,859
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

 Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the Company at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Equity interest 

attributable to 

the Company as  
at 31 December 

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation

Place of 

operation

Issued and fully 

paid share capital/

registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities

Directly held

GOHI Int’L Limited British Virgin Islands

(“BVI”)

28 May 2018

BVI U.S.$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held

GHW Holdings Limited Hong Kong

25 June 2018

Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

GHW International SCM The mainland of China

18 November 2008

The mainland of 

China

RMB73,031,800 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

南京金海威新材料有限公司

 (formerly known as

 南京金海威化工實業有限公司)

 Nanjing Goldenhighway

 New Materials Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

25 October 1995

The mainland of 

China

RMB40,000,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

南京瀚商微搜電子科技有限公司

 Nanjing Hanshang Weisou

 Electronic Technology Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

14 January 2016

The mainland of 

China

RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of E-commerce 

service

張家港保稅區海金沙

 國際貿易有限公司

 Zhangjiagang Free Trade Zone 

 Haijinsha International

 Trading Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

30 March 2012

The mainland of 

China

RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

南京天宇運輸有限公司

 Nanjing Tianyu Transportation 

 Co.,Ltd.

The mainland of China

7 May 1999

The mainland of 

China

RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Provision of delivery service

廣州金海威貿易有限公司

 Guangzhou Goldenhighway

 Trading Co., Ltd..

The mainland of China

22 January 2010

The mainland of 

China

RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

泰安岳達物流有限公司

 Taian Yueda Logistics Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

24 October 2016

The mainland of 

China

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Provision of delivery service

金海威(越南)責任有限公司

 GHW (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.

Vietnam

23 July 2013

Vietnam U.S.$10,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 

chemical products

金海威(越南)化工責任有限公司

 GHW (Vietnam) Chemicals

  Limited Company

Vietnam

7 May 2014

Vietnam U.S.$4,000,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Golden Highway International

 (Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong

6 August 2008

Hong Kong U.S.$1,100,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Equity interest 

attributable to 

the Company as  
at 31 December 

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation

Place of 

operation

Issued and fully 

paid share capital/

registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities

Indirectly held - Continued

GHW USA LLC USA 17 March 2015 USA U.S.$20,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

GHW Eurochemicals s.r.o. Slovakia

1 January 2014

Slovakia EUR5,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Goldray International Enterprises

 Co., Ltd.

Seychelles

7 January 2016

Seychelles U.S.$1 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Nuovomondo Chemicals

 Private Limited

India

25 March 2011

India Indian Rupee 

100,000

100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Star International Saint-Petersburg

 LLC

Russia

26 March 2007

Russia Russian Ruble 

2,281,591

100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Ukrhimformacia Limited Company Ukraine

27 April 2006

Ukraine Ukrainian Hryvnia 

7,329,110

100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Havay Industry Inc. Canada

23 September 2015

Canada Canadian Dollar 

1,000

100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Golden Highway Mexico, S. De R.L.

 De C.V.

Mexico

10 September 2018

Mexico U.S.$49,470 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

江蘇省信諾醫藥對外貿易有限公司 

 Jiangsu Xinnuo Pharmaceutical 

 Trading Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

5 January 1998

The mainland of 

China

RMB30,000,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical and 

pharmaceutical products

泰安漢威集團有限公司

 Taian Havay Group Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

9 November 2010

The mainland of 

China

RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 

chemical products

徐州漢威飼料有限公司

 Xuzhou Havay Feeds Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

23 July 2003

The mainland of 

China

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

徐州金海威新材料有限公司

 Xuzhou Goldenhighway

 New Materials Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

25 February 2021

The mainland of 

China

RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

南京格格象健康科技有限公司

 Nanjing Happyelephant

 Health Technology Co., Ltd.

The mainland of China

7 April 2021

The mainland of 

China

RMB3,600,000 100% 100% Trading of health care 

products

Most Victory Holdings Limited BVI

6 January 2021

BVI U.S.$50,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

Highwi Enterprise Private Limited India

15 June 2021

India Indian Rupee 

100,000

100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

LLC GOLDENHIGHWAY RUS Russia

20 July 2021

Russia Russian Ruble 

10,000

100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

LLC HAVAY UKRAINE Ukraine

7 October 2021

Ukraine U.S.$100,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products
       



GHW International | 2023 Annual Report       141

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Equity interest 

attributable to 

the Company as  
at 31 December 

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation

Place of 

operation

Issued and fully 

paid share capital/

registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities

Indirectly held - Continued

新材料(越南)責任有限公司

 New Material (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.

Vietnam

26 January 2022

Vietnam U.S.$300,000 100% 100% Trading of chemical 

products

GOLDENHIGHWAY HOLDINGS 

 PTE. LTD.**

Singapore

20 April 2023

Singapore SGD100,000* 100% N/A Investment holding

GHW INTERNATIONAL 

 (MALAYSIA) SDN. BHD.**

Malaysia

04 August 2023

Malaysia Malaysian Ringgit

(“RM”) 1*

100% N/A Manufacture and sale of 

chemical products
       

* The registered capital of Goldenhighway Holdings PTE. LTD. and GHW International (Malaysia) SDN. BHD. are SGD100,000 and RM1, 

respectively. As at date of this report, no capital injection has been made.

** Goldenhighway Holdings PTE. LTD. and GHW International (Malaysia) SDN. BHD. are newly set up during the year ended 31 December 2023.

 All subsidiaries now comprising the Group are limited liability companies. None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt 
securities at the end of the year.

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

 Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current asset
 Investment in a subsidiary 1,804 1,804

   
Current assets
 Amount due from a subsidiary 66,872 90,541
 Restricted bank deposits 46 —
 Cash and cash equivalents 508 102

   
67,426 90,643

   
Current liability
 Amounts due to subsidiaries — 70

   
Net current assets 67,426 90,573

   
Net assets 69,230 92,377

   
Capital and reserves
 Share capital 8,844 8,844
 Reserves 60,386 83,533

   
69,230 92,377
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

 Movement in reserves

Share
 premium

Capital 
reserve

Treasury 
reserve

Retain 
earnings 

(Accumulated 
losses) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 78,219 2,166 — (3,500) 76,885
Profit and total 
 comprehensive income
 for the year — — — 7,019 7,019
Deemed distribution to 
 a shareholder — (371) — — (371)

      
At 31 December 2022 78,219 1,795 — 3,519 83,533
Loss and total 
 comprehensive 
 expense for the year — — — (126) (126)
Repurchase of share — — (23,021) — (23,021)

      
At 31 December 2023 78,219 1,795 (23,021) 3,393 60,386
      

43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 On 19 February 2024, GHW International (Malaysia) SDN BHD (the “Purchaser”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, has entered into a heads of agreement (the “HOA”) with MCKILP Development SDN BHD (the “Vendor”), 
for the acquisition of land (the “Land”) located at Mukim Gebeng, Daerah Kuantan, Negeri Pahang, Malaysia, at a 
consideration of RM37,026,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB55,539,000) (the “Acquisition”). A formal sale and 
purchase agreement (the “SPA”) in relation to the Acquisition will be entered into between the Purchaser and the 
Vendor within four months from the date of the HOA. As as the date of this report, the Acquisition has not completed.
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